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together
we make it better
inside

Enercare is one of North America’s largest home and
commercial services and energy solutions companies.
Operating under our Enercare and Service Experts
brands, we are a leading provider of heating,
ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) products
such as furnaces and air conditioners, as well as water
heaters, water treatment solutions, plumbing services,
protection plans and related services. We are also
Canada’s largest non-utility provider of electricity,
water, thermal and gas sub-metering for condominium
and apartment suites, and, through our Triacta brand,
a premier designer and manufacturer of advanced
sub-meters and sub-metering solutions.
Enercare serves over 1.6 million customers annually
in Canada and the United States. We have about
4,700 employees under our Enercare and Service
Experts brands.
Our common shares trade on the Toronto Stock
Exchange under the symbol ECI. At December 31, 2017,
there were 106,377,020 common shares outstanding.
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Corporate and Shareholder Information

IBC

This annual report contains forward-looking statements and non-IFRS measures. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on this information, as a number
of factors could cause our actual results, performance, or future events to differ materially. Additional information about forward-looking statements and risk factors
can be found on page 18 and page 66.
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2017
highlights

REVENUE

EBITDA

$1.3B

$280M

REVENUE GROWTH

EBITDA GROWTH

in $ Millions
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We achieved our strategic objectives for 2017:
>

revenue increased by 26%

>

EBITDA increased by 5%

>	Home Services rental additions exceeded attrition

for the 10th consecutive quarter
>	delivered annualized synergies related to the

Service Experts acquisition of 9 cents per share
>	deployed capital of $181 million for future growth

DIVIDENDS PAID PER SHARE

5-YEAR TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN

$0.95

+233%

DIVIDENDS PAID

5-YEAR TOTAL
SHAREHOLDER RETURN

$ per share during the year
0.90 0.95

232.6%

0.82
0.69

0.72

56.0%
49.9%

13

14

15

16

17
S&P/TSX Composite Index
S&P/TSX Composite Dividend Index
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2017
our three
operating segments

Service Experts

Service Experts rents, sells, installs, maintains,
and repairs heating, ventilation and air conditioning
(HVAC) systems and water heater products.
It has approximately 90 locations in Canada and
the United States, and accounted for 53% of our
consolidated revenue in 2017.

Home Services

Home Services rents, sells, installs, maintains,
and repairs HVAC products and water heaters
and provides related services. It also provides
water treatment solutions, plumbing services
and protection plans.
It has over 1.1 million rental units installed in
Canada, and accounted for 36% of our
consolidated revenue in 2017.

2017

2017

$662 million revenue

$458 million revenue

$45 million EBITDA

$255 million EBITDA

2,300 net rental additions

8,000 net rental additions

69,300 HVAC and water heater sales

38,000 HVAC and water heater rental additions

217,000 maintenance contracts

552,000 protection plans
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Our goal is to build on the Home Services recurring revenue model with
new product offerings and geographic expansion. Our HVAC rentals are
worth approximately 2.5 times that of an outright sale on a discounted
cash flow basis over the life of the asset, which is why we’re introducing
the rental model at our Service Experts locations. We also value our
protection plans and maintenance contracts because they are a way for
us to develop and strengthen our customer relationships.

Sub-metering

Sub-metering provides sub-metering services for
electricity, thermal, gas and water to condominiums
and apartments in Ontario, Alberta and elsewhere
in Canada.
It includes Triacta, which designs and manufactures
advanced, utility grade meters, and accounted for
11% of our consolidated revenue in 2017.

4,700

employees1

1.6 M

customers

2017
$137 million revenue
$14 million EBITDA
261,000 contracted units
130,000 billable units

1

 nercare has approximately 4,700 employees
E
under its Enercare and Service Experts brands.
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your home
our enercare

We take care of our customers. We’re developing a suite
of applications and new technologies that will help us detect
and address problems before they happen. It will change
the home services industry, and more importantly, give our
customers peace of mind so they can focus on the things
that matter most to them.

6
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Message from the Chair

dedicated to delivering
shareholder value
Enercare has grown significantly over the past
several years. We made two transformational
acquisitions, added streams of recurring
revenue, and launched products that are
innovating the home services industry.

Jim Pantelidis
Chair of the Board

FOCUSED ON STABLE, PROFITABLE GROWTH
Our five-year total shareholder return in 2017 outpaced the
S&P/TSX Composite Index. We paid $0.95 per share in dividends
this year, up almost $0.05 from 2016, as we remain confident in
the future of our business. Indeed, we distributed approximately
$101 million in dividends to our shareholders in 2017, and
announced a 4% dividend increase in early March 2018.
We’re known for generating stable cash flow, even as we invest in
growth. Our revenues have grown every year since we were founded
in 2002, and our shares are part of many indices:
> S&P/TSX Composite Index
> S&P/TSX Composite Dividend Index
> S&P/TSX Canadian Dividend Aristocrats Index
> S&P/TSX Composite High Dividend Index.

8

Enercare Annual Report 2017

delivering shareholder
returns while investing
in growth
BUILDING THE STRENGTH OF OUR BOARD
One key way that we’re driving future growth is by using new
technology to enhance the way that we do business. That’s why
I’m delighted that John W. Chandler, a respected thought leader
on digital transformation and marketing strategy, joined our board
in early 2018.

Board of
Directors

He brings extensive leadership experience in navigating the rapidly
changing consumer and digital landscapes, marketing and innovation,
and his experience in the United States will be an asset as we continue
to expand our presence there under the Service Experts brand.

John W. Chandler

SUCCESSFUL SERVICE EXPERTS
LEADERSHIP TRANSITION

Lisa de Wilde

I’d also like to acknowledge Scott Boxer, who retired as President
and Chief Executive Officer of Service Experts in 2017. He helped
shepherd our Service Experts acquisition, and I thank him for all
his contributions to Enercare. Service Experts’ new President and
Chief Executive Officer is Scott Boose, who is very familiar with our
business. He was formerly with Direct Energy and was a member
of our board from 2014 to 2016, and I’m confident that he’ll
successfully lead Service Experts as we continue to roll out our
rental model to the broader North American market.
On behalf of my fellow directors, I’d like to thank the entire Enercare
team for all their hard work, and congratulate them on another
successful year.

Jim Pantelidis
Chair of the Board

Enercare
(appointed January 30, 2018)
Executive Fellow
Centre for Digital Strategies
Dartmouth College Tuck School
of Business

Chief Executive Officer
Ontario Educational
Communications Authority (TVO)

John Macdonald
President and
Chief Executive Officer
Enercare

Grace Palombo
Executive Vice President
Chief Human Resources Officer
Great-West Lifeco Inc.

Jerry Patava
Chief Executive Officer
Great Gulf Group of Companies

Roy Pearce
Director
Enercare

Michael Rousseau

Jim Pantelidis
Chair of the Board

Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
Air Canada

William Wells
Founder and Chairman
Evizone Limited
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Message from the President and Chief Executive Officer

driven by a
successful strategy
We’ve had another successful year.
We delivered revenue growth, EBITDA
growth, and the synergies related to the
Service Experts acquisition exceeded
our expectations.

John Macdonald
President and Chief Executive Officer

SERVICE EXPERTS: ROLLING OUT
THE RENTAL MODEL
We’re extremely pleased with our acquisition of Service Experts,
which accounted for 53% of our consolidated revenue in 2017.
Revenue for Service Experts was $662 million in 2017, up from
$411 million in 2016, and EBITDA was $45 million in 2017, up
from $39 million in 2016. We also successfully completed three
acquisitions under the Service Experts brand in 2017, effectively
building on our leading position in the North American home
services industry.
Our strategy remains focused on building a rental portfolio in
Service Experts. In 2017, Service Experts rented approximately
2,300 units and sold about 69,300 units for a combined total
of approximately 71,600, an increase of 14% over 2016.
We’ve completed the rollout of our rental products to all 15 Service
Experts locations in Canada, where our rental results exceeded our
expectations. We have begun the rollout in the United States, where
it’s now available in seven states. For Service Experts locations in
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enhancing
the home services
business
the United States, renting HVAC equipment and water heaters is a
new concept, so we expect progress will be steady. Ultimately, building
a rental business will enhance the value of this acquisition, as it will
add to our base of recurring revenues.

HOME SERVICES: BUILDING ON OUR
CUSTOMER SERVICE REPUTATION
The rental business is still successfully driving the performance
of Home Services, where we increased revenue to $458 million in
2017, up 4% from $439 million in 2016. EBITDA was $255 million
in 2017, up 4% from $245 million in 2016. At year end, we also
marked the 10th consecutive quarter of rental portfolio growth, a
new record for us. HVAC rental contracts for single family homes are
particularly important to revenue growth in Home Services, because
they are worth three to five times more revenue than the other
equipment in our rental portfolio.
Other drivers of revenue include average monthly rental rates,
which increased by about 3.10% in 2017, and our increasing
number of protection plans. Protection plans are an opportunity
to develop relationships with new customers who we can transition
over time to higher value products like HVAC units or water heaters.
Reaching this goal is dependent on superior customer service,
something that our team is dedicated to continually improving,
and it shows. In 2017, we increased our Google Review score by
6.6% and generated over 5,000 new Google reviews. Home Services
received an A rating from the Better Business Bureau serving Central
Ontario, and our net promoter scores, which measure brand loyalty,
reached a new record high in 2017.

SERVICE EXPERTS
Goals achieved in 2017
> Synergies of

9 cents per share
> EBITDA growth
> Revenue growth
> Launched rental program

in Canada and U.S.
> 3 successful acquisitions

HOME SERVICES
Goals achieved in 2017
> EBITDA growth
> Net rental unit growth
> Expanded the protection

plan portfolio
> Protection plan growth
> Launched mobile app

We’re also pleased that Ontario’s Putting Consumers First Act comes
into effect this spring. This new legislation protects customers from
high-pressure sales tactics and bans unsolicited door-to-door sales
of appliances such as water heaters, furnaces, air conditioners and
water filters.
Enercare Annual Report 2017
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we’re focused on
operational excellence
and innovation
SUB-METERING
Goals achieved in 2017
> EBITDA growth
> Increased contract sales
> Reduced capital spend per unit

for new installations
> Launched new product

and service offerings

We believe the new legislation, coupled with our initiatives to educate
consumers and enhance our value proposition, will continue to have a
positive impact on attrition in our water heater rental business.
Looking to 2018, we’ll remain focused on adding new rentals and
protection plans. We’re especially excited about how Home Services
will be using technology to transform customer service. We’re in
the pilot phase of Enercare Smarter HomeTM, a new product that
gives customers the ability to use their smartphone to monitor
and manage their energy usage and control appliances, detect
water leaks and shut off water remotely. This product will
strengthen our customer relationships and help us move to
a more proactive service model. Home Services will ideally be
able to notify customers before issues arise, analyze how they
use their HVAC equipment, and ultimately help customers
conserve energy and save money.

SUB-METERING: A WHOLE BUILDING SOLUTION
Our Sub-metering segment had a great sales year and achieved its
goals in 2017. Contracted units were up, with most new contracts for
more than one service, and we reduced the capital spent per unit on
new installations. We now have 261,000 contracted units in total, out
of which we’re billing 130,000. This healthy two to one contracted
to billing backlog means that we have a pipeline of growth to look
forward to.
While revenue of $137 million was lower than 2016 by $9 million,
pass-through commodity was $12 million lower than 2016, which

12
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making capital
investments that will
drive future growth
resulted in an 8% margin improvement. EBITDA was $14 million in
2017, up 6% over 2016. Sub-metering also launched two new product
and service offerings in 2017, including a new service for commercial
multi-tenant buildings that reports on tenant consumption.

Executive
Management
John Macdonald

INVESTING IN INNOVATION
In 2018, we’ll continue to focus on innovation across all our business
segments. We’re pursuing a broad ongoing program to increase
efficiency and innovation by investing in systems and technology
that will differentiate us from our competitors. We believe that
these investments will also help us take a leading position in
customer service in the future. Developing new ways to connect
with our customers means that we’ll be able to solve problems more
effectively, ideally before they even occur. This substantial shift
from reactive to proactive customer service has the potential to
transform the way we serve our customers.
Overall, our strategic objectives for 2018 remain the same:
grow revenue and EBITDA. We’ll continue to build on our base of
recurring revenue while remaining committed to returning capital
to our shareholders.

President and
Chief Executive Officer

Colleen Bailey Moffitt
Chief Human Resources Officer

Scott Boose
President and
Chief Executive Officer,
Service Experts

Jenine Krause
Chief Operating Officer,
Home Services

John Piercy
Senior Vice President and
General Manager, Sub-metering

Brian Schmitt
Chief Financial Officer

John Toffoletto
Senior Vice President,
Chief Legal Officer and
Corporate Secretary

Irene Zaguskin
Chief Information Officer

John Macdonald
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Responsibility

because
we enercare

CARING FOR OUR CUSTOMERS

We were the first
Canadian home
services company
to offer customers
an easy-to-use
mobile app

Enercare is committed to providing our customers with best in class
services, energy efficient whole home solutions, and peace of mind
regarding their equipment.
Last year, customers booked more than 4,000 maintenance calls
through our self-service mobile app. We were the first Canadian home
services company to offer customers an easy-to-use mobile app for
booking, tracking and managing their service appointments.
In 2018, we’re launching our Enercare Smarter HomeTM program,
which gives customers real-time diagnostics and insights about
their homes.

INVESTING IN OUR EMPLOYEES
Our employees are our most valuable resource, so we’ve developed
a new Human Resources Information System. It’s a platform that
empowers employees by giving them easy access to information
about their employment.
We’re also actively building leadership capabilities throughout the
business, and are introducing an online educational tool that helps
people develop their management skills.

14
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our commitment
to our customers, our people
and our communities

COMMITTED TO OUR COMMUNITIES
The Enercare Fresh Start Program gives Fresh Start Comfort
Packages with necessities and small luxuries to families
who are transitioning out of shelters into a home of their
own. In 2017, we extended the program to Toronto, Ottawa,
Niagara Falls/St. Catharines, and Markham. We supported
45 families this year, and our employees supported the
program by volunteering more than 300 hours over 13 days.
Service Experts is a proud sponsor of Make-A-Wish and donated
$150,000 in 2017. It works with local chapters to enhance the
Make-A-Wish mission to help Wish kids find hope for better times,
the strength for tough times, and the joy to experience the present.
Service Experts has also raised thousands of dollars and donated
goods, thanks to the efforts of our general managers and their teams.
Local centres hosted drives for food, blood, toys, and clothing, with
some centres even donating entire home comfort systems.

Enercare Annual Report 2017
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Enercare’s three business segments have complementary
and mutually reinforcing missions: growth through product
innovation, growth through geographic expansion, and
organic growth.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The consolidated financial statements of Enercare are prepared in accordance with IFRS. Enercare’s basis of
presentation and significant accounting policies are summarized in detail in notes 2 and 3 of the consolidated financial
statements for the period ended December 31, 2017. Unless otherwise specified, amounts are reported in this MD&A
in thousands, except customers, units and “per unit” amounts, Shares and “per Share” amounts, SE Subscription
Receipts and percentages (except as otherwise noted). Unless otherwise specified, dollar amounts are expressed in
Canadian dollars.
Enercare operates its businesses in three segments: Enercare Home Services – provision of water heaters, furnaces,
air conditioners and other HVAC rental products, protection plans and related services, Service Experts – provision
of sales, installation, maintenance, repair and rental of HVAC systems and water heater products through Enercare’s
Service Experts subsidiaries, and Sub-metering – provision of Sub-metering equipment and billing services.
Certain definitions of key financial and operating terms used in this MD&A are located at the end of this MD&A under
“Glossary of Terms”.

Forward-Looking Information
This MD&A, dated March 5, 2018, contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable
Canadian securities laws (“forward-looking statements” or “forward-looking information”) that involve various risks
and uncertainties and should be read in conjunction with Enercare’s 2017 audited consolidated financial statements.
Additional information in respect of Enercare, including the AIF, can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Statements other than statements of historical fact contained in this MD&A may be forward-looking statements,
including, without limitation, management’s expectations, intentions and beliefs concerning anticipated future events,
results, circumstances, economic performance or expectations with respect to Enercare, including Enercare’s business
operations, business strategy and financial condition. When used herein, the words “anticipates”, “believes”, “budgets”,
“could”, “estimates”, “expects”, “forecasts”, “goal”, “intends”, “may”, “might”, “outlook”, “plans”, “projects”, “schedule”,
“should”, “strive”, “target”, “will”, “would” and similar expressions are often intended to identify forward-looking
information, although not all forward-looking information contains these identifying words. These forward-looking
statements may reflect the internal projections, expectations, future growth, results of operations, performance,
business prospects and opportunities of Enercare and are based on information currently available to Enercare and/
or assumptions that Enercare believes are reasonable. Many factors could cause actual results to differ materially from
the results and developments discussed in the forward-looking information.
In developing these forward-looking statements, certain material assumptions were made. These forward-looking
statements are also subject to certain risks. These factors include, but are not limited to:
• actual future market conditions being different than anticipated by management;
• the risk that the roll out of rental HVAC offerings beyond the present seven states in the United States does not
realize anticipated results as the rental model is a new concept in this industry in the United States; and
• the risks and uncertainties described under “Risk Factors” in this MD&A.
Material factors or assumptions that were applied to drawing a conclusion or making an estimate set out in
forward-looking statements include:
• the view of management regarding current and anticipated market conditions;
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• industry trends remaining unchanged;
• the financial and operating attributes of Enercare and Service Experts as at the date hereof and the anticipated
future performance of Enercare and Service Experts;
• assumptions regarding the volume and mix of business activities remaining consistent with current trends;
• assumptions regarding the interest rate of the 2016 Term Loan, 2014 Revolver, foreign exchange rates and
commodity prices; and
• the number of Shares outstanding increasing as a result of the DRIP.
There can be no assurance that the anticipated strategic benefits and operational and competitive synergies from the
SE Transaction will be realized. There can be no assurance that recent results from the introduction of the rental model
to Service Experts in Canada and the United States are indicative of future results. There can also be no assurance as
to any potential outcome of the Bureau’s inquiry and the effect on Enercare’s business.
Readers are cautioned that the preceding list of material factors or assumptions is not exhaustive. Although forwardlooking statements contained in this MD&A are based upon what management believes are reasonable assumptions,
there can be no assurance that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. Accordingly,
readers should not place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements and assumptions as management cannot
provide assurance that actual results or developments will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will
have the expected consequences to, or effects on, Enercare. All forward-looking information in this MD&A is made
as of the date of this MD&A. These forward-looking statements are subject to change as a result of new information,
future events or other circumstances, in which case they will only be updated by Enercare where required by law.
Please see the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this MD&A for a discussion in respect of the material risks relating to
the business and structure of Enercare.

Overview
Enercare, primarily through acquisition, has become a multi-segment and product company since its origins in 2002
as the Fund, which primarily financed rental equipment originated and serviced by DE. On October 20, 2014, Enercare
purchased the Ontario home and small commercial services business from DE and effectively reunited the business
separated in 2002 with the creation of the Fund. Enercare Solutions, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Enercare, operates
the Enercare Home Services business.
On May 11, 2016, Enercare, through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Enercare Solutions, acquired through a
merger, SEHAC Holdings Corporation, now SEHAC Holdings LLC, which owned Service Experts. Enercare purchased
100% of the outstanding shares of SEHAC. Service Experts provides sales, installation, maintenance, repair and rental of
HVAC systems and water heater products directly to residential and light commercial customers. As of March 5, 2018,
there were 91 Service Experts locations in the United States and Canada.
Enercare also owns Enercare Connections Inc. (a successor by amalgamation effective January 1, 2012 to Stratacon
Inc. and Enercare Connections Inc.). ECI provides sub-metering services for electricity, thermal, gas and water to
condominiums and apartments in Ontario, Alberta and elsewhere in Canada. On July 15, 2015, ECI purchased and
amalgamated with Triacta Power Technologies Inc., a company in the design and manufacturing of advanced, utilitygrade energy management meters for multi-unit residential, commercial and institutional applications. Triacta’s primary
markets are Canada and the U.S.
Enercare Annual Report 2017
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Through its Enercare Home Services, Service Experts and Sub-metering businesses, Enercare provides intelligent and
energy-efficient products, services, programs and solutions that enable homeowners, multi-unit owners and tenants to
make a substantial contribution to North America’s growing culture of energy conservation.
Enercare has grown revenues every year since its inception in 2002, generated stable cash flow and consistently
maintained a high dividend yield. Enercare has investment grade ratings of BBB/stable from S&P and DBRS,
respectively.
Enercare’s Shares trade under the symbol “ECI” on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Enercare is a member of the S&P/TSX
Composite Index, S&P/TSX Completion Index, S&P/TSX Canadian Consumer Discretionary Index and the S&P/TSX
Canadian Dividend Aristocrats Index.

Portfolio Summary
Enercare’s primary businesses are comprised of Enercare Home Services, Service Experts and Sub-metering. The
graph below shows the breakdown of revenues for each of the primary businesses. The primary business activities
within each of the Enercare Home Services, Service Experts and Sub-metering segments are discussed below. Service
Experts revenues in 2016 accounted for only a partial year from May 11, 2016 to December 31, 2016, while Service
Experts revenues in 2017 reflect a full year of results.
REVENUE BY SEGMENT
2016

2017
11%

18%

36%
56%
26%

53%

Enercare Home Services
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Service Experts

Sub-metering

ENERCARE HOME SERVICES BUSINESS
There are four main business activities within Enercare Home Services: Rentals, Protection Plans, HVAC Sales and
Other (which includes duct cleaning and chargeable services). The following diagram shows the breakdown of
customer contracts for each such activity for the year ending December 31, 2017.

1.1 million

552,000

20,114

Other

RENTALS

PROTECTION
PLANS

HVAC SALES
AND RENTALS

PRODUCTS
AND SERVICES

Of the four main business activities, the Rentals component produces the largest portion of revenue, followed by
Protection Plans, HVAC Sales and Other, as illustrated in more detail by the following chart.
HOME SERVICES REVENUE BY CATEGORY
2017
5%

2%

20%
73%

Rentals

Protection Plans

HVAC Sales

Other

Rentals
Enercare Home Services is focused on growing its rental portfolio by increasing originations and reducing Attrition.
In 2017, Enercare Home Services successfully grew its rental portfolio by approximately 8,000 units. Rental unit
additions have surpassed Attrition since the third quarter of 2015 by approximately 19,000 units in total. This
represents the first ten consecutive quarters of net unit growth for Enercare Home Services in over a decade.
Originations are primarily obtained from the new home builder market and new customers identified through field
technicians and dealers. New products, such as rental HVAC (discussed further below in the section entitled “HVAC
Sales and Rentals”), have contributed significantly to increasing total originations. As seen in the graph below,
additions were approximately 10,000 units in the fourth quarter of 2017 and 37,500 units for the year ended
December 31, 2017, decreases of 9% and 1%, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2016.

Enercare Annual Report 2017
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RENTAL ADDITIONS
(000’s)*

11
10

9

9

8

9

10

10

10

9

8

6

Q1

Q2

Q3
2016

2015

Q4

2017

* Rental additions presented have been rounded in thousands of units and are consistent with the installed asset unit continuity
presented in the “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Capital Expenditures” section in this MD&A. To ensure consistency with rounded
year to date and period end balances, the rounded units presented in the chart above may vary by +1 or -1 in certain quarters from
results rounded to the nearest hundred units elsewhere in this MD&A.

To aid in the reduction of Attrition, Enercare Home Services has implemented many programs, including continued
consumer education campaigns and customer retention programs. Such initiatives, coupled with enhancements to our
customer value proposition (for example, the “same day service campaign”) and the coming into effect of Bill 55 on
April 1, 2015, have helped to significantly reduce Attrition. Attrition of approximately 7,700 units in the fourth quarter
of 2017 and approximately 29,500 units for the year ended December 31, 2017, improved by 7% or 600 units and
approximately 2% or 500 units, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2016, which had Attrition of 8,300 and
30,000, respectively. The chart below illustrates Attrition trends since 2013.
ATTRITION
(000’s)*

14
11

11
9

9
7

12
10

8

8

Q1

2014

11
9

7

7

Q2
2013

12

11
7

7

Q3
2015

8

8

Q4
2016

2017

* Attrition units presented have been rounded in thousands of units and are consistent with the installed asset unit continuity
presented in the “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Capital Expenditures” section in this MD&A. To ensure consistency with rounded
year to date and period end balances, the rounded units presented in the chart above may vary by +1 or -1 in certain quarters from
results rounded to the nearest hundred units elsewhere in this MD&A.

In recent years, changes in water heater technology, regulatory requirements relating to energy efficiency and
consumer trends have led to an increase in the origination of higher value products. One of Enercare Home Services’
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growth platforms has been to focus on single family and multi-residential HVAC rental units. Although the results
have a small impact on the unit continuity, HVAC units provide three to five times more rental revenue than that of
a water heater. A comparison of the asset mix ten years ago to that of today reveals that the portfolio contains a
higher percentage of power vent (“PV”), HVAC and tankless rental units, all of which provide a higher revenue than
conventional vent (“CV”) units.
REVENUE SOURCE AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2007
Tankless 0%

Other 6%

REVENUE SOURCE AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2017

HVAC 3%

HVAC 11%

Electric 3%

Other 7%
CV 44%

CV 30%

Tankless 4%
Electric 3%

PV 44%

PV 45%

Enercare Home Services is also able to grow revenue through rental rate increases each year. In January of 2016 and
2017, Enercare Home Services increased its weighted average rental rate by 2.74% and 3.10%, respectively, with
respect to the rental water heater portfolio. This, in combination with asset mix changes and the focus on adding rental
HVACs, led to an increase in the average portfolio rental rate of 4% from 2015 to 2016 and 5% from 2016 to 2017.
The weighted average rental rate increase for the HVAC rental portfolio was 5% from 2016 to 2017.
ENERCARE HOME SERVICES
AVERAGE MONTHLY RENTAL RATES
5%

4%
$22.20

2015

$23.12

2016

$24.35

2017

Protection Plans
Enercare Home Services sells a variety of plans covering such items as furnaces, air conditioning, plumbing, fireplaces,
electrical components and appliances. There are two types of protection plans: maintenance protection plans and
full service protection plans. Maintenance protection plans essentially only provide for annual maintenance services,
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whereas full service protection plans provide a broader suite of protections, such as parts and labour. The plans are
typically one year in length with monthly or annual payment options. Due to the annual nature of the contract, the
protection plans tend to have a higher churn rate.
Protection plans are strategically important to generate future sales opportunities. Maintenance protection plans allow
technicians to engage with homeowners to identify opportunities to drive additional customer value through expanded
protection plan coverage or equipment replacement. Full service protection plans become increasingly attractive to
homeowners as their equipment ages. Service calls for older furnaces and air conditioners are a significant source of
leads for both new HVAC rental additions and outright sales.
Enercare Home Services also sells an extended protection plan program on heating and air conditioning sales. These
plans not only allow Enercare Home Services to retain the customer relationship, but also provide for on-going
maintenance. The plans augment the customer value proposition when a customer chooses to purchase rather than
rent. Since inception, approximately 82% of residential HVAC unit sales included an extended protection plan.
Enercare Home Services’ protection plan portfolio increased by approximately 10,000 plans in 2017 to 552,000
plans as a result of improvements in both additions and retention. Compared to 2016, protection plan additions of
approximately 77,000 plans increased by 8%, while attrition of approximately 67,000 plans improved by 9%, in
part due to new plan offers and competitive pricing, compared to 2016. Attrition includes approximately 9,100
(2016 – 9,300) protection plans cancelled as a result of those plans being replaced by rentals as part of the
Enercare Home Services growth strategy.
In 2017, HVAC unit originations continued to be more through rentals than sales. As a result, the opportunities for
protection plan sales were fewer as rentals already include a service component. The execution of our HVAC rental
strategy is a key component of the long-term growth of the business, as we continue to grow our recurring revenue
base, including service offerings that allow us to provide a valuable experience for customers while positioning
ourselves for future cross selling opportunities.
The following table illustrates the protection plan contract continuity for the year ended December 31, 2017
and 2016.
Protection Plan Unit Continuity For the year ended December 31, (000’s)
Contracts – start of the period
Portfolio additions

2017

2016

542

545

77

71

Protection plan attrition

(67)

Contracts – end of the period

552

542

1.8%

(0.6%)

% change in units during the period

(74)

HVAC Sales and Rentals
A customer can acquire an HVAC asset through a sale, comprised of an outright purchase or through financing, or a
rental. Typically, most HVAC originations occur during the heating and cooling seasons of the year.
As part of Enercare Home Services’ strategy to grow its recurring revenue customer base, Enercare Home Services
re-launched its HVAC rental program in 2013. Converting a customer from an outright sale to a long-term rental product
is capital intensive and creates a short-term reduction in the income statement, as opposed to in year sales margin.
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However, rental HVAC creates a long-term customer revenue stream and the rental relationship provides greater
cross-selling opportunities and is therefore more valuable than a one-time sale. Enercare Home Services estimates that
a rental unit is worth approximately 2.5 times that of a sale on a discounted cash flow basis over the life of the asset.
A comparison between 2017 and 2016 is outlined in the chart below.
HVAC TRANSACTION MIX
RENTAL VS SALE*

2%
20,568 20,114

5%
13,489

12,834

3%
7,079

Rental

7,280

Sale
2016

Total
2017

* HVAC rental and sales units presented include residential, commercial and multi-residential rental additions and sales.

During 2017, Enercare Home Services rented 12,834 new units, a decrease of 5% over the prior year, and sold
approximately 7,280 units for a total of 20,114 HVAC units, compared to 20,568 units in the prior year, a decrease of
2%. During the fourth quarter of 2017, Enercare Home Services adjusted its HVAC rental product offers, rebalancing
good, better and best heating and cooling systems, which shifted originations slightly more toward sales.
HVAC sales and rentals in 2017 were impacted by unfavourable weather trends throughout the year. The unseasonably
warmer temperatures, as measured by heating degree days1, experienced in the first quarter of 2017 led to fewer
furnace breakdowns and lower demand for HVAC unit rentals and sales to start the year. Weather conditions during
the second quarter of 2017 continued to be less favourable compared to the same period in 2016, despite a return to
more seasonable temperatures. During the second quarter, these less favourable conditions were offset by increased
marketing and promotional offers coupled with customers taking advantage of Ontario air conditioning rebate offers,
which led to a 16% increase in rentals and sales during the quarter. Softer demand for air conditioning rentals and
sales continued in the third quarter of 2017 as a result of 40% fewer cooling degree days1 compared to the same
period in 2016. Although this led to lower HVAC rentals and sales during the quarter, this was partly offset by strong
sales execution, driving higher ticket prices and closing rates. During the fourth quarter of 2017, demand for HVAC
rentals and sales continued to be lower than anticipated as warm weather trends combined with fewer discounts and
promotional offers than in the prior year contributed to lower demand.

1

 eating/cooling degree days for a given day represent the number of Celsius degrees that the mean temperature is above or below
H
a given base temperature, in this case 18°C. If the temperature is equal to 18°C, then the number will be zero. Values above or
below the base of 18°C are used primarily to estimate the heating and cooling requirements of buildings. Temperatures below
18°C result in higher heating degree days (lower cooling degree days), while those above 18°C result in lower heating degree days
(higher cooling degree days).
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The strategy to convert HVAC sales into rentals has resulted in increases to our recurring revenue. Nevertheless,
Enercare Home Services continues to be financially impacted by this strategy in the short-term. For example, had
all 12,834 new HVAC rental additions in 2017 been sales as opposed to rentals, revenues and EBITDA would have
increased by approximately $40,700 and $17,400, respectively. These estimates take into account the impact of
lost one-time sales revenues from corporate sales and royalty revenues earned on franchisee sales, both net of rental
revenues earned, and capitalized costs which would have otherwise been included in cost of goods sold had these
new HVAC rental additions been sales as opposed to rentals.
Other
The Other category includes ancillary services such as duct cleaning, plumbing and electrical work and other
non-contracted chargeable services provided by Enercare Home Services.
SERVICE EXPERTS BUSINESS
Enercare expanded into the U.S. marketplace through its acquisition of Service Experts in May 2016. Service Experts
is a leading provider of HVAC equipment and servicing to residential and light commercial customers and, as of
March 5, 2018, operated 91 centers in 29 states in the United States and three provinces in Canada.
SERVICE EXPERTS REVENUE MIX
2017
3%

2%

17%

78%

Residential Service & Replacement

Commercial Service & Replacement

Residential New Construction

Commercial New Construction

As illustrated in the chart above, residential service and replacement made up 78% of revenues, while commercial
service and replacement made up 17%. Commercial service and replacement is comprised of both services to
commercial customers at Service Experts’ local centers as well as commercial services to its national account
customers that are managed through Service Experts’ national accounts group. The major business activities within
both the residential and commercial businesses consist of HVAC and water heater sales, servicing and rentals, and
maintenance contracts.
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HVAC and Water Heater Sales, Servicing and Rentals
HVAC and water heater sales and servicing includes service and replacement, which consists of demand, tune-up
and HVAC unit replacements and upgrades, commercial HVAC service and replacement, and HVAC installations
in commercial and residential new construction. Water heater sales and rentals consist primarily of on-demand
residential water heater unit replacements and upgrades.
HVAC repair and replacement activities comprise the majority of the Service Experts business and are considered
essential services to both residential and commercial customers. This revenue stream has minimal exposure to new
construction and in recent years has been positively affected by the housing stock growth and significant pent-up
demand from residential recession-era replacement deferrals in the United States. Additionally, Service Experts has
focused on various growth initiatives, including expanding outbound calling and online marketing to increase the
number of customer contacts which convert to booked calls and ultimately result in a larger recurring customer base.
As part of Service Experts’ strategy to grow its recurring revenues, in October 2016, Service Experts introduced a
rental program for HVAC and water heater products in Canada. The program rollout was completed at all 15 centers
in Canada in February 2017, and while the program is still in the very early stages, Enercare is encouraged by the
initial results, which show an initial rental mix for 2017 of approximately 15% (ranging from 8% to 36% depending
on the center) in Ontario and 10% (ranging from 6% to 13% depending on the center) in Western Canada, where the
rental model is relatively new to the marketplace. The successful introduction of the rental model in Canada is part of
Enercare Solutions’ plan to integrate rentals throughout the vast majority of the Service Experts’ residential heating and
cooling operations, by the end of 2018 to create recurring revenue.
Service Experts rolled-out its U.S. HVAC rental program throughout 2017; it is currently offered in seven states. The
U.S. rental program is similar to the existing Canadian rental program, except that due to U.S. regulations, the rental
contracts in the United States will be for a definitive term, which in the current states offering the program is 10 years.
Enercare anticipates that the form of the contract, as driven by the U.S. regulatory environment, will result in a slower
adoption of the rental program in the U.S. The preliminary rental mix of total HVAC origination in the United States for
2017 was approximately 3% (ranging from 0.2% to 12% depending on the center). While the initial results in a number
of these U.S. centers have been encouraging, Service Experts continues to review its U.S. rental program to identify
opportunities to improve its customer offerings and related rental execution processes. During the fourth quarter of
2017, Service Experts enhanced certain aspects of the rental program, which led to modest improvements. These
enhancements will be incorporated in 2018 into the future centers that introduce the rental program.
During 2017, Service Experts sold approximately 69,314 HVAC and water heater units, and rented approximately
2,275 new units for a total of 71,589 HVAC and water heater unit installations, an increase of 14% compared to 2016.
The increase in total HVAC and water heater unit installations was despite generally unfavourable weather trends2
throughout the first three quarters of 2017, including the negative impact in the third quarter, particularly in Florida,
during the days leading up to and after Hurricane Irma. During the first three quarters of the year, higher revenues were
driven by marketing and other initiatives to shift sales towards higher value products, which contributed to improvements
in the average selling prices of installed units. Although temperatures in the fourth quarter were considered to be one of
the warmest in the past 25 years in the Southern, Western and Central regions of United States, average temperatures
were nevertheless cooler compared to 2016, resulting in higher demand for HVAC sales, service and repairs during the
quarter. Service Experts’ sales and rentals in Eastern Canada were also similarly impacted by the same unfavourable
weather trends experienced by the Enercare Home Services segment during 2017.

2

Weather trends from Weather Trends International.
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Furthermore, in 2017 had the 1,276 HVAC and 999 water heater rental additions been sales, as opposed to rentals,
Service Experts’ revenues and EBITDA would have increased by approximately $9,644 and $3,615, respectively.
These estimates take into account the impact of lost one-time sales revenues, net of rental revenues earned during the
quarter, and capitalized costs which would have otherwise been included in cost of goods sold had these new HVAC
and water heater rental additions been sales as opposed to rentals. A comparison of HVAC and water heater sales and
rentals for 2017 and 2016 is outlined in the chart below:
SERVICE EXPERTS TRANSACTION MIX
RENTAL VS SALE*
14%

11%

71,589

69,314
62,806

62,622

184

2,275
Rental

Sale
2016

Total
2017

*Historical HVAC sales information is provided for the full year in 2016 as an illustration of the improvement in Service Experts’ HVAC
sales. Enercare was not party to Service Experts’ HVAC sales before the closing of the SE Transaction on May 11, 2016.

Maintenance Contracts
Maintenance contracts generally consist of annual or semi-annual maintenance contracts predominantly to a recurring
customer base. These maintenance plans not only generate recurring revenue but also promote the development of
customer loyalty and provide the opportunity for cross-marketing of Service Experts’ other products and services to
such customers.
Service Experts currently has two types of maintenance contracts in respect of HVAC equipment. The first is a
maintenance only contract where semi-annual or annual maintenance visits are conducted to perform diagnostics
over HVAC equipment, while the second is a full service plan that includes repair services along with certain parts and
labour. Approximately 200,000 customers have ongoing maintenance contracts covering approximately 217,000
pieces of equipment. Although the total number of maintenance contracts can fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a
result of the timing of contract renewals and the number of new HVAC unit installations initiated by customers with
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maintenance contracts, in recent years, maintenance contracts have remained stable for Service Experts. The following
table illustrates the maintenance contracts continuity for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Maintenance Contract Unit Continuity For the year ended December 31, (000’s)
Contracts – start of period
Portfolio additions
Portfolio attrition
Contracts – end of period
% change in units during the period

2017

2016

216

218

107

68

(106)

(70)

217

216

0.5%

(1%)

SUB-METERING BUSINESS
Enercare entered the multi-residential Sub-metering business through two acquisitions made in 2008 and 2010,
respectively. There are two main market segments for Sub-metering in the multi-residential market: retro-fit submetering and new build construction. Within each market, apartments and condominiums have significantly different
revenue streams.
Within the retro-fit revenue stream, after a contract is signed, the meters are typically installed within the first two
quarters following signing. However, typically for a retro-fit installed unit to become Billable, Enercare must wait for
tenant turnover to occur. As a result, it can take many years for all units in a retro-fit building to become Billable. In
the new build sub-metering market, after a contract is signed, the meters are usually not installed for several years
as installation occurs when the building is in its final construction stages. However, in this revenue stream, once the
meters are installed they become Billable relatively quickly and revenue is typically at 100% penetration from that
point onwards.
On July 15, 2015, Enercare purchased Triacta, a leader in the design and manufacturing of advanced, utility-grade
energy management meters for multi-unit residential, commercial and institutional applications. Triacta’s installed base
includes the U.S., Canada and off-shore markets.
Through acquisition and subsequent growth in contracted units, many of the above-mentioned up-front capital
investments have been made. As seen in the graph below, currently there are 261,000 contracted units. Of those
contracted units, 183,000 have meters installed and 130,000 of those units are Billable. Enercare expects to
experience continued revenue growth as these contracted units are turned into installed units and subsequently
Billable units. Contracted units increased by approximately 26,000 units in 2017 to 261,000 units from 235,000
units in 2016, a decrease of 4,000 units or 13% compared to the approximately 30,000 unit increase in 2016. The
decrease in contracted unit additions in 2017 was primarily due to the removal of 3,000 units in Alberta during the
second quarter that were part of a larger multi-services contract with a single customer that provided for heat metering
if and when Measurement Canada passed certification requirements for heat metering. As Measurement Canada had
not done so and the original customer contract was renewed in June of 2017, it was decided to remove heat metering
units from the renewal contract. The 26,000 net contracted units in 2017, represents the second highest sales result
in the past six years.
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SUB-METERING UNIT CONTINUITY
(000’s)

11%
261
235

11%
165

183

12%
130

116

Contracted

Installed
Q4 2016

Billable
Q4 2017

2017 Highlights
2017

(000’s)
Enercare Home Services

$

457,204

2016
$

438,618

Service Experts

662,346

410,735

Sub-metering

137,270

145,989

1,356

599

Investment income
$

Total revenues

1,258,176

18,586

4%

251,611

61%

(8,719)

126%

262,235

26%

13,956

5%

Adjusted EBITDA

287,829

270,198

17,631

7%

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA3

288,936

285,076

3,860

1%

(9,834)

(11%)

Earnings before income taxes
Current tax (expense)
Deferred income tax recovery
Net earnings
Payout Ratio – Maintenance4
Payout Ratio4

$

$

(6%)

757

265,792

3

995,941

$

Percent Change

279,748

EBITDA

$

Change

76,033

85,867

(22,723)

(54,381)

31,658

(58%)

2,204

29,644

(27,440)

(93%)

55,514

$

61,130

$

(5,616)

(9%)

57%

51%

6%

12%

103%

94%

9%

10%

3

 djusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA are Non-IFRS financial measures. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and
A
Performance Measures section in this MD&A.

4

 ayout Ratio and Payout Ratio – Maintenance are Non-IFRS financial measures. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and Performance
P
Measures section in this MD&A.
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The following highlights compare results for 2017 with those of 2016.
• Total revenues of $1,258,176 increased by $262,235 or 26% in 2017. Revenues in the Enercare Home Services
business were $457,204, increasing by $18,586 or 4%, primarily as a result of rental rate increases, asset mix
changes and growth in rental HVAC units. Revenues in the Service Experts business increased by $251,611 or
61%, primarily due to the inclusion of a full year of results in 2017 compared to a partial year in 2016, higher
sales volumes and acquisitions completed during the year. Sub-metering revenues decreased to $137,270 from
$145,989, primarily as a result of lower flow-through commodity charges of $12,471, partly offset by increases in
Billable units.
• EBITDA of $279,748 increased by $13,956 or 5% in 2017, driven principally by improved total revenues partly
offset by higher cost of goods sold and SG&A costs comprised of higher wages and benefits, and sales and
marketing expenditures.
• Enercare Home Services EBITDA in 2017 increased by $10,342 or 4% to $255,449, primarily driven by rental rate
increases and asset mix changes within the rental HVAC portfolio, partly offset by higher cost of goods sold and
SG&A costs, primarily from higher wages and benefits, and marketing expenditures.
• Service Experts EBITDA of $45,265 in 2017 was $6,275 or 16% higher than that reported in 2016. The increase
to Service Experts EBITDA is primarily the result of higher sales volumes, shifts towards higher value product sales
and acquisitions completed during the year. These impacts were partly offset by higher cost of goods sold and
SG&A costs, primarily from higher wages and benefits, and sales and marketing expenditures, partly offset by lower
professional fees comprised of acquisition and integration costs of $11,485 incurred during 2016 associated with
the SE Transaction. Additionally, had the 1,276 HVAC and 999 water heater rental additions in 2017 been sales
as opposed to rentals, Service Experts revenues and EBITDA would have increased by approximately $9,644 and
$3,615, respectively.
• Sub-metering EBITDA in 2017 increased by $825 or 6% to $14,322, primarily driven by higher Billable units,
which increased by approximately 14,000 units or 12%.
• Adjusted EBITDA of $287,829 in 2017 was $17,631 higher after removing from EBITDA the impact of the net loss
on disposal of equipment and other assets. After removing $1,107 of acquisition related expenditures primarily
associated with the acquisition of Church Services, Hammond and Aramendia, Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA was
$288,936 in 2017, an increase of $3,860, which excluded $14,878 of both acquisition costs related to the SE
Transaction and integration costs resulting from the DE Acquisition. The increase in Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA
was despite the following notable items:
ʙʙ $5,200 of higher stock based compensation costs resulting from an increase in the Share price;
ʙʙ approximately $3,500 of higher employee practices, workers’ compensation and automobile insurance costs
in the Service Experts business, driven by higher claims volumes and settlement costs, of which approximately
$2,200 of these higher costs were incurred during the fourth quarter of 2017; and
ʙʙ approximately $2,300 of higher SG&A costs associated with investments relating to the implementation of an
enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system.
Partly offsetting the above items, Service Experts experienced year over year improvements in purchase price
accounting from the SE Transaction of approximately $1,800. Without the impact of these items, Acquisition
Adjusted EBITDA would have increased by 5% in 2017.
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• Net earnings of $55,514 in 2017 was $5,616 or 9% lower, reflecting higher amortization and interest expense,
partly offset by higher EBITDA and lower total taxes.
• The Payout Ratio – Maintenance was 57% in 2017, which increased by 6%. Enercare’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan
participation rate was approximately 31% as at December 31, 2017, resulting in cash savings of $31,197 during
the year. Adjusting the Payout Ratio – Maintenance for the $70,375 cash dividends paid in 2017 compared to the
$101,572 dividends declared, would result in a Payout Ratio of 39%.
• The Payout Ratio was 103% in 2017, which increased by 9%. Adjusting the Payout Ratio for the $70,375 cash
dividends paid in 2017 compared to the $101,572 dividends declared would result in a Payout Ratio of 72%.

Recent Developments – 2017 and 2018 to Date
Enercare Introduces Rental HVAC and Water Heater Offerings to Service Experts Centres in Canada
On February 13, 2017, Enercare and Enercare Solutions announced the completed rollout of rental HVAC products
and rental water heaters at all 15 residential heating and air conditioning Service Experts locations in Canada.
In addition to rolling out rental HVAC and water heater products at Service Experts locations in Canada, throughout
2017 rental HVAC offerings were introduced in seven U.S. states.
Issuance of 2017 Notes and Redemption of Series 2012-1 Notes
On February 21, 2017, Enercare Solutions completed its offering of $500,000 aggregate principal amount of 2017 Notes,
consisting of $275,000 (the “2017-1 Notes”) and $225,000 (the “2017-2 Notes”). The 2017-1 Notes were sold at a price
of 99.982% of the principal amount, with an effective yield of 3.384% per annum if held to maturity and the 2017-2 Notes
were sold at 99.982% of the principal amount, with an effective yield of 3.993% per annum if held to maturity.
The 2017 Notes received ratings of “BBB”, with a “stable” trend from DBRS and “BBB”, with a “stable” outlook from S&P.
The proceeds of the offering were used by Enercare Solutions to redeem all of its outstanding 2012 Notes on
March 23, 2017, repayment of the 2014 Term Loan, partial repayment of the 2014 Revolver, scheduled repayment of the
Stratacon Debt, obligations under finance leases and the purchase of treasury Shares in respect of the employee share
purchase plan. The principal amount of 2012 Notes redeemed was $250,000. Holders of the 2012 Notes received an
aggregate redemption price of approximately $258,377, which includes interest and the applicable make-whole payment.
Dividend Increase
On March 7, 2017, Enercare increased its monthly dividend to shareholders of record on April 13, 2017 to $0.08, an
increase of approximately 4%.
Retirement of Scott Boxer and Appointment of Scott Boose as President and Chief Executive Officer, Service Experts
On March 20, 2017, Enercare announced the retirement of Scott Boxer and the appointment of Scott Boose as
President and Chief Executive Officer of Service Experts.
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Enercare Partners with Toronto’s Red Door Family Shelter to Support Families in Need of a Fresh Start
On April 4, 2017, Enercare proudly announced a partnership with Toronto-based not-for-profit organization Red
Door Family Shelter to support families and individuals in need of a fresh start. The Enercare Fresh Start Program
provides simple necessities and small luxuries that make it easier for families to get back on their feet. Red Door Family
Shelter provides emergency shelter and services to families, refugees and women who are fleeing violent situations. In
2017, 10 families transitioning out of these shelters received a personalized Enercare Fresh Start package containing
essential and comfort items, including linens, hygiene products and children’s toys.
The Enercare Fresh Start Program launched in September 2016 and Red Door Family Shelter was Enercare’s second
charity partner.
The Putting Consumers First Act, 2016
On April 13, 2017, the Putting Consumers First Act (Consumer Protection Statute Law Amendment), 2017 (“Bill 59”)
received royal assent. The government has stated that Bill 59 is intended to protect consumers against high-pressure
tactics used by “aggressive door-to-door sales marketers to sell certain products and services.”
On July 5, 2017, the Ministry of Government and Consumer Services posted a consultation paper seeking industry
and other interested parties’ input on the regulations to implement Bill 59 and invited public submissions. Enercare
submitted its comments on August 21, 2017.
On December 18, 2017 the implementing regulations in respect of Bill 59 were published and on January 26, 2018,
regulations with new disclosure requirements in connection with Bill 59 were also published. The requirements in
these regulations become effective on March 1, 2018, except certain disclosure requirements which will come into
effect on May 1, 2018.
Among other things, Bill 59 and its related regulations:
• Ban unsolicited door-to-door sales of prescribed appliances such as water heaters, furnaces, air conditioners and
water filters;
• Void all contracts resulting from unsolicited door-to-door sales of the prescribed appliances;
• Enable consumers to demand a refund from the supplier up to one year after the payment was made under the
void contract;
• Enhance disclosure in contracts related to prescribed appliances signed in the home; and
• Provides consumers with a 10-day cooling off period to reconsider their decision in respect of contracts related to
prescribed appliances signed in the home.
The new rules for water heater door-to-door sales that came into effect on April 1, 2015, coupled with various
Enercare initiatives to educate consumers and enhance its customer value proposition, have helped to significantly
reduce Attrition in its rental water heater business. Enercare supports Bill 59 and the protection it affords consumers
from door-to-door and outbound marketing abuses. The impact, if any, of additional disclosure requirements resulting
from Bill 59 have yet to be assessed.
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Enercare Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders
On May 1, 2017, Enercare held its Annual and Special Meeting of shareholders. Each of the resolutions put forth to
shareholders received overwhelming support, greatly exceeding the majority approval needed to pass. Accordingly,
Enercare’s amended and restated shareholder rights plan was approved, the nominated directors were re-elected, and
Enercare’s external auditor was re-appointed.
Enercare Home Services Receives Accreditation by the Better Business Bureau
On May 1, 2017, Enercare announced that Enercare Home Services was accredited by the Better Business Bureau
(“BBB”) serving Central Ontario and holds a BBB rating of A.
Service Experts Acquires Hammond
On May 24, 2017, Service Experts acquired Hammond Plumbing & Heating Inc., a full-service residential and
commercial plumbing and heating company, for consideration of $5,300. Service Experts acquired certain assets plus
assumed warranty liabilities and paid the purchase price using cash on hand.
Enercare Partners with Bethlehem Housing and Support Services in Niagara to Provide
Families in Need with a Fresh Start
On May 30, 2017, Enercare announced the expansion of its signature corporate social responsibility program, the
Enercare Fresh Start Program, with the addition of its third charity partner, Bethlehem Housing and Support Services.
Together, the organizations will work to deliver Fresh Start Comfort Packages containing simple necessities and
small luxuries that make it easier for families to get back on their feet. Bethlehem Housing and Support Services,
in partnership with the community, provides affordable housing and services to support the personal growth of
individuals and families. In 2017, 15 families and individuals transitioning into permanent housing received a
personalized Enercare Fresh Start package containing essential and comfort items, including linens, hygiene products
and children’s toys.
Maturity of Convertible Debentures
On June 30, 2017, the Convertible Debentures matured and Enercare paid the outstanding principal amount of $192
plus accrued and unpaid interest with cash.
Service Experts Acquires Aramendia
On August 15, 2017, Service Experts acquired Aramendia Plumbing, Heating & Air Ltd., an HVAC and plumbing
services business, with locations in San Antonio and McKinney, Texas, for consideration of US $24,000. The
acquisition complements Service Experts’ industry-leading heating and air conditioning services and solutions already
offered in the San Antonio and McKinney markets and introduces full-service residential plumbing.
ECI Expands Strategic Partnership with Briarlane by Adding 568 Additional Rental Units
On August 17, 2017, ECI announced the expansion of its strategic partnership with Briarlane Rental Property
Management Inc., under which ECI will provide sub-metering services for an additional 568 rental units. ECI supports
more than 5,000 units at Briarlane managed properties.
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Sub-metering Regulatory Developments in Ontario
On December 15, 2017, the Ontario Ministry of Energy amended the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 (the “OEB
Act”) to add sub-metering providers as entities that are subject to cost assessments and proclaimed into force certain
provisions of the OEB Act to provide the Ontario Energy Board (the “OEB”) with the authority to regulate charges of
sub-metering providers. These changes become effective on April 1, 2018.
The OEB has commenced consultations with sub-metering providers, sub-metering customers and other interested
parties to develop the mechanism to be used by the OEB to regulate charges of sub-metering providers. Enercare
has been actively participating in these consultations as a member of the Sub-metering Council of Ontario. Enercare
anticipates that the OEB will issue an interim order in April 2018 to accommodate a thorough consultation process
with all interested parties and that the mechanism will be finalized by the OEB in 2018.
Service Experts Acquires Additional Operations in Texas
On January 4, 2018, Service Experts completed the acquisition of certain assets of CS Newco, LLC and Finch Newco,
LLC, which offer residential and commercial HVAC, plumbing and other related services in certain Texas markets.
The cash consideration for the acquisition was US $15,000 or $18,818, plus limited assumed warranty and other
liabilities. Enercare Solutions funded a portion of the purchase price by drawing $15,000 on the 2014 Revolver.
Resignation of Evelyn Sutherland and Appointment of Brian Schmitt as Chief Financial Officer
On January 5, 2018 Enercare and Enercare Solutions announced that Evelyn Sutherland, Enercare’s Chief Financial
Officer, resigned and Brian Schmitt assumed the role of Acting Chief Financial Officer, effective January 29, 2018.
Service Experts Canada Sells the Assets of Four Centers in Ontario
On January 16, 2018, Service Experts Canada, Inc. completed the sale of certain assets and liabilities related to its
residential HVAC operations in four centers located in Whitby, Scarborough, Brampton and Ottawa, Ontario to Right
Time GTA Inc. for cash consideration of approximately $13,422. The sale of these assets was completed to address
Enercare’s Ontario market overlap, resulting from the SE Transaction, between the service territory of Service Experts
business locations with that of certain Enercare franchisees.
Appointment of Director
On January 30, 2018, Enercare and Enercare Solutions announced that John W. Chandler was appointed to its board
of directors.
Order for Production of Information in respect of Enercare’s Residential Water Heater Business
On February 2, 2018, as anticipated, an order for production of information was issued in connection with the
Competition Bureau’s inquiry into whether Enercare has a dominant market position supplying residential water
heaters in the former Enbridge Gas distribution territory and has engaged in anti-competitive acts through its
water heater return procedures and its buyout form of contract. Known as a so-called “Section 11 order” under the
Competition Act (Canada) (the “Competition Act”), this is a routine procedural step in a Bureau inquiry. Enercare has
been voluntarily cooperating with the Bureau in its process and expects that it will satisfy the information requests
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within required timelines. As disclosed previously, Enercare provided the Bureau with its voluntary assurance in
November 2014 regarding return procedures when it completed the DE Acquisition. That voluntary assurance did
not address the buyout form of contract – a form of contract that the Bureau approved in 2010. Enercare believes
that it has complied in all material respects with the voluntary assurance. Furthermore, Enercare believes that it does
not have a dominant market position and, in any event, has not engaged in anti-competitive acts. Enercare strives to
conduct its business in compliance with all applicable laws, including the Competition Act and the voluntary assurance
provided to the Bureau. Although it is not possible to predict the outcome of the Bureau’s inquiry at this stage in the
process, Enercare expects to continue to work cooperatively with the Bureau to address its concerns and hopes to
arrive at a mutually satisfactory resolution.
Service Experts Acquires Additional Operations in Florida
On March 5, 2018, Service Experts completed the acquisition of certain assets of Midway Services, LLC and
MSICORP, LLC, which provide HVAC, plumbing and electrical, sales and service as well as residential interior kitchen,
bath and general remodeling in Tampa, Florida. The cash consideration for the acquisition was USD $8,000 or
$10,382, subject to post-closing adjustments. Service Experts funded the purchase price through Enercare Solutions
drawing $10,000 on the 2014 Revolver.

Results of Operations
Overview
Consolidated Financial Highlights (000’s)
Total revenues

2017
$

Earnings before income taxes
Current tax expense

$

$

995,941

2015
$

563,826

76,033

85,867

68,829

(22,723)

(54,381)

(10,197)

29,644

(7,677)

2,204

Deferred income tax (expense)/recovery
Net earnings

1,258,176

2016

55,514

$

61,130

$

50,955

EBITDA

279,748

265,792

222,320

Adjusted EBITDA

287,829

270,198

225,190

Acquisition adjusted EBITDA

288,936

285,076

234,737

Per Share information
Shareholder dividends declared

$

Net earnings

$

0.951

$

0.528

$

0.82

$

0.62

$

0.82
0.56

Total assets

2,005,618

1,972,647

1,376,247

Total debt

1,027,656

969,115

737,212

193,678

164,766

163,886

Cash provided by operating activities
Distributable Cash
Payout Ratio – Maintenance
Payout Ratio
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$

98,456

$

85,406

$

112,506

57%

51%

46%

103%

94%

66%

2017 vs. 2016
Total revenues increased by approximately $262,235 or 26% to $1,258,176 in 2017. Service Experts revenues,
excluding investment income, contributed $662,346 for 2017, increasing by $251,611 compared to 2016, primarily
due to the inclusion of a full year of Service Experts revenues in 2017. Enercare Home Services revenues, excluding
investment income, increased during the year by $18,586 to $457,204, compared to 2016, primarily as a result of
a rental rate increase implemented in January 2017 and changes in asset mix and growth in rental HVAC units. Net
earnings were $55,514 in 2017, $5,616 lower than 2016, primarily from higher amortization expenses and interest
expense, partially offset by lower total taxes.
EBITDA increased by $13,956 or 5% as a result of higher revenues, offset by an increase in cost of goods sold and
selling, general and administrative costs. Adjusted EBITDA increased by $17,631 or 7% after removing from EBITDA
the impact of a higher loss on disposal of equipment which was driven by a write-off of the Service Experts customer
relationship management (“CRM”) and ERP systems of $5,165. After removing net expenditures of $1,107 associated
with the Church Services, Hammond and Aramendia acquisitions, Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA was $288,936 in
2017, an increase of $3,860 over 2016.
Total assets increased by approximately $32,971 in 2017, primarily due to an increase in rental assets, metering
equipment and acquisitions. Total debt increased by $58,541 to $1,027,656, primarily from an increase in the
amount drawn on the 2014 Revolver. Cash flow from operating activities increased by $28,912 in 2017, primarily as a
result of improved EBITDA and lower current tax expense. The Payout Ratio increased to 103% from 94%, primarily as
a result of higher net capital and vehicle lease expenditures and dividend payments associated with the 4% dividend
increase in 2017 and the impact of the DRIP.
2016 vs. 2015
Total revenues increased by approximately $432,115 or 77% to $995,941 in 2016. Service Experts revenues,
excluding investment income, contributed $410,735 for 2016 since the May 11, 2016 acquisition date. Enercare
Home Services revenues, excluding investment income, increased during the year by $12,147 to $438,618,
compared to 2015, primarily as a result of a rental rate increase implemented in January 2016 and changes in asset
mix and growth in rental HVAC units. Net earnings were $61,130 in 2016, $10,175 higher than 2015, primarily from
the SE Transaction, partly offset by higher amortization expenses and total taxes.
EBITDA increased by $43,472 or 20% as a result of the SE Transaction. Adjusted EBITDA increased by $45,008 or
20% after removing from EBITDA the impact of a reduced loss on disposal of equipment and including other income.
After removing net expenditures of $14,878 associated with the SE Transaction and DE Acquisition, Acquisition
Adjusted EBITDA was $285,076 in 2016, an increase of $50,339 over 2015.
Total assets increased by approximately $596,400 in 2016, primarily due to the SE Transaction. Total debt increased
by $231,903 to $969,115, primarily from the 2016 Term Loan. Cash flow from operating activities increased by
$880 in 2016, primarily as a result of improved EBITDA. The Payout Ratio increased to 94% from 66%, primarily as a
result of higher net capital and vehicle lease expenditures, dividend payments as a result of the 10% dividend increase
announced in the first quarter of 2016 and acquisition related costs related to the SE Transaction (see additional
commentary under “Distributable Cash and Payout Ratios”).
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Earnings Statement

Year ended December 31, 2017 (000’s)

Enercare
Home
Services

Service
Experts

Submetering

56,299

$ 132,334

606,047

4,936

Corporate

Total

Revenues:
Contracted revenue
Sales and other services
Investment income
Total revenue

$ 426,430

$

30,774
1,289

60

7

$ 458,493

$ 662,406

$ 137,277

$

–

$

–
$

615,063
641,757

–

1,356

–

$ 1,258,176

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold:
Commodity

–

–

(99,011)

(99,011)
(113,433)

Sales and other services

(24,346)

(395,619)

(2,829)

–

(422,794)

(93,126)

(440,272)

(101,840)

–

(635,238)

(106,611)

(172,687)

(21,225)

SG&A expenses
Foreign exchange
Amortization expense
Net (loss) on disposal of equipment
and other assets

164

–

–

(68,780)

Total cost of goods sold

(44,653)

–

Maintenance & servicing costs

419

119

(126,188)

(20,577)

(7,754)

(3,471)

(4,601)

(9)

(35,320)

(335,843)

32

734

(3,489)

(158,008)

–

(8,081)

Interest expense:
(38,048)

Interest expense payable in cash
Make-whole charge on early redemption of debt

(5,049)

Non-cash interest expense

(2,610)
(45,707)

Total interest expense

(1,182,143)

Total expenses

76,033

Earnings before income taxes

(22,723)

Current tax (expense)

2,204

Deferred tax recovery
Net earnings

$

55,514

EBITDA

$ 255,449

$

45,265

$

14,322

$ (35,288)

$

279,748

Adjusted EBITDA

$ 258,920

$

49,866

$

14,331

$ (35,288)

$

287,829

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA

$ 258,920

$

50,973

$

14,331

$ (35,288)

$

288,936
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Year ended December 31, 2016 (000’s)

Enercare
Home
Services

Service
Experts

Submetering

22,574

$ 142,239

388,161

3,750

Corporate

Total

Revenues:
Contracted revenue
Sales and other services
Investment income
Total revenue

$ 410,018

$

28,600
349

28

30

$ 438,967

$ 410,763

$ 146,019

$

–

$

–

420,511

192
$

192

574,831
599

$

995,941

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold:
Commodity

–

–

(111,482)

–

(111,482)

–

(84,705)

(1,845)

–

(270,467)

(113,327)

–

(466,654)

Maintenance & servicing costs

(66,994)

(17,711)

Sales and other services

(22,274)

(246,348)

(89,268)

(264,059)

(100,343)

(107,660)

(19,323)

Total cost of goods sold
SG&A expenses
Foreign exchange
Amortization expense
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of equipment
and other assets

215

–

(35)

(122,194)

(13,825)

(4,464)

(19)

(32,091)

51

(259,417)

97

(6,719)

328

(2,586)

77

(145,324)

–

(4,406)

Interest expense:
Interest expense payable in cash

(32,709)

Non-cash interest expense

(1,892)

Total interest expense

(34,601)

Total expenses

(910,074)

Earnings before income taxes

85,867

Current tax (expense)

(54,381)

Deferred tax recovery

29,644

Net earnings

$

61,130

EBITDA

$ 245,107

$

38,990

$

13,497

$

(31,802)

$

265,792

Adjusted EBITDA

$ 249,571

$

39,009

$

13,420

$

(31,802)

$

270,198

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA

$ 252,964

$

50,494

$

13,420

$

(31,802)

$

285,076

Enercare Annual Report 2017

39

Average Foreign Exchange
Enercare’s results of operations may be affected by the impact of movements in foreign exchange rates from
operations whose functional currency is not in Canadian dollars. The results of these foreign operations are translated
into Canadian dollars using the average exchange rates shown in the table below for the corresponding periods.
Such translations predominantly relate to Service Experts’ U.S. operations whose functional currency is U.S. dollars.
Where relevant throughout the “Results of Operations” discussion in this MD&A, reference is made to any material
impacts resulting from movements in foreign exchange rates on reported amounts. The following table illustrates
the approximate impact of foreign exchange on Enercare’s results for the year ending December 31, 2017 assuming
average exchange rates during the current periods were held constant to those in 2016.
2017

Year ended December 31, (000’s)
Average exchange rate (CDN$/USD$1.00)

$

$

$

552,144

0.7614

Difference
$

2017
Constant
Currency *

2017

Year ended December 31,
Revenue

0.7708

2016

$

558,615

0.0094

Impact of
Foreign
Exchange
$

(6,471)

Cost of goods sold

361,033

365,514

(4,481)

SG&A expenses

151,967

153,688

(1,721)

Loss on disposal

3,489

3,437

EBITDA

52
$

(321)

*C
 onstant currency is a non-IFRS presentation that other companies may calculate differently. It approximates the impact of foreign
exchange on Enercare’s results to improve comparability, assuming average exchange rates during the current periods were held
constant to those in the prior year.

Revenues
Total revenues of $1,258,176 for 2017 increased by $262,235 or 26% compared to 2016, primarily as a result of the
inclusion of a full year of Service Experts revenues in 2017.
Enercare Home Services revenues, excluding investment income, of $457,204 for 2017 increased by $18,586
or 4%, compared to 2016, primarily driven by rental rate increases and asset mix changes within the rental HVAC
portfolio, partly offset by lower protection plan revenues. Contracted revenue in Enercare Home Services represents
revenue generated by the Rentals portfolio and protection plan contracts, while sales and other services revenue
mainly pertains to sales and installations of residential furnaces, boilers and air conditioners, as well as plumbing,
duct cleaning and other services.
Service Experts revenues, excluding investment income, were $662,346 for 2017, increasing by $251,611 or
61% compared to 2016, primarily due to the inclusion of a full year of results in 2017 compared to a partial year
in 2016, higher sales volumes and acquisitions completed during the year. In constant currency, revenue growth
would have been 63% in 2017, compared to the prior year. The increase in sales and rentals activity during 2017
was despite unfavourably milder weather trends throughout the first three quarters of 2017 and a lower demand,
particularly in Florida, as a result of Hurricane Irma. Service Experts revenues were lower by $11,740 for 2017 as
a result of purchase accounting adjustments for deferred revenue associated with the SE Transaction, compared to
$20,833 in 2016.
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Sub-metering revenues, excluding investment income, were $137,270 in 2017, a decrease of $8,719 or 6%,
compared to 2016, primarily as a result of lower flow-through commodity charges partly offset by higher billable units.
Sub-metering revenue includes total flow-through commodity charges of $99,011 in 2017, a decrease of $12,471 or
11%, compared to 2016.
Investment income was $1,356 in 2017, increasing by $757, when compared to 2016. The increase in investment
income is primarily attributable to higher interest income earned from financing receivables relating to loans to
customers resulting from HVAC sales.
Cost of Goods Sold
Total cost of goods sold for 2017 was $635,238, an increase of $168,584 or 36%, compared to 2016. The increase
was primarily as a result of the inclusion of a full year of Service Experts cost of goods sold in 2017.
Enercare Home Services cost of goods sold increased by $3,858 or 4% in 2017, compared to 2016, as a result of the
growth in HVAC sales and higher maintenance and servicing costs associated with growth in the rentals and protection
plan portfolios. Maintenance and servicing costs in Enercare Home Services primarily consist of protection plan
expenses and servicing costs related to the Rentals portfolio, while sales and other services expenses mainly pertain
to sales and installations of residential furnaces, boilers, air conditioners and small commercial products as well as
plumbing, duct cleaning and other chargeable services.
Service Experts cost of goods sold amounted to $440,272 in 2017, an increase of $176,213 or 67% in 2017,
compared to 2016. Service Experts cost of goods sold was reduced by $9,206 as a result of purchase accounting
adjustments for the service obligation associated with the SE Transaction, compared to $16,549 in 2016. Changes
in foreign exchange rates in 2017 accounted for a decrease of $4,481 in cost of goods sold compared to 2016. The
increase in cost of goods sold was primarily due to increases in originations over the year and the inclusion of a full
year of Service Experts cost of goods sold.
Sub-metering cost of goods sold was $101,840 in 2017, decreasing by $11,487 or 10%, primarily from lower flowthrough commodity charges compared to 2016. Sales and other services expenses for Sub-metering increased by
$984 and 53% compared to 2016, primarily driven by an increase of $485 from the installation of water conservation
products in apartments and condominiums and an increase of approximately $450 from meter sales.
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses
Total SG&A expenses were $335,843 in 2017, an increase of $76,426 or 29%, compared to 2016. The increase was
primarily as a result of the inclusion of a full year of Service Experts SG&A expenses in 2017.
Enercare Home Services SG&A expenses of $106,611 in the year, increased by $6,268 or 6%, compared to 2016.
The $6,268 increase was primarily as a result of increases of approximately $5,300 in sales and marketing expenses,
$4,000 in higher wages and benefits, driven partly by $2,000 of higher stock based compensation costs resulting
from an increase in the Share price, and $1,700 of billing and support costs, partly offset by a reduction in office
expenses of $4,100, primarily due to Enercare’s ownership of its corporate office, and professional fees of $470. The
higher sales and marketing expenses were mainly driven by costs related to the development of localized webpages to
drive improvements in both search engine optimization and search engine marketing activities, a branding refresh for
our fleet of installation vehicles to promote new product offerings and marketing initiatives to drive brand awareness,
as well as tests associated with a 100-person smarter home pilot initiated during the fourth quarter of 2017.
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Enercare Home Services SG&A expenses in 2016 included $2,312 of integration and business transformation costs
related to the DE Acquisition, primarily from information technology integration activities to optimize the information
technology platforms and marketing spend related to continued rebranding.
Service Experts SG&A expenses in 2017 of $172,687, increased by $65,027 or 60%, compared to 2016. The increase
of $65,027 was primarily the result of the inclusion of a full year of Service Experts SG&A expenses in 2017. Service
Experts SG&A expenses included expenses relating to prepaid software maintenance costs of approximately $1,000,
which were expensed during the second quarter driven by a write-off of the Service Experts’ CRM and ERP systems.
Service Experts SG&A expenses in 2017 included acquisition related expenditures of $1,107, primarily consisting of
professional fees associated with the acquisitions of Church Services, Hammond and Aramendia. In 2016, Service
Experts SG&A expenses included $11,485 of acquisition related expenditures associated with the SE Transaction,
primarily consisting of professional fees. These expenditures included $2,834 of pre-acquisition expenditures incurred
by Enercare Home Services. Changes in foreign exchange rates during 2017 accounted for approximately a $1,721
reduction in SG&A expenses compared to 2016. Certain wage related expenditures, in the amount of $2,826 for
2017, have been reclassified from SG&A expenses to cost of goods sold, compared to $6,933 in 2016.
Sub-metering SG&A expenses in 2017 were $21,225, an increase of $1,902 or 10% compared to 2016. This
increase was primarily the result of approximately $1,640 of higher wages and benefits and driven partly by $498
of higher stock based compensation costs resulting from an increase in the Share price, $740 of office expenses
and $210 in higher sales and marketing expenses, partly offset by lower bad debt expenses of $540
and professional fees of $270.
Corporate expenses of $35,320 in 2017 increased by $3,229 or 10%, compared to 2016. The increase of $3,229
was primarily the result of approximately $1,200 of higher office expenses, which includes software licensing costs
and expenses relating to the implementation of an ERP system, $910 of higher wages and benefits, driven mainly by
$580 of higher stock based compensation costs resulting from an increase in the Share price, $790 of higher sales
and marketing expenses and $300 of higher professional fees.
Corporate SG&A expenses in 2016 included $1,081 of integration and business transformation costs related
to the DE Acquisition, primarily from information technology integration activities to optimize the information
technology platforms.
Amortization Expense
Amortization expense increased by $12,684 or 9%, compared to 2016, primarily due to the SE Transaction, which
was completed in the second quarter of 2016, an increasing capital asset base from asset mix changes in the Rentals
portfolio and increased Sub-metering capital investments, which are amortized over a shorter life than those of the
Enercare Home Services business.
Net Loss on Disposal of Equipment and Other Assets
Enercare reported a net loss on disposal of equipment and other assets of $8,081 in 2017, an increase of $3,675 or
83%, over 2016. The net loss on disposal amount is influenced by the number of assets retired, proceeds on disposal
of equipment, changes in the retirement asset mix and the age of the assets retired.
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The net loss on disposal includes the second quarter of 2017 write-off of $5,165 related to Service Experts’ CRM
and ERP systems. The net loss on disposal also includes a write-off of $845 from the first quarter of 2017 relating to
stranded technology investments resulting from going concern issues with a supplier that was developing software
solutions for the Enercare Home Services business.
Interest Expense
2017

(000’s)
Interest expense payable in cash

$

38,048

2016
$

30,294

Interest payable on subscription receipts

–

2,217

Equity bridge financing fees

–

198

5,049

–

Make-whole payment on early redemption of senior debt
Non-cash items:
Notional interest on employee benefit plans
Amortization of financing costs
Interest expense

$

904

840

1,706

1,052

45,707

$

34,601

Interest expense payable in cash increased by $7,754 to $38,048 in 2017, compared to 2016. These increases were
primarily related to the addition of the 2016 Term Loan related to the financing of the SE Transaction, the issuance of
the 2017 Notes during the first quarter of 2017 and increases in the 2014 Revolver, partially offset by the conversion
of the Convertible Debentures to Shares and lower effective rates on the 2017 Notes compared to the 2012 Notes,
which were redeemed using proceeds from the offering of the 2017 Notes. A make-whole payment for the early
redemption of the 2012 Notes during the first quarter of 2017 resulted in additional interest expense of $5,049.
Notional interest of $904 in 2017 relates to the defined benefit employee benefits plans. Amortization of financing
costs includes the previously unamortized costs associated with the 2012 Notes, the 2013 Notes, the Convertible
Debentures, the 2014 Term Loan, the 2016 Term Loan and the 2017 Notes.
As part of the SE Transaction, SE Subscription Receipts were issued during the first quarter of 2016 and subsequently
exchanged for Shares upon the closing of the SE Transaction on May 11, 2016. While the SE Subscription Receipts
remained outstanding, they were classified as debt, resulting in interest expense of $2,217, which were the equivalent
to the dividend payments on such SE Subscription Receipts if they had been Shares. Equity bridge financing fees of
$198 were also incurred as part of the SE Transaction.
Income Taxes
Enercare reported current tax expense of $22,723 in 2017, a reduction of $31,658 compared to 2016. The reduction
was primarily from higher taxes owed in 2016, which resulted from a one-year tax deferral originated in 2015 and
additional tax depreciation and interest expense incurred in 2017. The deferred income tax recovery of $2,204
in 2017 decreased by $27,440 compared to 2016, primarily as a result of temporary difference reversals in the
Enercare Home Services business.
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Net Earnings
Net earnings were $55,514 in 2017, a decrease of $5,616, compared to 2016.
Non-IFRS Measures of Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA
The following table summarizes comparative quarterly results for the last eight quarters, and reconciles net earnings,
an IFRS measure, to EBITDA, an IFRS measure, Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA.
Q4/17

Q3/17

Q2/17

$ 17,289

$ 20,154

$ 21,103

(000’s)
Net earnings/(loss)

(45)

Deferred tax expense/(recovery)
Current tax expense

Q1/17

Q4/16

Q3/16

Q2/16

Q1/16

$ (3,032) $ 17,552

$ 19,332

$ 16,051

$ 8,195

1,929

2,017

(6,105)

5,023

5,785

6,500

5,415

11,534

(5,275)

15,332

(7,522)

15,259

(7,633)

12,256

(9,214)

Amortization expense

40,667

39,457

39,485

38,399

38,892

38,329

35,796

32,307

Interest expense

10,302

9,798

9,763

15,844

8,554

8,507

9,187

8,353

EBITDA

73,236

77,123

78,868

50,521

71,257

73,978

68,660

51,897

444

643

5,137

1,857

850

734

891

1,931

73,680

77,766

84,005

52,378

72,107

74,712

69,551

53,828

410

320

273

104

603

4,854

5,128

4,293

$ 74,090

$ 78,086

$ 84,278

$ 52,482

$ 72,710

$ 79,566

$ 74,679

$ 58,121

Add: Net loss on disposal
Adjusted EBITDA
Add: Acquisition SG&A
Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA

The variances over the last eight quarters are primarily due to the following:
1. Net earnings are impacted by rental rate increases, generally implemented in January of each year, and accruals
related to billing and servicing matters, as well as the Service Experts results commencing in the second quarter of
2016. Net earnings are also impacted by the seasonality associated with the Service Experts business, which tends
to be seasonally highest in the second quarter of the year, followed by the third quarter, and substantially less in the
fourth and first quarters, due primarily to the geography where Service Experts operates and weather patterns.
2. During 2016, current taxes reflect the impact of a one year tax deferral available in 2015 through a subsidiary
of Enercare Solutions which was not available in 2016 and accordingly, resulted in higher current tax expenses
during 2016.
3. During the first quarter of 2017, additional interest expense was incurred as a result of the early redemption of
the 2012 Notes, which included a make-whole payment of $5,049. During the first and second quarters of 2016,
additional interest expense was incurred as part of the SE Transaction, related to the 2016 Term Loan, bridge
financing and the treatment of SE Subscription Receipts for accounting purposes.
4. Amortization and net loss on disposal of equipment and other assets are primarily driven by unit continuity activity
such as Attrition, exchanges and outstanding units. Increases in amortization of capital assets and intangibles
relate primarily to increased additions and changes in mix to higher percentage of sub-metering assets which
have a shorter useful life. Commencing in the second quarter of 2016, amortization reflects increases from the
amortization of capital assets and intangibles of the Service Experts business.
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5. During the second quarter of 2017, net loss on disposal included a write-off of $5,165 of software intangible
assets related to the CRM and ERP systems that Service Experts had been developing that will now be superseded
by a common platform implemented across both the Enercare Home Services and Service Experts businesses.
During the first quarter of 2017, net loss on disposal included a write-off of $845 relating to stranded technology
investments resulting from going concern issues with a supplier that was developing software solutions for the
Enercare Home Services business.

Distributable Cash and Payout Ratios
Enercare amended its payout ratio calculation in 2013. As a transition to the new calculation, Enercare has chosen to
show both the historical calculation, Payout Ratio and our new calculation, Payout Ratio – Maintenance. Historically,
Enercare included both the Rentals capital associated with maintaining (other than Sub-metering and acquisitions) the
current customer base (exchanges) as well as the capital associated with acquiring new customers. With the significant
improvement in Attrition over the last five years, combined with the success of transitioning Rentals customers into
higher revenue generating rental products, Enercare has started to grow revenue beyond annual rate increases. As a
result, Enercare changed the calculation to remove the capital required to acquire new Rentals customers. Enercare
believes that the new calculation better reflects the on-going cash requirements to maintain the revenue from the
current Rentals customer base.
In 2016, Enercare further changed its definition of Payout Ratio and Payout Ratio – Maintenance to include capital
relating to vehicle additions (reflecting repayments of obligations under finance leases).
Payout Ratio – Maintenance Presentation
Payout Ratio – Maintenance (000’s)
Cash provided/(used in) by operating activities

2017
$

Net change in non-cash working capital
Operating Cash Flow5

193,678

2016
$

164,766

22,481

17,641

216,159

182,407

Capital and vehicle lease expenditures: (excluding growth capital, additions
and acquisitions)
Rentals exchanges
Vehicle additions (reflecting repayments of obligations under finance leases)
Sub-metering maintenance capital

(35,684)

(9,024)

(6,129)

(560)

(715)

2,495

2,364

Net capital and vehicle lease expenditures

(43,043)

(40,164)

Early redemption of 2012 Notes net of tax

4,239

–

Acquisition related expenditures

1,107

17,101

Proceeds on disposal of equipment – warranty

Total reductions

(37,697)

Distributable Cash – Maintenance5

178,462

Net cash retained
Payout Ratio – Maintenance

(23,063)
159,344

(101,572)

Dividends declared

5

(35,954)

$

76,890

(80,688)
$

57%

78,656
51%

 perating Cash Flow and Distributable Cash – Maintenance are a Non-IFRS financial measure. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and
O
Performance Measures section in this MD&A.
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The Payout Ratio – Maintenance, which is calculated based upon capital and vehicle lease expenditures associated
with company vehicles and the exchange of rental assets for existing customers and excludes capital expenditures
associated with obtaining new customers, was 57% for 2017, which increased by 6% compared to 51% in 2016.
The increase was primarily due to higher vehicle lease expenditures and dividends declared, resulting from the
increase in the number of Shares outstanding and a 4% dividend increase announced in the first quarter of 2017,
offset by higher Operating Cash Flow as a result of the full year impact of the Service Experts business.
The $4,239 on account of the early redemption of the 2012 Notes net of tax represents the aggregate of the makewhole payment incurred in the first quarter of 2017 of approximately $5,049 and overlapping interest expense of
$913, less investment income of $194 and the tax timing differences of ($1,529). The tax consequences of the makewhole payment were recognized over the period to November 30, 2017. The make-whole payment was reflected as
interest expense in the first quarter of 2017 and consequently directly impacted cash provided by operating activities.
Acquisition related expenditures in 2017 were $1,107, primarily consisting of costs related to the acquisitions of
Church Services, Hammond and Aramendia.
Acquisition and integration related expenditures associated with the SE Transaction in 2016 were $13,708, primarily
consisting of professional fees associated with the entering into of the Merger Agreement and post integration
activities, interest on the SE Subscription Receipts and equity bridge financing fees.
Integration and business transformation costs related to the DE Acquisition were $3,393 in 2016. These costs were
primarily driven by information technology integration activities and marketing spend related to rebranding.
These amounts have been adjusted in the Payout Ratio to better reflect recurring Distributable Cash.
Enercare’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan participation rate was approximately 31% as at December 31, 2017, resulting
in cash savings of $31,197 during the year. Adjusting the Payout Ratio – Maintenance for the $70,375 cash dividends
paid in 2017, compared to the $101,572 dividends declared, would result in a Payout Ratio of 39%.
Adjusting the Payout Ratio – Maintenance for $84,766 cash dividends paid in 2016, compared to $80,688 dividends
declared, would result in a Payout Ratio – Maintenance of 53%.
Enercare intends to finance its recurring capital expenditures with cash flow from operations, cash on hand and
available credit.
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Payout Ratio (000’s)
Cash provided by operating activities

2017
$

Net change in non-cash working capital
Operating Cash Flow6

193,678

2016
$

164,766

22,481

17,641

216,159

182,407

Capital and vehicle lease expenditures: (excluding growth capital and acquisitions)
HVAC rental additions

(48,796)

(45,195)

Water heater rental and other additions

(42,570)

(36,377)

Rentals exchanges

(35,954)

(35,684)

(9,024)

(6,129)

(560)

(715)

(136,904)

(124,100)

Vehicle additions (reflecting repayments of obligations under finance leases)
Sub-metering maintenance capital
Subtotal

13,814

Total proceeds on disposal of rental equipment

9,998

(123,090)

Net capital and vehicle lease expenditures

(114,102)

Early redemption of 2012 Notes net of tax

4,239

–

Acquisition integration and business transformation related expenditures

1,107

17,101

Total reductions
Distributable Cash6

Payout Ratio

(97,001)

98,415

85,406

(101,572)

Dividends declared
Net cash retained

(117,744)

$

(3,157)

(80,688)
$

103%

4,718
94%

The Payout Ratio, after capital and vehicle lease expenditures (excluding growth capital for Sub-metering and
acquisitions), increased to 103% on a year to date basis compared to 94% in 2016.
Enercare determines its annual dividend levels by, among other considerations, assessing its Operating Cash Flow
and does not consider seasonal fluctuations in non-cash working capital in any one period. As such, Enercare does
not believe that the dividends are an economic return of capital, but dividends based on sustainable cash flow
from its operating activities. Further, any temporary disruptions in Operating Cash Flow can be addressed by the
2014 Revolver.
Enercare also considers the impact of the DRIP on its ability to sustain current dividend levels. Adjusting the Payout
Ratio for the $70,375 cash dividends paid in 2017, compared to the $101,572 dividends declared, would result in a
Payout Ratio of 72%.

6

 perating Cash Flow and Distributable Cash are a Non-IFRS financial measure. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and Performance
O
Measures section in this MD&A.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
2017

(000’s)
Cash flow provided by operating activities

$

193,678

2016
$

164,766

22,481

Net change in non-cash working capital
Operating Cash Flow

7

Capital expenditures (excluding growth capital and acquisitions)

17,641

216,159

182,407

(127,995)

(117,971)

13,814

Proceeds on disposal of equipment

9,998

(114,181)

Net capital expenditures

(107,973)

–

Acquisition – Service Experts

(375,163)

(1,144)

–

Acquisition – Hammond

(5,300)

–

Acquisition – Aramendia

(30,556)

–

Other intangibles

(10,973)

(73)

Growth capital

(36,617)

(34,879)

(198,771)

(518,088)

(70,375)

(84,766)

Acquisition – Church Services

Cash used in investing activities
Dividends paid

70,135

Other financing activities
Cash and equivalents – end of period

446,364

(240)

Cash (used in)/provided by financing activities
$

31,001

361,598
$

38,415

Operating Cash Flow of $216,159 in 2017 increased by $33,752, compared to 2016, primarily due to the full year
impact of the Service Experts business, higher EBITDA and lower current tax expense during the year.
Net capital expenditures of $114,181 in 2017 increased by $6,208, compared to 2016, due to increased HVAC and
water heater rentals and changes in asset mix. The acquisition amounts of $1,144, $5,300 and $30,556 represent the
purchase consideration for the acquisitions of Church Services during the first quarter, Hammond during the second
quarter and Aramendia during the third quarter, respectively, of 2017. Growth capital investments of $36,617 during
the year increased by $1,738, when compared to 2016. These increases in growth capital expenditures were primarily
due to expenditures on upgrades and optimization of the information technology systems and expenditures related to
relocating Enercare’s corporate headquarters to reduce future operating lease payments.
Dividends paid reflect cash dividend payments on outstanding Shares, excluding Shares issued under Enercare’s
Dividend Reinvestment Plan.
Other financing activities primarily reflect the scheduled repayments of Stratacon Debt, repayments of obligations
under finance leases, as well as proceeds and repayments related to the revolving credit facility. During 2017, other
financing activities also reflected proceeds from the issuance of the 2017 Notes, the redemption of the 2012 Notes
and the repayment of the 2014 Term Loan.

7

 perating Cash Flow is a Non-IFRS financial measure. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures section
O
in this MD&A.
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Of the available credit of $200,000 under the 2014 Revolver, $55,000 was drawn as at December 31, 2017.
Enercare is subject to a number of covenants and has the ability to incur additional senior debt as described in
“Liquidity and Capital Resources – Cash from Financing” in this MD&A.
Management believes that Enercare has sufficient cash flow, cash on hand and available credit to meet its 2018
obligations, including capital expenditures, financing activities and working capital requirements for its businesses.
Capital Expenditures
Capital expenditures typically have a significant impact on liquidity and are best understood with reference to the unit
continuity analysis below.
Installed Asset Unit Continuity
Year ended December 31, (000’s)

Segment
Units – start of period
Portfolio additions*
Attrition*
Units – end of period
Asset exchanges – units
retired and replaced

2017

2016

Enercare
Home
Services

Service
Experts

Submetering

1,136

–

165

37

2

18

(30)

–

–

1,143

2

183

43

–

–

% of units from start of period:
Portfolio additions
(net of acquisitions)
Attrition

Submetering

Total

1,301

1,128

–

155

1,283

57

38

–

10

(30)

(30)

–

–

1,328

1,136

–

165

43

45

–

–

48
(30)
1,301
45
1.4%

–

-

4.4%

3.7%

(2.3%)

(2.3%)

3.3%

Units retired and replaced
Contracted units

Service
Experts

2.1%

% change in units during
the period

Billable units

Total

Enercare
Home
Services

3.5%

1,143

2

130

1,275

1,136

–

116

1,252

–

–

261

261

–

–

235

235

*E
 nercare Home Services and Service Experts portfolio additions and attrition units presented have been rounded in thousands of
units. To ensure consistency with rounded year to date and period end balances the rounded units presented in the chart above may
vary by +1 or -1 in certain quarters from results rounded to the nearest hundred units which may be discussed in this MD&A.

In 2017, the portions of net capital expenditures in Enercare Home Services related to unit additions and asset
exchanges, net of proceeds on disposal and excluding assets not yet commissioned, were $108,424, increasing
nominally compared to 2016 as a result of relatively consistent unit volumes.
In the Enercare Home Services business, Attrition of approximately 29,500 in 2017 remained comparable to 2016.
In the Service Experts business, 2,275 water heater and HVAC rental additions were installed during the year, for a
total of 2,459 installed units since the introduction of its rental programs in late 2016.
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Installations in the Sub-metering business were approximately 18,000 units in 2017, increasing by 8,000 units,
compared to 2016 as a result of more completed new construction projects. In 2016, the shift in contracted sales to a
higher proportion of new construction condominiums led to a lower number of installed units and an increase in work
in progress. This delay in recognition can cause some significant swings in the installed unit count on a yearly basis.
Sub-metering capital expenditures related to metering equipment in 2017 were $17,992, approximately $910 lower,
compared to 2016 on account of the timing and costs of projects underway.
For the Enercare Home Services units, changes in Billable units reflect the asset activity as reported in the continuity
schedule. For the Sub-metering business, Billable units of 130,000 increased by 14,000 units in 2017 compared to
2016, primarily due to additional installations and increased billing penetration in the rental apartment market.
Sub-metering sales activity was approximately 26,000 units in 2017, lower by 4,000 units, over 2016. Contracted
units in the year includes the removal of 3,000 units in Alberta during the second quarter that were part of a
larger multi-services contract with a single customer that provided for heat metering if and when Measurement
Canada passed certification requirements for heat metering. As Measurement Canada has not done so and the
original customer contract was renewed in June of 2017, it was decided to remove heat metering units from the
renewal contract.
Cash from Financing
Financing activities for Enercare reflect dividend payments, periodic financing of Enercare Solutions’ indebtedness,
Enercare’s offering of SE Subscription Receipts, and to a much lesser extent financing of the Sub-metering business.
In 2017, Enercare recorded $10,573 of financing repayments primarily related to obligations under finance leases,
the scheduled repayment of the Stratacon Debt and the purchase of treasury Shares in respect of the employee share
purchase plan. These financing repayments excluded dividends to shareholders. During 2017 Enercare drew an
additional $65,000 on the 2014 Revolver and subsequently repaid $25,000 of this balance.
Capitalization Year ended December 31, (000’s)
Cash and cash equivalents

2017
$

Net investment in working capital
Cash, net of working capital
Total debt
Shareholders’ equity
Total capitalization – book value

$

31,001

2016
$

38,415

(31,780)

(59,567)

(779)

(21,152)

1,027,656

969,115

593,010

616,464

1,620,666

$

1,585,579

Typically, Enercare maintains cash balances and available credit to provide sufficient cash reserves to satisfy shortterm requirements, including interest payments, dividends and certain capital expenditures and acquisitions.
At December 31, 2017, total debt was comprised of the 2013 Notes, the 2014 Revolver, the 2016 Term Loan, the
2017 Notes and the Stratacon Debt.
Enercare is subject to a number of covenant requirements as described in the AIF and below. The following discussion
outlines the principal covenants.
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Debt Financing
As described in the AIF, the 2014 Revolver and 2016 Term Loan each contain terms, representations, warranties,
covenants and events of default that are customary for credit facilities of this kind, including financial covenants
discussed below, restrictions on asset sales and reorganizations, a negative pledge and limits on distributions to
Enercare (and, therefore, in effect, holders of Shares). Events of default under the 2014 Revolver and 2016 Term Loan
include a cross-default provision and the occurrence of a change of control of Enercare or Enercare Solutions. Enercare
Solutions’ obligations under the 2014 Revolver and 2016 Term Loan are guaranteed by all of Enercare Solutions’
material direct and indirect subsidiaries.
The 2016 Term Loan is payable interest only until maturity and is pre-payable in whole or in part at any time without
penalty. The 2016 Term Loan bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 125 basis points or base rate plus 25 basis points
at Enercare Solutions’ credit rating as of the date hereof.
As described in the AIF, the 2014 Revolver and 2016 Term Loan contain the following financial covenants (i) all
additional incurrences of senior debt, with certain exceptions, must, on the date of incurrence, result in a pro forma
ratio equal to or greater than 3.8 to 1.0 of Incurrence EBITDA (as defined in the Senior Unsecured Indenture) to Net
Interest Expense (as defined in the Senior Unsecured Indenture); (ii) the ratio of total debt (other than subordinated
debt) to “Adjusted EBITDA” must be less than 4.75 to 1; and (iii) the ratio of Adjusted EBITDA to “Cash Interest
Expense” must be greater than 3.00 to 1.
As described in the AIF, the 2014 Revolver and 2016 Term Loan define “Adjusted EBITDA” as the consolidated net
income of Enercare Solutions and any losses on dispositions of assets less, to the extent included in calculating such
net income, all interest income and income tax recoveries, gains on hedging contracts and all extraordinary, nonrecurring and unusual income items, plus, to the extent deducted in calculating such net income, amounts for total
interest expense, fees payable under the Origination Agreement, amortization and depreciation expenses, income
taxes and any other non-cash items, losses on hedging contracts, proceeds of disposal of water heaters in the ordinary
course of business, and with respect to the DE Acquisition, transaction expenses, one-time rebranding costs and
information technology system harmonization costs up to $23,500 in the aggregate, determined on a consolidated
basis, and with respect to the SE Transaction, transaction and integration costs up to $10,300 in the aggregate. The
2014 Revolver and 2016 Term Loan essentially define “Cash Interest Expense” as the aggregate amount of interest
and other financing charges payable in cash and expensed by Enercare Solutions with respect to debt (other than
subordinated debt between Enercare Solutions and Enercare or any subsidiary of Enercare Solutions or between
subsidiaries of Enercare Solutions), but excluding any make-whole, prepayment, penalty or premium or other yield
maintenance amount with respect to debt.
Enercare Solutions was in compliance with the covenants within the 2014 Revolver and 2016 Term Loan as of
December 31, 2017. A total of $55,000 was drawn under the 2014 Revolver as at December 31, 2017.
2013 Notes and 2017 Notes – Incurrence Test
The covenants in respect of the 2013 Notes and 2017 Notes are contained in the Senior Unsecured Indenture. Under
the terms of the Senior Unsecured Indenture, Enercare Solutions may not incur additional senior debt other than
certain refinancing debt and certain working capital debt if the Incurrence Test (as described in the AIF) is less than
3.8 to 1. On December 31, 2017, Enercare Solutions exceeded this minimum and had the capacity under the
covenant to raise more than $300,000 additional senior debt should it elect to do so.
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Summary of Quarterly Results
Q4/17

(000’s)
Total revenues

Q3/17

Q2/17

Q1/17

Q4/16

Q3/16

Q2/16

Q1/16

$ 312,339 $ 325,902 $ 342,122 $ 277,813 $ 293,246 $ 315,944 $ 244,102 $ 142,649
17,289

Net earnings/(loss)
Dividends declared
Average Shares outstanding

20,154

21,103

(3,032)

17,552

19,332

16,051

8,195

25,841

25,740

25,561

24,430

16,102

23,991

22,135

18,460

105,998

105,631

104,821

104,215

103,881

103,839

96,619

87,899

Per Share
Basic net earnings/(loss) $

0.16 $

0.19 $

0.20 $

(0.03) $

0.17 $

0.19 $

0.17 $

0.09

Diluted net earnings/(loss) $

0.16 $

0.19 $

0.20 $

(0.03) $

0.17 $

0.19 $

0.17 $

0.08

$

0.240 $

0.240 $

0.240 $

0.231 $

0.155 $

0.231 $

0.224 $

0.21

Dividends declared

In addition to quarterly comments found under “Results of Operations – EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA”, differences
in net earnings between quarters reflect the timing of expenses, current tax expense, the temporary difference
reversals of deferred income tax and the impact of the SE Transaction in the second quarter of 2016. Dividends
declared primarily reflect the change in outstanding Shares over time as well as the dividend increases implemented
in the second quarters of 2016 and 2017. During the fourth quarter of 2016, as a result of implementing the DRIP,
dividends which had historically been declared the month prior to payment, were declared and paid in the same
month, resulting in one less declared dividend while maintaining monthly payments.
The average number of Shares outstanding and the related per Share data reflect the impact of the conversion of
Convertible Debentures and issuances in connection with the SE Transaction in the second quarter of 2016 and
pursuant to the DRIP implemented during the fourth quarter of 2016.

Summary of Contractual Debt and Long Term Obligations
The following schedule summarizes the contractual debt and long term obligations of Enercare at December 31, 2017:
Debt
Period (000’s)
Due in 2018

Principal
$

126

Finance Lease Obligations
Interest

$

37,157

Principal
$

9,397

Other

Interest
$

683

Obligations
$

8,383

Due in 2019

24

37,153

8,626

449

5,670

Due in 2020

475,927

27,572

7,151

241

4,569

Due in 2021

55,025

19,747

4,428

92

5,370

Due in 2022

275,005

10,293

1,173

11

1,971

Thereafter
Total

225,000

10,248

$ 1,031,107

$ 142,170

11
$

30,786

–
$

1,476

6,150
$

32,113

As at December 31, 2017, long-term senior contractual obligations of Enercare included debt service on the 2013
Notes bearing interest at 4.60%. The 2017-1 Notes and 2017-2 Notes offered on February 21, 2017 bear interest
at 3.38% and 3.99% and are due in February 2022 and February 2024, respectively. Interest on the 2013 Notes is
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payable semi-annually on February 3 and August 3. The 2014 Term Loan, which was repaid on February 23, 2017,
bore interest at a variable rate based upon the applicable prime rate plus 0.25%, which was 2.95% at
March 31, 2017. The 2012 Notes, which were redeemed on March 23, 2017, bore interest at 4.30%.
At December 31, 2017, $55,000 was drawn on the 2014 Revolver. The 2014 Revolver bears a standby charge of
0.25% and interest on amounts drawn at a variable rate based upon the applicable banker’s acceptance rate plus
1.25%, which was 2.80% at December 31, 2017.
The Stratacon Debt of $207, as at December 31, 2017, was originally issued in 14 series with maturity dates ranging
from 4 to 14 years, ending in 2022. The interest rate on the Stratacon Debt ranges from 7.50% to 8.75%. Principal
and interest is paid monthly.
The Convertible Debentures matured on June 30, 2017 and Enercare paid the outstanding principal amount of
$192 plus accrued and unpaid interest with cash.
The 2016 Term Loan is payable interest only until maturity and is pre-payable in whole or in part at any time without
penalty. The 2016 Term Loan bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 125 basis points or base rate plus 25 basis
points at Enercare Solutions’ credit rating as of the date hereof. As at December 31, 2017, the 2016 Term Loan
bears interest of 2.79%.
The obligations under finance leases bear floating interest rates that are either 2.5% above the one month banker’s
acceptance rate, per annum or are equal to the yield of interest rate swaps as quoted in the Federal Reserve system,
per annum. Additional obligations under finance leases acquired during the period bear fixed interest rates of 0.97%
to 2.44% and at floating interest rates that are 2.5% above the three month banker’s acceptance rate, or 0.75% above
the three month LIBOR rate, per annum. The finance leases mature at dates ranging between January 2018 and
September 2024.
Other obligations include long-term sponsorship, premises and office equipment. Substantially all of the future
expense obligations are the result of naming rights for the Enercare Centre and leased premises.

Enercare Shares Issued and Outstanding
Enercare’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Shares and 10,000,000 preferred shares. At
December 31, 2017, there were 106,377,020 Shares (104,154,895 at December 31, 2016) issued and outstanding,
and no preferred shares were outstanding. A total of 15,834,600 Shares were issued in exchange for the SE
Subscription Receipts on May 11, 2016 in conjunction with the closing of the SE Transaction. Preferred shares may, at
any time and from time to time, be issued in one or more series, with such rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions
as may be determined by the directors. The preferred shares of each series shall, with respect to the payment of
dividends and the distribution of assets, be entitled to preference over the Shares and any other share ranking junior to
the preferred shares from time to time.
From January 1, 2018 to March 4, 2018, 277,784 of additional shares were issued as a result of the DRIP.
At March 5, 2018, there were 106,654,804 Shares issued and outstanding, and no preferred shares were outstanding.
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Fourth Quarter Results of Operations
Enercare
Home
Services

Three months ended December 31, 2017 (000’s)

Service
Experts

Submetering

Corporate

Total

Revenues:
Contracted revenue

$ 109,228

16,237

$

145,191

348

23

$ 119,020

$ 161,451

Investment income
Total revenue

$

9,444

Sales and other services

30,789

$

1,077
2
$

31,868

–

$

–
–
$

–

156,254
155,712
373

$

312,339

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold:
–

Commodity

–

(18,831)

Maintenance & servicing costs

(21,864)

(13,081)

–

–

(21,864)

–

(31,912)

(7,117)

(96,553)

(530)

–

(104,200)

Total cost of goods sold

(25,948)

(109,634)

(22,394)

–

(157,976)

SG&A expenses

(27,515)

(38,928)

(5,444)

Sales and other services

545

Foreign exchange

(204)

(32,125)

Amortization expense

(5,110)

(594)

Net (loss)/gain on disposal of equipment
and other assets

(9,192)

31
(2,084)

149

(81,079)

24

396

(1,348)

1

(40,667)

–

(444)

Interest expense:
(9,819)

Interest expense payable in cash

–

Make-whole charge on early redemption of debt

(483)

Non-cash interest expense

(10,302)

Total interest expense

(290,072)

Total expenses
Earnings before income taxes

22,267

Current tax (expense)

(5,023)
45

Deferred tax recovery
Net earnings

$

17,289

EBITDA

$

65,508

$

12,834

$

4,062

$

(9,168)

$

73,236

Adjusted EBITDA

$

66,102

$

12,685

$

4,061

$

(9,168)

$

73,680

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA

$

66,102

$

13,095

$

4,061

$

(9,168)

$

74,090
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Enercare
Home
Services

Three months ended December 31, 2016 (000’s)

Service
Experts

Submetering

Corporate

Total

Revenues:
Contracted revenue

$ 104,958

Sales and other services
Investment income
Total revenue

$

8,265

14,088

$

132,088

111

10

$ 113,334

$ 146,186

32,709

$

1,015
2
$

33,726

–

$

–
–
$

–

151,755
141,368
123

$

293,246

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold:
Commodity

–

Maintenance & servicing costs
Sales and other services

–

(17,256)

(11,367)

(24,892)
–

–

(24,892)

–

(28,623)

(6,173)

(83,810)

(602)

–

(90,585)

Total cost of goods sold

(23,429)

(95,177)

(25,494)

–

(144,100)

SG&A expenses

(27,117)

(36,887)

(4,750)

(85)

(1)

(31,284)

(5,360)

(1,724)

(877)

(16)

Foreign exchange

200

Amortization expense
Net (loss)/gain on disposal

(8,430)

(77,184)

31

145

(524)

43

(38,892)

–

(850)

Interest expense:
Interest expense payable in cash

(8,041)

Non-cash interest expense

(513)

Total interest expense

(8,554)

Total expenses

(269,435)

Earnings before income taxes

23,811

Current tax (expense)

(11,534)

Deferred tax recovery

5,275

Net earnings

$

17,552

EBITDA

$

62,111

$

14,021

$

3,524

$

(8,399)

$

71,257

Adjusted EBITDA

$

62,988

$

14,037

$

3,481

$

(8,399)

$

72,107

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA

$

62,988

$

14,640

$

3,481

$

(8,399)

$

72,710

Fourth Quarter Overview
Unless stated otherwise, the narrative in this section is in reference to the operating results for the fourth quarter of
2017 as compared to the same period in 2016.
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Average Foreign Exchange
The following table illustrates the approximate impact of foreign exchange on Enercare’s results for the fourth quarter
of 2017 assuming average exchange rates during the current periods were held constant to those in 2016.
2017

(000’s)
Average exchange rate (CDN$/USD$1.00)

$

$

$

129,227

0.7494

Difference
$

2017
Constant
Currency *

2017

Three months ended December 31,
Revenue

0.7867

2016

$

135,690

0.0373

Impact of
Foreign
Exchange
$

(6,463)

Cost of goods sold

88,101

92,503

(4,402)

SG&A expenses

32,524

34,145

(1,621)

Loss on disposal
EBITDA

(119)

(127)

8
$

(448)

*C
 onstant currency is a non-IFRS presentation that other companies may calculate differently. It approximates the impact of foreign
exchange on Enercare’s results to improve comparability, assuming average exchange rates during the current periods were held
constant to those in the prior year.

Revenues
Total revenues of $312,339 for the fourth quarter of 2017 increased by $19,093 or 7% compared to the same period
in 2016.
Enercare Home Services revenues, excluding investment income, of $118,672 for the fourth quarter of 2017
increased by $5,449 or 5%, approximately $4,000 of which was primarily as a result of a rental rate increase
implemented in January 2017, changes in asset mix and growth in rental units, partly offset by a decrease in
protection plan revenue. Contracted revenues increased by $4,270 or 4%, which represents revenue generated by the
Rentals portfolio and protection plan contracts, while sales and other services revenue mainly pertains to sales and
installations of residential furnaces, boilers and air conditioners, as well as plumbing, duct cleaning and other services.
Service Experts revenues, excluding investment income, were $161,428 during the fourth quarter of 2017, increasing
by $15,252 or 10%, primarily from higher sales volumes and acquisitions completed during the year. Changes in
foreign exchange rates during the fourth quarter of 2017 accounted for approximately a $6,463 decrease in revenues.
In constant currency, revenue growth would have been 15% during the fourth quarter of 2017. The increase in sales
and rentals activity during the quarter was partially driven by favourably cooler weather trends, compared to the same
period in 2016, resulting in a higher demand for HVAC sales, service and repairs. Service Experts revenues were
reduced by $2,221 for the fourth quarter of 2017 as a result of purchase accounting adjustments for deferred revenue
associated with the SE Transaction, compared to $4,278 in the same period in 2016.
Sub-metering revenues, excluding investment income, were $31,866 during the fourth quarter of 2017, a decrease of
$1,858 or 6%, primarily from lower flow-through commodity charges partly offset by higher billable units. Sub-metering
revenue includes total flow-through commodity charges of $21,864 in the fourth quarter, a decrease of $3,028 or 12%
compared to the same period in 2016.
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Investment income was $373 in the fourth quarter of 2017, an increase of $250 primarily from higher interest income
earned from financing receivables relating to loans to customers resulting from HVAC sales in Enercare Home Services.
Cost of Goods Sold
Total cost of goods sold for the fourth quarter of 2017 was $157,976, an increase of $13,876 or 10%, compared to
the same period in 2016.
Enercare Home Services cost of goods sold increased by $2,519 or 11% in the fourth quarter of 2017, compared
to the same period in 2016, as a result of the growth in HVAC sales and higher maintenance and servicing costs
associated with growth in the rentals and protection plan portfolios. Maintenance and servicing costs in Enercare
Home Services primarily consist of protection plan expenses and servicing costs related to the Rentals portfolio,
while sales and other services expenses mainly pertain to sales and installations of residential furnaces, boilers, air
conditioners and small commercial products as well as plumbing, duct cleaning and other chargeable services.
Service Experts cost of goods sold increased by $14,457 or 15% in the fourth quarter of 2017, compared to the same
period in 2016, primarily from an increase in installation units, approximately $2,200 of higher employee practices,
workers’ compensation and automobile insurance costs driven by higher claims volumes and settlement costs during
the fourth quarter and $800 fewer supplier rebates driven by a higher proportion of sales generated through retail
channels in 2017, compared to 2016. Service Experts cost of goods sold was reduced by $1,773 for the fourth
quarter of 2017 as a result of purchase accounting adjustments for the service obligation associated with the SE
Transaction, compared to $3,472 in 2016. Changes in foreign exchange rates during the fourth quarter of 2017
accounted for a decrease of $4,402 of cost of goods sold.
Sub-metering cost of goods sold was $22,394 in the fourth quarter of 2017, decreasing by $3,100 or 12%, primarily
from lower flow-through commodity charges. Sales and other services expenses for Sub-metering, which is comprised
of the installation of water conservation products in apartments and condominiums and costs from Triacta meter sales,
remained consistent compared to the same period in 2016.
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses
Total SG&A expenses were $81,079 in the fourth quarter of 2017, an increase of $3,895 or 5% compared to the same
period in 2016.
Enercare Home Services SG&A expenses of $27,515 in the fourth quarter, increased by $398 or 1%, primarily from
increases of approximately $2,500 in higher sales and marketing expenses, mainly driven by marketing initiatives to
drive brand awareness as well as tests associated with the 100-person smarter home pilot initiated during the fourth
quarter of 2017, partly offset by decreases of $1,100 in office expense, primarily due to Enercare’s ownership of its
corporate office, $310 in wages and benefits, $330 in bad debt expense and $210 in billing and support costs.
Service Experts SG&A expenses of $38,928 in the fourth quarter of 2017, increased by $2,041 or 6%, primarily from
increases of approximately $1,000 in wages and benefits, driven partly by $500 of higher stock based compensation
costs resulting from an increase in Share price and incremental wages from 2017 acquisitions, $680 of claims
expenses and $450 of sales and marketing expenses relating to online and television advertising campaigns, partly
offset by $230 of lower professional fees.
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Service Experts SG&A expenses in the fourth quarter of 2017 included acquisition related expenditures of $410,
primarily consisting of professional fees associated with the third quarter acquisition of Aramendia, as well as the
purchase of additional operations in Texas, which was completed in the first quarter of 2018. Changes in foreign
exchange rates during the fourth quarter of 2017 accounted for an approximately $1,621 decrease in SG&A.
Service Experts SG&A expenses in the fourth quarter of 2016 included $603 of acquisition related expenditures
associated with the SE Transaction, primarily related to professional fees and integration costs.
Sub-metering SG&A expenses in the fourth quarter of 2017 were $5,444, an increase of $694 or 15%, primarily the
result of approximately $220 of higher professional fees, $120 of higher wages and benefits and $180 of higher office
expenses associated with premises leased in 2017.
Corporate expenses of $9,192 in the fourth quarter of 2017 increased by $762 or 9%, primarily the result of
approximately $1,200 in higher wages and benefits expenses, driven by $1,031 higher stock based compensation
costs resulting from an increase in the Share price, partly offset by lower office expenses of $570, which includes
expenses relating to software licenses of $380. Corporate expenses in the fourth quarter of 2017 included
approximately $1,000 of higher SG&A costs associated with investments relating to the implementation of CRM and
ERP systems.
Amortization Expense
Amortization expense increased by $1,775 or 5% in the fourth quarter of 2017, primarily due to an increasing capital
asset base from asset mix changes in the Rentals portfolio and increased Sub-metering capital investments, which are
amortized over a shorter life than those of the Enercare Home Services business.
Net Loss on Disposal of Equipment and Other Assets
Enercare reported a net loss on disposal of equipment and other assets of $444 in the fourth quarter of 2017, a
decrease of $406 or 48%. The net loss on disposal amount is influenced by the number of assets retired, proceeds on
disposal of equipment, changes in the retirement asset mix and the age of the assets retired.
Interest Expense
2017

Three months ended December 31, (000’s)
Interest expense payable in cash

$

9,819

2016
$

8,041

Non-cash items:
Notional interest on employee benefit plans

226

210

Amortization of financing costs

257

303

Interest expense

$

10,302

$

8,554

In the fourth quarter of 2017, interest expense of $10,302 was $1,748 higher than in 2016, primarily driven by the
drawdown on the 2014 Revolver, offset by lower effective rates on the 2017 Notes compared to the 2012 Notes,
which were redeemed during the first quarter of 2017.
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Income Taxes
Enercare reported current tax expense of $5,023 in the fourth quarter of 2017, a reduction of $6,511 compared
to the same period in 2016. The reduction was primarily from higher taxes owed in 2016, which resulted from
a one-year tax deferral originated in 2015, and additional tax depreciation and interest expense incurred in 2017.
The deferred income tax recovery of $45 in the fourth quarter of 2017 decreased by $5,230 compared to the same
period in 2016, primarily as a result of temporary difference reversals in the Enercare Home Services business.
Net Earnings
Net earnings were $17,289 in the fourth quarter of 2017, a decrease of $263, as previously described.

Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures
The consolidated financial statements of Enercare are prepared in accordance with IFRS. Enercare’s basis of
presentation and significant accounting policies are summarized in detail in notes 2 and 3 of the consolidated financial
statements for the period ended December 31, 2017.
Enercare reports on certain non-IFRS measures that are used by management to evaluate performance of
Enercare and meet certain covenant requirements relating to debt financing. Since non-IFRS measures do not have
standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS, securities regulations require that non-IFRS measures be clearly defined,
qualified, and reconciled with their nearest IFRS measure. These measures do not have standardized meanings or
interpretations, and may not be comparable to similar terms and measures provided by other issuers.
Adjusted EBITDA, Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA, Distributable Cash, Distributable Cash–Maintenance, Payout
Ratio, Payout Ratio–Maintenance, Operating Cash Flow, and Billable should not be construed as alternatives to
net income or earnings per Share determined in accordance with IFRS as indicators of Enercare’s performance.
Non-IFRS financial indicators used by Enercare and reported in this MD&A, in addition to the Non-IFRS financial
measures, include:
MEASURES OF ASSET PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE
Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions
Enercare makes two principal types of investments to grow its installed base of water heaters, HVAC, sub-meters and
other assets: capital expenditures and acquisitions.
MEASURES OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Adjusted EBITDA
This measure is comprised of net earnings plus income taxes, interest expense, amortization expense, impairment
losses and loss on disposal of equipment. It is one of Enercare’s non-IFRS measures that is used to determine
Enercare’s ability to service its debt, finance capital expenditures, and provide for the payment of dividends to
shareholders. Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled with net earnings, an IFRS measure (see “Results of Operations – EBITDA,
Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA” in this MD&A).
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Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA
This measure reflects the same components as Adjusted EBITDA, however, eliminates the additional transaction
and integration costs associated with the DE Acquisition, the SE Transaction, the acquisition of Church Services,
the acquisition of Hammond and the acquisition of Aramendia, including professional fees associated with due
diligence, pre and post-merger integration, expenditures associated with business transformation initiatives,
rebranding, severance and other costs in SG&A. This is one of Enercare’s non-IFRS measures that is used to determine
Enercare’s ability to service its ongoing debt, finance capital expenditures, and provide for the payment of dividends
to shareholders. Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled with net earnings, an IFRS measure (see “Results of
Operations – EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA” in this MD&A).
Distributable Cash and Distributable Cash – Maintenance
In the second quarter of 2016, Enercare changed its definition of Distributable Cash and Distributable Cash –
Maintenance to include capital relating to vehicle additions (reflecting repayments of obligations under finance leases).
Historical figures have been restated to reflect the current definition.
Distributable Cash is a non-IFRS measure of the amount of cash generated during a period that is available to service
debt, finance capital expenditures and provide for the payment of dividends to shareholders.
Historically, Distributable Cash comprised net earnings of Enercare, plus non-cash items, such as deferred income
taxes, amortization, defined benefit plan expense and transaction and integration expenses related to the DE
Acquisition and transition of OHCS, the SE Transaction, the acquisition of Church Services, the acquisition of
Hammond and the acquisition of Aramendia, less cash items of contributions to define benefit pension plan and
deferred customer inducements plus the proceeds on disposal of rental equipment, less rental capital expenditures
(excluding growth capital), vehicle additions (reflecting repayments of obligations under finance leases) and other nonrecurring income. Capital expenditures outside of Enercare’s traditional Rentals asset purchases, such as Sub-metering
equipment, acquisitions and infrastructure assets are considered by management to be growth expenditures and are
therefore not deducted in the determination of Distributable Cash.
Distributable Cash per Share is a non-IFRS measure of the amount of Distributable Cash calculated
on a per Share basis.
Distributable Cash – Maintenance is the same as the historical Distributable Cash, except that Rentals capital
expenditures associated with new customer additions and buyout proceeds on disposal of equipment associated with
lost customers are excluded. Growth expenditures for purposes of Distributable Cash – Maintenance definition include
capital expenditures such as Rentals new customer equipment additions, Sub-metering equipment, acquisitions and
infrastructure assets.
Distributable Cash is reconciled with cash provided by operating activities, an IFRS measure (see “Distributable Cash
and Payout Ratios” in this MD&A).
Distributions, Payout Ratio and Payout Ratio – Maintenance
Dividends are declared and paid monthly to shareholders at the discretion of the board of directors of Enercare.
Among other things, the directors consider the level of Distributable Cash, the level of previous dividends, and the
amount of cash they wish to retain in the company for contingencies and future growth.
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The historical Payout Ratio is the percentage of Distributable Cash to dividends declared to shareholders during a period
and represents the ability of Enercare to pay dividends, finance capital expenditures and add to its cash reserves.
Payout Ratio – Maintenance is similar to the Payout Ratio, except that the ratio is calculated as the percentage of
Distributable Cash – Maintenance to dividends declared to shareholders during the period and represents the ability
of Enercare to pay dividends, add to its cash reserves and illustrates the proportion of cash required to maintain its
existing customer base.
Operating Cash Flow
Operating Cash Flow is the cash flow from operating activities excluding changes in non-cash working capital. It
represents the net cash generated in earnings, excluding non-cash items. It is one indicator of the financial strength of
Enercare. Operating Cash Flow is reconciled with cash flow from operating activities, an IFRS measure (see “Liquidity
and Capital Resources” in this MD&A).
Billable
Sub-metering Billable units represent assets or services in the case of multiple products, for which an invoice has
been issued to a customer in the past. From time to time there may be periods where no invoicing occurs in respect of
such asset or service due to, for example, vacancy or delinquency. Billable Sub-metering assets are no longer Billable
upon termination of the contractual agreement with the landlord or condominium corporation, as applicable, or where
vacancy exceeds 6 months. The Rentals portfolio is deemed to be fully Billable upon origination and removed from
Billable upon asset termination.
Measures Regarding Debt Covenants
As at December 31, 2017, Enercare was in compliance with all covenants under the 2013 Notes, 2014 Revolver,
2016 Term Loan and 2017 Notes. For a summary of the financial covenants in respect of such debt see “Liquidity and
Capital Resources – Debt Financing” in this MD&A.
2014 Revolver and 2016 Term Loan
Under the 2014 Revolver agreement and 2016 Term Loan agreement, Enercare Solutions is subject to
three principal financial covenants as described in the section “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Debt
Financing” in this MD&A. The covenants address interest and debt coverage. Enercare Solutions complied
with these covenants on December 31, 2017. There was a total of $55,000 drawn under the 2014 Revolver
at December 31, 2017. Enercare Solutions’ obligations under the 2016 Term Loan are guaranteed by all of
Enercare Solutions’ material subsidiaries, including SEHAC and its material subsidiaries.
2013 Notes and 2017 Notes – Incurrence Test
The covenants under the 2013 Notes and 2017 Notes are contained in the Senior Unsecured Indenture. Under
the terms of the Senior Unsecured Indenture, Enercare Solutions may not incur additional senior debt other than
certain refinancing debt and certain working capital debt if the Incurrence Test (as described in the AIF) is less
than 3.8 to 1.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
Enercare makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Management
continually evaluates estimates and judgments which are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ
from those estimates. The following items are of significance for the period.
Revenue Accruals
At December 31, 2017, the Enercare Home Services segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately
$44,200 reflecting accrued service periods, compared to $46,400 at December 31, 2016. Unbilled protection
plans comprise approximately $26,948 of this balance, compared to $28,200 at December 31, 2016. This
balance is predominantly made up of protection plans sold in franchisee service areas, which are recognized as
royalty revenue at inception but are invoiced over a period of twelve months. The remaining unbilled revenues
reflect accrued service revenues for rental water heaters and other products.
At December 31, 2017, the Service Experts segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $4,500,
primarily reflecting accrued revenue for contracts in progress, compared to $2,300 at December 31, 2016.
At December 31, 2017, the Sub-metering segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $10,200,
reflecting accrued service periods, compared to $10,000 at December 31, 2016.
Bad Debt Provisions
The Enercare Home Services segment is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business for customers
who are billed directly by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. (“EGD”) within its service territory and secondarily when
billed by Enercare or are billed by EGD outside of its service territory. For billing within the EGD service territory,
Enercare is guaranteed payment by EGD for 99.51% in 2017 and 2016 of the amount billed (subject to certain
exceptions) 21 calendar days after the invoices are issued.
Management evaluates a number of factors and assumptions in the determination of the bad debt provision. The
total bad debt provision comprising the Enercare Home Services, Sub-metering and Service Experts segments
was approximately $14,800 at December 31, 2017, compared to approximately $11,800 at the end of 2016.
Changes in any of the variables or assumptions may result in a materially different amount.
Leases
Management applies judgment in its assessment of Enercare’s arrangements with customers when determining
the classification of leases and the extent to which the risks and rewards incidental to ownership resides with the
company or the customer.
Impairment of Non-Financial Assets and Goodwill
Impairment tests are conducted at least annually, or when events or circumstances indicate impairment may
exist. The recoverable amount is based upon a number of assumptions, including but not limited to: discount
rates, billable units, cash flows and expenses. Changes in any of these assumptions may result in a materially
different recoverable amount.
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Employee Benefit Plans
Employee defined benefit plan balances are subject to a number of assumptions. The actuarial valuations rely on
estimates and assumptions including those for wage escalation, mortality, health care and dental costs inflation,
retirement ages, life expectancies and discount rates. Changes in these estimates could have a material impact
on the employee benefit plans liability and employee benefit plan costs.
Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that realization is considered probable. Judgments regarding
projected future income and tax planning strategies are considered in making this assessment.
Business Combination
With respect to the fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities and other adjustments related to
acquisitions, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the acquisition method of
accounting, in accordance with IFRS 3R, Business Combinations, under which, the total fair value of the
consideration transferred has been assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair values at the date of the acquisition, with any excess purchase price allocated to goodwill. Changes
may be expected as additional information becomes available following the closing dates. Accordingly, the final
fair values determined may differ from those set forth in these consolidated financial statements and such
differences may be material.
Estimation of Insurance Claims
Insurance liabilities are subject to measurement uncertainty. The recognized amounts of such items are based on
Enercare’s best information and judgment. Estimates and other judgments are continuously evaluated based on
management’s experience and expectations about future events, including insurance claims for events that have
occurred but not yet been reported to management.

Disclosure and Internal Controls and Procedures
Enercare’s certifying officers have designed, and assessed the design of, a system of DC&P to provide reasonable
assurance that (i) material information relating to Enercare, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to them by others; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by Enercare in its annual filings, interim filings and
other reports filed or submitted by Enercare under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in securities legislation. As well, Enercare’s certifying officers have designed,
and assessed the design of, ICFR to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. Enercare has used the
Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) from The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO”) in order to assess the effectiveness of Enercare’s internal control over financial reporting. There
are no material weaknesses relating to the design of either DC&P or ICFR at December 31, 2017. There have been no
changes to our ICFR during the quarter and year to date ended December 31, 2017 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, Enercare’s ICFR. The certifying officers have evaluated the operating effectiveness
of Enercare’s DC&P and ICFR at December 31, 2017 and are satisfied that Enercare’s DC&P and ICFR were both
effective as at December 31, 2017. Management also did not identify any material weaknesses in Enercare’s ICFR at
December 31, 2017.
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Enercare has limited the scope of its design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures of Aramendia which was acquired on August 15, 2017.
Aramendia’s contribution to Enercare’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 was
approximately 1% of revenues and 0% of net earnings. In addition, Aramendia’s current assets and current liabilities
were approximately nil and 1%, respectively, of the consolidated current assets and current liabilities, and its long term
assets and long term liabilities were approximately nil of consolidated long term assets and long term liabilities.
Enercare is currently in the process of documenting and evaluating the controls, policies and procedures in respect
of Aramendia.
Management does recognize that any controls and procedures no matter how well designed and operated, can
only provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In the
unforeseen event that lapses in the disclosure or internal controls and procedures occur and/or mistakes happen,
Enercare intends to take whatever steps are necessary to minimize the consequences thereof.

Changes in Accounting Policies
Enercare has adopted new or revised standards as required by IFRS, effective January 1, 2017.
IAS 7, “Statement of cash flows” (“IAS 7”), has been amended by the IASB to introduce additional disclosure that
will allow users to understand changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. This amendment to IAS 7 is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Enercare has assessed the impact of adopting this
amendment on these consolidated financial statements and has modified its debt disclosure to include movements in
net debt between changes arising from cash and non-cash changes.
Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Applied
The following are accounting policy changes to be implemented by Enercare in future periods:
Revenue Recognition
IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“IFRS 15”), provides a comprehensive five-step
revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers. The IFRS 15 revenue recognition model requires
management to exercise significant judgment and make estimates that affect revenue recognition. IFRS 15 is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted. Enercare
is adopting this new standard on a full retrospective basis.
Enercare has assessed the impact of IFRS 15 on the consolidated financial statements and its revenue
recognition policies and has identified the following key impacts: (1) Upon adoption, Enercare anticipates
recognizing certain contracted sub-metering revenues related to individual suite consumption of electricity, water,
thermal energy and gas commodities in multi-residential and commercial buildings on a net basis, whereby the
revenues will be recognized net of the related commodity charges associated with the service. This retrospective
change will decrease Sub-metering segment revenues for the year ended December 31, 2017 by approximately
$99,011, with a corresponding adjustment to commodity charges. This change, however, does not impact
consolidated net earnings or EBITDA, (2) For the Enercare Home Services segment, Enercare identified elements
of variable consideration relating to customer credits impacting the transaction price for its portfolio of rental
contracts, however, Enercare is currently evaluating the impact of this change.
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Enercare is adopting IFRS 15 effective January 1, 2018, using the full retrospective basis and is in the process
of implementing the appropriate changes in processes and internal controls to support revenue recognition
and disclosure under the new standard. The accounting policy and the full impact of the new standards will be
disclosed in the first quarter of 2018.
Financial Instruments
The final version of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”), was issued by the IASB in July 2014 and
will replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 9 introduces a model for
classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking “expected loss” impairment model and a substantially
reformed approach to hedge accounting. The new single, principle-based approach for determining the
classification of financial assets is driven by cash flow characteristics and the business model in which an
asset is held. The new model also results in a single impairment model being applied to loans and receivables
measured at amortized cost, which will require more timely recognition of expected credit losses. It also includes
changes in respect of own credit risk in measuring liabilities elected to be measured at fair value, so that gains
caused by the deterioration of an entity’s own credit risk on such liabilities are no longer recognized in profit or
loss. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. In applying IFRS 9, Enercare
expects that certain of its receivables, in particular, those issued at a discount to the contractual par amount,
will not consist solely of payments of principal and interest due to prepayment features and will be measured at
fair value through profit and loss. However, Enercare anticipates the majority of its receivables will be measured
at amortized cost. Enercare plans to use the full three stage impairment model for those receivables measured
at amortized cost recognizing twelve months of expected credit losses on those receivables without significant
increases in credit risk and lifetime expected credit losses for those receivables that have significant increases
in credit risk. Enercare’s assessment did not indicate any material impact regarding the classification of financial
liabilities upon adoption of IFRS 9. Enercare does not expect its cash flows to be materially affected by the
application of the standard and will reflect all new disclosure requirements affected by the introduction of IFRS 9
in the first quarter of 2018.
Financial Instruments Disclosures
IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (“IFRS 7”), has been amended by the IASB to require additional
disclosures on transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The amendment to IFRS 7 is effective for periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2018. Enercare continues to evaluate the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated
financial statements. While Enercare’s preliminary assessments regarding the impact of the proposed changes are
not material, the final impact and disclosure will be included with the 2018 first quarter results.
Share-based payments
IFRS 2, “Share-based payments” (“IFRS 2”), has been amended by the IASB to clarify the accounting for cashsettled share-based payment transactions that include a performance condition, the classification of sharebased payment transactions with net settlement features and the accounting for modifications of share-based
payment transactions from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments to IFRS 2 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Enercare has assessed the impact of adopting this amendment
on these consolidated financial statements and concluded that no adjustments to the current measurement of
share-based payment transactions are required on the adoption of the amendment. There will be no impact to
the consolidated financial statements on application of the amendment.
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Leases
IFRS 16, “Leases” (“IFRS 16”), sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of leases.
IFRS 16 provides revised guidance on identifying a lease and for separating lease and non-lease components
of a contract. IFRS 16 introduces a single accounting model for all lessees and requires a lessee to recognize
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms of more than twelve months, unless the underlying
asset is of low value. Under IFRS 16, lessor accounting for operating and finance leases will remain substantially
unchanged. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier
application permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15. Enercare is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this
standard on the consolidated financial statements.

Risk Factors
The risks related to the business and structure of Enercare discussed in the AIF remain unchanged, except that, as
described under “Recent Developments” in this MD&A, the Bureau has issued Enercare a “Section 11 order” under
the Competition Act. As previously disclosed, although it is not possible to predict the outcome of the Bureau’s inquiry,
no assurance can be given that Enercare will not be subject to constraints on its business operations under the
Competition Act, including as a result of the current inquiry of which the “Section 11 order” is part.

Outlook
The forward-looking statements contained in this section are not historical facts but, rather, reflect Enercare’s current
expectations regarding future results or events and are based on information currently available to management.
INVESTING IN INNOVATION
• Enercare has embarked on an ongoing program to increase efficiency and innovation by investing in its systems and
technology. This program is also aimed at improving the customer experience to gain long-term customer loyalty
and differentiate Enercare from its competitors.
• Enercare plans to implement an ERP system across its business as well as a cloud based CRM system in its Enercare
Home Services business and is exploring a similar implementation for its Services Experts business. This initiative
is currently in the early stages and implementation will be through a phased approach, starting with Enercare Home
Services. The first phase of Enercare’s ERP implementation went live on schedule on February 16, 2018 to support
the application of IFRS 9, which Enercare will adopt during the first quarter of 2018. A limited CRM implementation is
planned for the second half of 2018, with plans for more significant progress during 2019.
• Enercare Home Services has been developing and testing a new smarter home product offering that will enable
customers to utilize technology to support energy efficiency savings by providing insights on heating and cooling
equipment functionality. Customers will be able to use a mobile application to monitor and control their home at any
time and from any place. At the outset, the solution will allow customers to manage their energy usage, monitor and
control their cooling and heating appliances, detect water leaks and enable remote water shut-off amongst other
things. Enercare Home Services is conducting a 100-person pilot and expects a controlled launch to customers in
the first half of 2018. We believe this offering will strengthen our customer relationships as we move from a reactive
to a proactive service model. Enercare will be able to notify customers when issues arise, provide insights on
equipment usage, effect any repairs and ultimately help customers conserve energy and save money.
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ENERCARE HOME SERVICES SEGMENT
• The Home Services business continued to successfully grow EBITDA in 2017. This was achieved in part by growing
the number of rental contracts, and we believe that we have the opportunity to continue to grow our contracted
revenue in 2018. Another key priority for the Enercare Home Services business during 2017 was to grow the
protection plan portfolio which was achieved through the full launch of the electrical protection plans combined
with strong customer retention programs.
• In January 2018, Enercare increased its weighted average rental rate for water heaters by 3.09% and HVAC by 1.8%.
• Our collective bargaining agreement in respect of Enercare Home Services with UNIFOR Local 975 expired on
March 31, 2017. Renegotiations began in March 2017 and are continuing with a conciliation officer having been
appointed to facilitate negotiations.
SERVICE EXPERTS SEGMENT
• Enercare successfully achieved cost synergies relating to the SE Transaction of $0.09 per Share on an annualized
basis by the end of 2017 with savings coming primarily from improved sourcing costs leading to lower cost of
goods sold, SG&A and capital expenditures as well as lower current taxes.
• In October 2016, Service Experts introduced a rental program for HVAC products and water heaters in several
centers within Canada. This rollout was completed at all 15 locations in Canada in February 2017, and extended
the rental HVAC offering to seven U.S. states throughout 2017. In the fourth quarter of 2017, certain aspects of
the program were enhanced. Our goal is to have the vast majority of the U.S. operations having the HVAC rental
program available by the fourth quarter of 2018.
• In 2017, Service Experts successfully completed three acquisitions. Two further acquisitions were completed in the
first quarter of 2018 and the acquisition pipeline remains robust.
SUB-METERING SEGMENT
• During the first quarter of 2017, Sub-metering introduced a new commercial service offering through a controlled
launch process. This offering compliments our recently launched commercial consolidation billing solution and
brings additional features, such as tenant level consumption reporting and client options to purchase the meters.
The first commercial service meters with the new offering were installed during the third quarter and a number of
new customers have signed up for the offering. By the end of 2017, Sub-metering had acquired 12 customers onto
its new commercial service offering, with three of these customers installed by year end.
• Sub-metering sales opportunities continue to be strong and increasingly include multi-commodity products such
as thermal, gas or water sub-metering within the new construction and condominium segments. During 2017,
over 80% of the newly contracted services come from new construction condominiums and new construction
rental properties.
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• Triacta, our wholly owned equipment manufacturer, has been developing the generation 5 PowerHawk metering
platform. This new platform has a modular architecture, allowing for a single unit to measure multiple types
of commodities, and utilizes a variety of communications protocols. During the fourth quarter, beta trial units
were shipped to key customers for evaluation and to various labs for certification. We anticipate approvals will
be received in the United States to allow us to increase our U.S. sales. We are working towards approval from
Measurement Canada for use in billing grade application by the end of 2018.
• Enercare anticipates that the implementation of IFRS 15 on January 1, 2018 will result in recognizing certain
contracted sub-metering revenues related to individual suite consumption on a net basis, whereby the revenues
are net of the related commodity charges associated with the service. This change will not impact net earnings or
EBITDA and will be reported as such in the first quarter of 2018.
CORPORATE
• Enercare’s current income tax expense for 2017 was $22.7 million compared to previous guidance of approximately
$23 million to $29 million.
• On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 became effective and significantly changed the Internal
Revenue Code including, among other provisions, reductions to the U.S. Federal corporate tax rate. Enercare
expects that this tax reform will not significantly impact its 2018 current income tax estimates for Service Experts
as the benefit relating to the lower Federal corporate tax rate will be offset by other tax reform changes. In addition,
the acquisition of Service Experts was structured to permit Enercare to “step up” the tax basis of Service Experts’
assets in the U.S. through a “338 election” under U.S. tax rules, which provides a significant tax shield by reducing
U.S. taxable income by approximately $27 million per year for the next 14 years.
• Enercare estimates that it will recognize approximately $26 million to $32 million in current income tax expense
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018. This estimate assumes corporate tax rates of approximately
26.5% in Canada and 26% in the U.S. Taxable income is principally impacted by changes in revenue, operating
expenses, potential acquisitions or divestitures, appropriate tax planning, capital expenditures through the capital
cost allowance deduction, changes in tax laws, distribution of sales and earnings by state, and regulations and
administrative practices. As additional regulatory guidance is issued by the applicable taxing authorities, the
assumptions used to estimate taxable income in the U.S. may be impacted.
• In 2017, Enercare’s capital investments of $181 million were in line with previous guidance.
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Capital Expenditure1

2017
$

HVAC rentals

49M

Water heater additions

$

43M

Water heater exchanges

$

36M

Sub-metering growth

$

18M

In-house financing2

$

8M

Corporate and building

3

Total

$

27M

$

181M

1

Excludes acquisitions.

2

In-house financing represents the increase in financing receivables related to the program.

3

 orporate capital includes IT software and hardware, furniture and fixtures and other capital projects. The building relates to a new
C
head office purchased in Q2 of 2016 including renovations during 2017.

• Enercare is targeting a range of between $185 million and $207 million in capital investments in 2018, primarily
reflecting higher unit costs due to higher value product originations, higher sales volumes and higher corporate
spending on platforms for innovation and growth to enable future product offerings, including its smarter home offering.
• Enercare announced an increase in its monthly dividend to $0.0832 per Share, an increase of approximately 4%,
effective in respect of the dividend payable to shareholders of record on the applicable date in April 2018. The increase
reflects Enercare’s strong overall performance and our confidence in the future of the Enercare Home Services, Service
Experts and Sub-metering businesses.
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Glossary of Terms
Defined Term

Definition

AIF

Annual Information Form of Enercare dated March 31, 2017.

Aramendia

Aramendia Plumbing, Heating & Air Ltd. acquired by Service Experts on August 15, 2017,
which provides HVAC and plumbing services, with locations in San Antonio and
McKinney, Texas.

Attrition

Termination of customer relationships, including buyouts, in the Rentals portfolio.

BBB

Better Business Bureau.

Bill 55

Stronger Protection for Ontario Consumers Act, 2013.

Billable

Enercare services that are deemed to be billing (see Non-IFRS Financial and Performance
Measures – Measures of Financial Performance).

Bureau

Competition Bureau.

Church Services

CS Operating LLC, acquired by Service Experts on February 13, 2017, which provides HVAC
and plumbing services in Austin, Texas.

Competition Act

Competition Act (Canada).

Convertible Debentures

6.25% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures of Enercare (formerly the Fund),
which matured on June 30, 2017, in the original aggregate principal amount of $27,883.
Each Debenture was convertible into Shares at the option of the holder at a conversion price of
$6.48 (or 154.3210 Shares per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Debentures).

DBRS

DBRS Limited.

DC&P

Disclosure Controls and Procedures as defined under National Instrument 52-109 –
Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.

DE

Direct Energy Marketing Limited.

DE Acquisition

The acquisition of the OHCS business of DE by Enercare on October 20, 2014 through EHCS LP.

DRIP

Dividend Reinvestment Plan.

EBITDA

This measure is comprised of net earnings plus income taxes, interest expense and
amortization expense. It is one metric that can be used to determine Enercare’s ability to
service its debt, finance capital expenditures, and provide for the payment of dividends to
shareholders. Previously EBITDA excluded investment and other income and beginning the
first quarter of 2016, the calculation of EBITDA includes investment and other income.

ECI

Enercare Connections Inc. (formerly Stratacon, EECI and Triacta).

EECI

Enbridge Electric Connections Inc. (now ECI).

EHCS LP

Enercare Home and Commercial Services Limited Partnership, the limited partnership formed
to own OHCS following the closing of the DE Acquisition, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of Enercare.
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Defined Term

Definition

EGD

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.

Enercare

Enercare Inc., formerly the Fund.

Enercare Home Services

Enercare business, which provides rental water heaters, furnaces, air conditioners and other
HVAC products and, as of October 20, 2014, also provides protection plans, HVAC sales and
related services.

Enercare Solutions

Enercare Solutions Inc., formerly the Trust.

ESLP

Enercare Solutions Limited Partnership (formerly Waterheater Operating Limited Partnership).

Fund

The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund, predecessor to Enercare prior to the conversion
of the Fund from an income trust to corporate structure pursuant to a plan of arrangement on
January 1, 2011.

Guarantors

ESLP, Rentco and WGP Inc., EHCS LP, EHCS GP, SE Canada Inc., SEHAC and its operating
subsidiaries and affiliates.

Hammond

Hammond Plumbing & Heating Inc., acquired by Service Experts on May 24, 2017, which
provides residential and commercial plumbing and heating services in Kitchener, Ontario.

HVAC

Heating, ventilation and air conditioning.

IASB

The International Accounting Standards Board.

ICFR

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as defined under National Instrument 52-109 –
Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the IASB.

Incurrence Test

2012 Notes and 2013 Notes Incurrence EBITDA to Net Interest Expense.

MD&A

Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Merger Agreement

The agreement dated March 7, 2016 between, among others, Enercare Solutions and Service
Experts regarding the SE Transaction.

NCIB

Enercare’s normal course issuer bid.

OHCS

The Ontario home and small commercial services business of DE acquired by Enercare on
October 20, 2014 in the DE Acquisition.

Origination Agreement

The origination agreement dated December 17, 2002 between Rentco and DE providing for
the sale to ESLP of rental water heaters originated by DE, as amended on January 1, 2005,
December 29, 2006, January 1, 2013 and August 1, 2013, as assigned by DE to EHCS LP on
October 20, 2014.

Rentals

Component of the Enercare Home Services business that provides rental water heaters,
furnaces, air conditioners and other HVAC products.

Rentco

4483588 Canada Inc. (formerly Direct Waterheater Rentals Inc.).
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Glossary of Terms Cont’d.
Defined Term

Definition

SE Canada

SE Canada Inc.

SE Subscription Receipts

$231,947 (net of underwriters’ fees) of subscription receipts issued by Enercare on a bought
deal basis in relation to the SE Transaction.

SE Transaction

The acquisition of Service Experts by Enercare through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
Enercare Solutions, pursuant to the Merger Agreement which was completed on May 11, 2016.

SEHAC

SEHAC Holdings LLC (formerly SEHAC Holdings Corporation).

Senior Unsecured
Indenture

The trust indenture dated as of January 29, 2010 between the Operating Trust, as issuer,
the Guarantors, as guarantors, and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as indenture
trustee, as supplemented by the first supplemental indenture dated as of January 29, 2010,
the second supplemental indenture dated as of February 19, 2010, the third supplemental
indenture dated as of December 1, 2010, the fourth supplemental indenture dated as of
January 1, 2011, the fifth supplemental indenture dated as of September 30, 2012, the
sixth supplemental indenture dated as of November 21, 2012, the seventh supplemental
indenture dated as of February 1, 2013, the eighth supplemental indenture dated as of
October 20, 2014, the ninth supplemental indenture dated as of May 11, 2016, the tenth
supplemental indenture dated as of June 10, 2016, the eleventh supplemental indenture
dated as of February 21, 2017 and the twelfth supplemental indenture dated as of
February 21, 2017 the same may be amended, modified, supplemented, restated or
replaced from time to time.

Service Experts

Enercare business operating under the brand “Service Experts”, which provides HVAC
products and servicing to residential and light commercial customers, primarily operated by
SEHAC and SE Canada.

SG&A

Selling, general and administrative expenses.

S&P

Standard and Poor’s Rating Services.

Shares

Common shares of Enercare.

Stratacon

Stratacon Inc. (now ECI).

Stratacon Debt

Secured debt assumed with the acquisition of Stratacon.

Sub-metering

Business division that provides sub-metering equipment and billing services.

Triacta

Triacta Power Technologies Inc., now ECI pursuant to an amalgamation effective July 15, 2015.

Trust

The Consumers’ Waterheater Operating Trust.

72

Enercare Annual Report 2017

Defined Term

Definition

TSX

Toronto Stock Exchange.

WGP Inc.

4113152 Canada Limited.

2012 Notes

$250,000 of 4.30% Series 2012-1 Senior Unsecured Notes of Enercare Solutions, which
were redeemed on March 23, 2017.

2013 Notes

$225,000 of 4.60% Series 2013-1 Senior Unsecured Notes of Enercare Solutions, which
mature on February 3, 2020.

2014 Debt Financing

The debt financing of Enercare Solutions in respect of the DE Acquisition consisting of an
unsecured (i) 4-year variable rate, non-revolving term loan facility in the amount of $210,000
and (ii) 5-year variable rate, revolving credit facility in the maximum amount of $200,000.

2014 Revolver

The 5-year variable rate, revolving credit facility in the maximum amount of $100,000 issued
under the 2014 Debt Financing. In December of 2016, the revolving credit facility was
increased to a maximum amount of $200,000, maintaining the same terms.

2014 Term Loan

The 4-year variable rate, non-revolving term loan facility in the amount of $210,000 issued
under the 2014 Debt Financing, which was repaid on February 23, 2017.

2016 Term Loan

Two 4-year non-revolving, non-amortizing variable rate term credit facilities in the aggregate
amount of US $200,000.

2017-1 Notes

The $275,000 of 3.38% Series 2017-1 Senior Unsecured Notes of Enercare Solutions,
due February 21, 2022.

2017-2 Notes

The $225,000 of 3.99% Series 2017-2 Senior Unsecured Notes of Enercare Solutions,
due February 21, 2024.

2017 Notes

The Series 2017-1 Notes and Series 2017-2 Notes.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Enercare is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the financial statements contained
in the annual report. These statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Canada and necessarily include some amounts that are based on management’s best estimates and
judgment. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis and considers that the statements
present fairly the financial position of Enercare, the results of its operations and its cash flows. Management has
also prepared financial information presented elsewhere in this report and has ensured that it is consistent with that
in the financial statements.
To fulfill its responsibility, management maintains internal accounting controls and systems of high quality and
establishes policies and procedures to ensure the reliability of financial information and to safeguard assets. The
internal control systems and financial records are subject to reviews by external auditors during the examination of the
financial statements.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets regularly with the external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, and with management to approve the scope of audit work and assess reports on audit work performed. The
financial statements have been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on the recommendation of the
Audit Committee.
Signed,

John Macdonald
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Brian Schmitt
Chief Financial Officer

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
March 5, 2018

To the Shareholders of Enercare Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Enercare Inc. and its subsidiaries,
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and December
31, 2016 and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Enercare Inc. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 and
their financial performance and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
2017

As at December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)

2016

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 4)
Accounts and other receivables (note 5)
Financing receivables (note 6)
Inventory (note 7)
Collateral deposits (note 11)
Prepaid expenses
Assets held for sale (note 33)

$

Capital assets (note 8)
Intangible assets (note 9)
Employee benefit plan assets (note 16)
Goodwill (note 10)
Deferred tax asset (note 17)
Long-term financing receivables (note 6)
Other assets
$

31,001
149,273
897
16,834
7,772
18,172
17,168
241,117
730,960
623,191
3,784
383,128
11,407
9,320
2,711
2,005,618

$

160,331
126
–
8,970
8,810
1,104
10,463
40,914
5,634
236,352
1,027,530
20,454
25,993
102,279
1,412,608

$

$

38,415
137,617
319
16,031
9,842
11,238
–
213,462
658,133
696,274
6,246
383,035
10,946
2,557
1,994
1,972,647

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 12)
Current portion of long-term debt (note 14)
Convertible debentures (note 14)
Obligations under finance leases (note 13)
Insurance claim provisions (note 11)
Other provisions (note 27)
Interest payable
Deferred revenue and service obligation (note 15)
Liabilities held for sale (note 33)

$

Long-term debt (note 14)
Long-term obligations under finance leases (note 13)
Employee benefit plan obligations (note 16)
Deferred tax liability (note 17)

178,983
250,615
2,019
11,216
7,990
1,107
4,806
41,409
–
498,145
716,481
14,408
22,028
105,121
1,356,183

Shareholders' equity
Share capital (note 18)
Treasury shares (note 18)
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) / income
Deficit
$

1,188,987
(1,907)
2,051
(5,725)
(590,396)
593,010
2,005,618

Commitments, contingent liabilities and assets held for sale are found in notes 21, 22, and 33 respectively.
Subsequent events are found in notes 33 and 34.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

1,151,913
(1,785)
2,056
8,618
(544,338)
616,464
1,972,647

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the years ended December 31,
2017

(in thousands of Cdn $, except share and per share amounts)

2016

Revenues
Contracted revenue
Sales and other services
Investment income
Total revenues
Expenses
Cost of goods sold and services provided (note 25)
Commodity charges
Maintenance and servicing costs
Sales and other services
Selling, general & administrative (note 26)
Foreign exchange gain
Net loss on disposal of equipment and other assets (note 8, 9)
Gain on retirement of finance lease obligations
Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA)
Depreciation and amortization
Capital assets (note 8)
Intangible assets (note 9)
Interest
Interest expense (note 14)
Make-whole charge on early redemption of debt (note 14)
Earnings for the year before income taxes
Tax expense
Current tax expense (note 17)
Deferred income tax recovery (note 17)
Total tax expense
Net earnings for the year
Weighted average number of basic shares outstanding (note 18)
Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding (note 18)
Basic earnings per share (note 19)
Diluted earnings per share (note 19)

$

$

$
$

615,063
641,757
1,356
1,258,176

$

574,831
420,511
599
995,941

99,011
113,433
422,794
335,843
(734)
8,551
(470)
978,428
279,748

111,482
84,705
270,467
259,417
(328)
4,636
(230)
730,149
265,792

79,420
78,588

70,915
74,409

40,658
5,049
76,033

34,601
–
85,867

22,723
(2,204)
20,519
55,514
105,153
106,829
0.53
0.52

54,381
(29,644)
24,737
61,130
98,091
98,749
0.62
0.62

$

$
$

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2017

For the years ended December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)
Net earnings for the year
Items that will not be reclassified to earnings
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (note 16)
Tax effect of remeasurements of defined benefit plans
Items that will be reclassified to earnings
Net investment hedge of U.S. dollar loans (note 23)
Tax effect of net investment hedge of U.S. dollar loans
Foreign currency translation differences from foreign operations
Comprehensive income for the year

$

$

55,514

2016
$

$61,130

(4,508)
1,195

3,641
(965)

8,785
(530)
(19,285)
41,171

(5,080)
125
10,794
$69,645

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
2017

For the years ended December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)
Share Capital
Balance – beginning of year
Shares issued, net of transaction costs (note 18)
Repurchase of shares (note 18)
Shares issued on debenture conversion (net of issue costs) (notes 14, 18)
Shares issued for Dividend Reinvestment Plan (note 18, 20)
Shares issued upon exercise of share options (note 18)
Share Capital - end of year

$

Treasury Shares
Balance – beginning of year
Shares repurchased on account of stock purchase plan (note 18)
Shares issued on account of stock purchase plan (note 18)
Treasury Shares – end of year

1,151,913
–
–
1,840
31,197
4,037
1,188,987

2016
$

914,074
233,564
–
696
2,078
1,501
1,151,913

(1,785)
(934)
812
(1,907)

(815)
(970)
–
(1,785)

2,056
(4)

1,215
(8)

1,067
(812)
(256)
2,051

916
–
(67)
2,056

8,618
(4,508)
8,785
(19,285)
(530)
1,195
(5,725)

103
3,641
(5,080)
10,794
125
(965)
8,618

Deficit
Balance – beginning of year
Net earnings for the year
Dividends (note 20)

(544,338)
55,514
(101,572)

(524,780)
61,130
(80,688)

Deficit – end of year

(590,396)

(544,338)

Contributed Surplus
Balance – beginning of year
Shares issued on debenture conversion (net of issue costs) (notes 14, 18)
Employee share options and stock purchase plan:
Value of services recognized
Value of services issued in shares
Shares issued upon exercise of share options
Contributed Surplus – end of year
Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) / Income
Balance – beginning of year
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (note 16)
Net investment hedge of US dollar loans (note 23)
Foreign currency translation differences from foreign operations
Tax effect of net investment hedge of US dollar loans
Tax effect of remeasurements of defined benefit plans (note 16)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) / Income – end of year

Shareholders' equity – end of year
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

593,010

$

616,464

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
2017

For the years ended December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)
Cash provided by/(used in):
Operating activities
Net earnings for the year
Items not affecting cash
Depreciation and amortization
Capital assets (note 8)
Intangible assets (note 9)
Net loss on disposal of equipment and other assets
Gain on retirement of finance lease obligations
Non-cash foreign exchange expense
Non-cash interest expense
Non-cash interest income
Defined benefit plan expense (note 16)
Employee share options and stock purchase plan
Deferred income tax recovery (note 17)
Deferred customer inducements
Financing receivables
Contributions to defined benefit pension plan

$

55,514

2016

$

61,130

79,420
78,588
8,551
(470)
127
2,610
(347)
4,513
1,067
(2,204)
(717)
(7,341)
(3,152)
216,159
(22,481)
193,678

70,915
74,409
4,636
(230)
(127)
1,892
(168)
4,606
916
(29,644)
(456)
(2,876)
(2,596)
182,407
(17,641)
164,766

(165,857)
(10,973)
(1,144)
(5,300)
(30,556)
–
1,245
2,495
11,319
(198,771)

(153,954)
(73)
–
–
–
(375,163)
1,104
2,364
7,634
(518,088)

$

(84,766)
(970)
–
230,710
1,434
15,000
258,320
(50,000)
(6,129)
(992)
(1,009)
361,598
1,726
8,276
28,413
38,415

$
$

36,571
29,090

Net change in non-cash working capital (note 28)
Cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of capital assets (note 8)
Purchase of intangible assets (note 9)
Acquisition of Church Services - net of cash received (note 32)
Acquisition of Hammond - net of cash received (note 32)
Acquisition of Aramendia - net of cash received (note 32)
Acquisition of SE - net of cash received (note 32)
Proceeds from disposal of vehicle leases
Proceeds from disposal of equipment - warranty recoveries
Proceeds from disposal of equipment - buyout receipts
Cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Dividends to shareholders
Purchase of treasury shares
Redemption of debentures (note 14)
Share issuance, net of transaction costs - SE
Proceeds from exercise of employee share options
Proceeds from revolving credit facility (note 14)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt (note 14)
Repayment of revolving line of credit (note 14)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases
Repayment of long-term debt (note 14)
Financing costs on long-term debt (note 14)
Cash (used in) / provided by financing activities
Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents
(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year (note 4)

$

(70,375)
(934)
(192)
–
3,781
65,000
500,000
(25,000)
(9,024)
(460,615)
(2,881)
(240)
(2,081)
(5,333)
38,415
31,001

Supplementary information
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

$
$

37,440
58,868

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except shares, per share and per subscription receipt amounts)

1. Organization and Nature of Business
Enercare Inc. (“Enercare”) holds all of the issued and outstanding shares of Enercare Solutions Inc. (“Enercare
Solutions”), which through its wholly-owned subsidiaries owns a portfolio of water heaters and other assets
which are primarily rented to customers in Ontario. Enercare also owns Enercare Connections Inc. (“Enercare
Connections”), which operates in the sub-metering (“Sub-metering”) business primarily in Ontario.
Enercare Solutions is the successor to The Consumers’ Waterheater Operating Trust. On October 20, 2014,
Enercare, through a subsidiary of Enercare Solutions, acquired the Ontario home and small commercial services
business of Direct Energy Marketing Limited (“DE”). The combined business unit is now referred to as “Enercare
Home Services”, which rents, sells and finances, water heaters, water treatment, furnaces, air conditioners and other
HVAC rental products, and provides protection plans and on demand duct cleaning, plumbing and related services.
On May 11, 2016, Enercare, through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Enercare Solutions, acquired,
through a merger, SEHAC Holdings Corporation (now SEHAC Holdings LLC or “SEHAC”) (the “SE Transaction”),
which owned the business operated under the Service Experts brands (“Service Experts”). Enercare purchased
100% of the outstanding shares of SEHAC. Service Experts provides sales, installation, maintenance and repair of
heating, ventilation and air conditioning (“HVAC”) systems directly to residential and light commercial customers
operating in locations in the United States and Canada.
Enercare Connections was formed through the amalgamation on January 1, 2012 of Stratacon Inc. and Enercare
Connections. On July 15, 2015, Enercare, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Enercare Connections, completed
its acquisition of Triacta Power Technologies Inc. (“Triacta”), a company in the design and manufacturing of
advanced, utility-grade energy management meters for multi-unit residential, commercial and institutional
applications. Triacta’s primary markets are Canada and the U.S.
The head office of Enercare is located at 7400 Birchmount Road, Markham, Ontario, L3R 5V4.

2. Basis of Preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). Enercare has consistently
applied the same accounting policies and methods of computation throughout all periods presented, as if these
policies had always been in effect, except for the adoption of new accounting standards as described in note 3
under “Adoption of New Accounting Standards”.
The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Canadian dollars, which is Enercare’s functional
currency and presentation currency. Certain subsidiaries acquired through the SE Transaction have a functional
currency of US dollars.
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified from the consolidated financial statements previously
presented to conform to the current year’s presentation. Additionally, as a result of the SE Transaction, certain
balances in the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, including accounts
receivable, intangible assets, goodwill, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and deferred tax liability, have
been revised (note 32).
These financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on March 5, 2018.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
described below.
Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
insurance provision claims (note 11), employee benefit plans (note 16) and assets held for sale (note 33).
Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of Enercare consolidate the accounts of its subsidiaries. All inter-company
transactions and balances from inter-company transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
Subsidiaries are those entities which Enercare controls. Enercare controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by
Enercare and are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. As of the date of these consolidated financial
statements, 100% of the operating results and equity of the subsidiaries is attributable to Enercare.
Business Combinations
Business combinations are presented in accordance with IFRS 3R. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are measured at their acquisition-date fair values. Any excess purchase price over the identifiable net
assets will be recorded as goodwill. Acquisition-related costs are expensed in the period in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received.
Assets Held for Sale
Enercare qualifies an asset or group of assets as held for sale when management is committed to a plan to sell,
the asset is available for immediate sale in its current state (subject to any conditions precedent that are usual in
such disposals) and the sale is highly probable within 12 months. When Enercare is committed to a plan to sell
a group of assets it classifies all of the assets and liabilities of the group concerned separately in the statement
of financial position and identifies these as assets and liabilities held for sale, at values corresponding to the
lower of the net carrying value and the fair value less disposal costs. Once classified as held for sale, the assets
will no longer be depreciated or amortized. These assets and liabilities are classified as current because they are
expected to be settled within 12 months. In addition, when the asset or group of assets held for sale represents
a major line of business, its contribution to the income statement is presented separately and its cash flow
contribution is presented in the statement of cash flows.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held with banks, and short-term investments with
maturities of less than 90 days after the date of purchase.
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Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when Enercare becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the
assets have expired or have been transferred and Enercare has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation is eliminated or Enercare is no longer
required to transfer economic resources to a third party in respect of the obligation.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
At initial recognition, Enercare classifies its financial instruments in the following categories depending on the
purpose for which the instruments were acquired:
(i)	Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: A financial asset or liability is
classified in this category if acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short-term.
	Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially and subsequently at fair value. Transaction costs
are expensed in the consolidated statement of income. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
are presented in the consolidated statement of income within other gains and losses in the period in which
they arise. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as current
except for the portion expected to be realized or paid beyond twelve months of the consolidated statement of
financial position, which is classified as non-current.
(ii)	Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Enercare’s loans and receivables are comprised primarily
of accounts receivables and cash and cash equivalents and are included in current assets due to their
short-term nature. It also includes financing receivables which are included in current and long-term assets
depending on their expected maturity. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected
to be received less, when material, a discount to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently,
loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less a provision
for impairment.
(iii)	Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, provisions, interest payable, dividends payable, deferred revenue, obligations under finance leases
and long-term debt. Amounts are initially recognized at the amount required to be paid less, when material, a
discount to reduce the amount to fair value. Subsequently, amounts are recognized at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method. Long-term debt is recognized initially at fair value, net of any transaction costs
incurred, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
	Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within twelve months. Otherwise, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.
(iv)	A portion of the 2016 Term Loan (see Note 14 & 23) is designated as a hedge with respect to the foreign
currency exposure as a result of Enercare’s net investment in its US operations. The 2016 Term Loan is
carried at amortized cost, however the foreign exchange translation adjustment related to the portion
designated as a hedge is recorded in OCI along with the cumulative translation adjustment associated with
the hedged item.
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Impairment of Financial Assets
At each reporting date, Enercare assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.
If such evidence exists, Enercare recognizes an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortized cost as
the difference between the amortized cost of the loan or receivable and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced by this amount either directly or indirectly through the use of an allowance account.
Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost are reversed in subsequent periods if the
amount of the loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognized.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less any provisions for doubtful debts. Provisions are
made where there is evidence of a risk of non-payment, taking into account ageing, previous experience and
general economic conditions. When an accounts receivable is determined to be uncollectable it is written off,
firstly against any provision available and then to the consolidated statement of income.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously provided for are credited to the consolidated statement of income.
Inventory
Inventory consists of furnaces, boilers, air conditioners held for sale or parts used in servicing equipment.
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventory is determined on a weighted
average cost basis.
Inventory is considered for obsolescence based on current estimates of future sales and use.
Provisions
Provisions for legal claims, where applicable, are recognized when Enercare has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at management’s best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period and are discounted
to present value where the effect is material. The discount rate, if applied, would be the risk free rate at the
measurement date. Enercare performs evaluations to identify onerous contracts and, where applicable, records
provisions for such contracts.
Insurance Claims Provisions
Enercare has insurance coverage for claims related to workers compensation, automobile and general liability
claims. This coverage includes a self-insured component which is funded to a third-party collateral account
based on estimated claim losses for the plan year. The balance of the collateral account at December 31, 2017
represents the net of payments made by Enercare to fund into the collateral account, less payments from the
collateral account to fund cost of paid claims (up to the self-insured retention), and is recognized as an asset in
the statement of financial position.
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Claims provisions are estimated by the appointed actuary and are based on assumptions such as historical
loss development factors, payment patterns, future rates of insurance claims frequency and severity, inflation,
expenses, taking into consideration the circumstances of the entity and the nature of the insurance policies. These
liabilities are recognized on the statement of financial position and changes are recognized within cost of goods
sold and claims expense in selling, general and administrative expenses on the statement of income.
Claims provisions are first determined on a case-by-case basis as insurance claims are reported and then
reassessed as additional information becomes known. Included in claims provision is an estimate for the future
development of these insurance claims, including insurance claims incurred but not reported by employees,
customers, or other third-parties (“IBNR”), as well as a provision for adverse deviations.
Capital Assets
Capital assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs
include expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset, including installation costs,
labour and direct overhead. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to Enercare and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced asset is derecognized
when replaced. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated statement of income during the
period in which they are incurred.
The major categories of capital assets are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets on a straightline basis as follows:
Rental equipment

16 years

Furniture and fixtures

3-5 years

Computer equipment

3-5 years

Computer software

2-10 years

Installed meters
Installed meters – other

10 years
length of the contract, typically 10-25 years

Vehicles

over the term of the lease

Leasehold improvements

over the term of the lease

Building
Land

20 years
Indefinite life

Residual values, method of amortization and useful lives of the assets are reviewed annually and
adjusted if appropriate.
Gains and losses on disposals of equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
of the asset and are included as part of loss on disposal of equipment in the consolidated statement of income.
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Leases
Leasing agreements which transfer to Enercare substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership of an asset
are treated as finance leases, as if the asset had been purchased outright. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated on a basis consistent with similar owned assets or the lease term if shorter. The interest element of
the finance leases is included in the consolidated statement of income. All other leases are operating leases and
the rental costs are charged to the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are predominantly related to contractual customer relationships, customer contracts, brands and
proprietary technology acquired in business combinations that are recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
The contractual customer relationships, customer contracts and proprietary technology have a finite useful life
and are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment charges. Amortization is calculated using
the straight-line method over the expected life of 10 to 20 years. Brands acquired through the SE Transaction are
determined to have indefinite lives.
Impairment of Non-financial Assets
Intangible assets and capital assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Indefinite life intangibles are reviewed for impairment annually
or at any time if an indicator of impairment exists. For the purposes of measuring recoverable amounts, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units
or “CGU”). The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use
(being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or CGU). An impairment loss is
recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. When there
are indications of a potential decrease in a prior period impairment loss, a reversal may be recognized through
the consolidated statements of income. A change in amortization may be required based upon the estimated
remaining service life.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of Enercare’s share of the
identifiable net assets of the acquired business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or at any time if an indicator of impairment exists.
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to a CGU or group of CGUs which corresponds to
the level at which goodwill is internally monitored by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM).
The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. A goodwill impairment
is recognized for any excess of the carrying amount of the CGU or groups of CGUs over its recoverable amount.
Goodwill impairments are not reversible.
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Convertible Debentures
The convertible debentures, issued in June and July 2010, have been recorded as a liability. The value of
the debentures has been reduced at issuance to reflect the fair value of the conversion feature of these
debentures. The reduction is accreted to earnings over the expected term of the debentures using the
effective interest rate method.
Long Term Compensation
Cash Based Payment Plans
Enercare has a Performance Share Unit Plan (“PSUP”) for eligible employees as described in note 30. Awards
are made in the form of phantom shares, which vest at the end of a three year period.
Enercare has also adopted the Deferred Share Unit Plan (“DSUP”) for non-employee directors as described
in note 30. In addition to annual grants, pursuant to the DSUP, directors will receive 50% of their fees in the
form of deferred share units until the director has met the director’s share ownership requirements. Directors
may also elect to have vested performance share units settled in deferred share units on a one-for-one basis
and may elect once each calendar year to receive any portion of their fees in the form of deferred share units
for the year. Such fee election can be changed on a quarterly basis. The vesting period is estimated to be
three years.
The PSUP and DSUP plan liabilities are based upon the product of the number of share units, the vesting
period, the average volume weighted share price for the five days preceding the last trading day of the period
and performance criteria established for each grant and plan at each consolidated statement of financial
position date. Enercare’s obligation for each plan is recorded in accounts payable and paid in cash, unless a
director elects to have vested performance share units settled in deferred share units.
Share Based Plan
Enercare has a stock option plan for officers of Enercare as described in note 30. At the date of grant,
options are valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model giving consideration to the terms of the plan
and Enercare’s performance. Recorded amounts are reflected in contributed surplus and the consolidated
statement of income for the period over the vesting period. The number of options expected to vest is
reviewed at least annually, with any impact being recognized immediately.
Employee Share Purchase Plan
Enercare has an Employee Share Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) for all eligible employees of Enercare. Under
the plan, employees can purchase shares of Enercare, up to a maximum of $10 per year or 5% of base
salary. Enercare will award one matching share for every two shares purchased by an employee over a two
year vesting period during which Enercare will recognize an expense over the vesting period. Employee
contributions held by Enercare at the end of a period are classified as restricted cash until such time the
funds are transferred to the administrative agent for the purchase of Enercare shares.
Income Tax
Enercare uses the liability method and determines deferred income tax assets and liabilities based on differences
between the accounting and tax value of assets and liabilities. These are measured using the currently enacted,
or substantially enacted, tax rates that will be in effect when the differences are anticipated to reverse. Deferred
income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.
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Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the consolidated statement of
income except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case income tax is also
recognized directly in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted, or substantially
enacted, at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect to previous years.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current.
Relationship with Franchisees
In certain regions of Ontario, Enercare outsources the sale of air conditioners, boilers, furnaces and other services
and protection plans to seven third party franchisees and earns royalties based on the revenue earned by the
franchisees. As part of the arrangement, which expires in 2034, Enercare facilitates the invoicing and collection
of receivable balances from the franchisees’ customers and remits the franchisees’ portion of the collected
amounts, thereby recognizing as revenue the royalty earned. Royalty revenue of $12,926 (2016 – $13,702) was
recognized during the year.
Enercare also manages an advertising fund (“Ad Fund”), established to collect and administer funds contributed
by the franchisees for use in advertising programs. Contributions to the Ad Fund are based on a percentage of
each franchisee’s revenue. In accordance with IAS 18 “Revenue”, these contributions are not recorded as revenue
but are netted against the advertising expenses incurred by Enercare as it is acting in substance, as an agent for
the franchisees with regard to these contributions.
Revenue
General
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to Enercare and delivery has
occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. These criteria are
met at the time the service is provided or equipment is installed and depending on the delivery condition,
title and risk have been passed to the customer and acceptance of the product, when contractually required,
has been obtained. Revenue is measured based on the contract price, net of discounts at the time of sale.
Amounts paid in advance of revenue recognition are recorded as deferred revenue. Revenue recognized prior
to invoicing is recorded as unbilled accounts receivable and is included in accounts receivable.
Enercare assesses the revenue recognition for principal versus agent considerations for its Sub-metering
contracted revenue and Enercare Home Services franchisee revenues. When a principal relationship exists,
revenue is recognized on a gross basis and when an agent relationship exists, revenue is recognized on a net basis.
Contract Revenues
Rental and Sub-metering Revenue
Rental revenue is primarily comprised of the rental of water heaters, furnaces, boilers and air
conditioners and is recognized on a monthly basis, in line with the terms of the rental agreement.
Sub-metering revenue is primarily comprised of sub-metering services related to individual suite
consumption of electricity, water, thermal energy and gas commodities in multi-residential and
commercial buildings. The revenue is recognized on a monthly basis over the term of the service
agreement as the services are provided to the customer.
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Protection Plans
Within this product offering, Enercare provides both maintenance service contracts and full service
protection plans. Under maintenance service contracts, Enercare is obligated to perform one annual
maintenance service on the customer’s equipment when requested by the customer. Maintenance service
revenue is recognized when the service is performed, or when the performance period has expired.
Enercare offers certain arrangements where multiple-element arrangements may exist. The amount of
revenue allocated to each element is based upon the relative fair values of the various elements. The
fair values of each element are determined based on the current market price of each of the elements
when sold separately.
Full service protection plans consist of fixed-fee service contracts for residential air conditioners and
furnaces directly with the end customer. These fixed-fee service contracts are for a twelve month
term and are billed annually, quarterly or monthly in advance. Amounts billed are initially recorded
as deferred revenue and recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the service
period. For protection plan sales originated by franchisees, Enercare earns royalties when the service
contract is sold to the customer as the franchisee retains the service obligation.
In the event that the estimated future costs of full service protection plan contracts exceed the
associated revenue to be recognized, a loss is recognized in net income immediately.
Sales and Other Services
Sale and Installation of Equipment
Sale and installation of equipment in the Home Services segment is primarily comprised of residential
furnaces, boilers and air conditioners through both the corporate and franchised regions. In the
Service Experts segment, sales and installations of equipment is primarily comprised of residential and
commercial furnaces and air conditioners. Revenue is recognized as the service is provided. For Submetering, revenue related to the sale and installation of water conservation products in apartments and
condominiums sales is recognized as the service is provided.
Other Services
Other services include chargeable services such as on demand repairs and maintenance and duct
cleaning, and royalties thereon when the services are performed by third party franchisees. Revenue
from other services is recognized when the services are provided.
Interest Expense and Financing Charges
Costs associated with the arrangement of long-term financing are netted against the carrying value of the debt
and amortized on an effective interest rate method over the expected term of the debt.
Foreign Currency Translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies at exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date
are re-measured to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Foreign currency differences arising
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on re-measurement are recognized through the statement of income. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of transaction.
Foreign currency gains and losses are reported in the statement of income on a net basis. The effect of currency
translation adjustments on cash and cash equivalents is presented separately in the statements of cash flows.
Foreign Operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated from their functional currency to the presentation currency at exchange rates at the
reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to the presentation currency using
average exchange rates for the period. Foreign currency differences are recognized in other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) in the foreign currency translation differences from foreign operations.
Financial instruments designated as a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of a net investment in foreign
operations that are effective as a hedge are reported in the same manner as the foreign currency translation
adjustment (in OCI) related to the net investment. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, such differences are
recognized in the statement of income.
Dividends
Dividends on shares are recognized in Enercare’s consolidated financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by Enercare’s board of directors.
Enercare has adopted a dividend reinvestment plan (“DRIP”), which allows all Canadian shareholders to elect to
have some or all cash dividends reinvested in additional shares on a monthly basis. Shares issued under DRIP
are at a price equal to 95% of the weighted average purchase price of the shares during the five business days
immediately prior to the dividend payment date. Dividend shares and the 5% bonus shares are recognized in
Enercare’s consolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by Enercare’s
board of directors.
Additional IFRS Measures Presented – EBITDA
Enercare has included the presentation of an additional IFRS measure, EBITDA (“Earnings Before Interest, Taxes,
Depreciation and Amortization”) within the Consolidated Statements of Income. This measure is comprised of net
earnings plus income taxes, interest expense, and depreciation and amortization expense. EBITDA is one of the
metrics used to determine Enercare’s ability to service its debt, finance capital expenditures, and provide for the
payment of dividends to shareholders.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
Enercare makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Management
continually evaluates estimates and judgments which are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results
could differ from those estimates. The following items are of significance for the period.
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Revenue Accruals
At December 31, 2017, the Enercare Home Services segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately
$44,200 reflecting accrued service periods, compared to $46,400 at December 31, 2016. Unbilled protection
plans comprise approximately $26,900 of this balance, compared to $28,200 at December 31, 2016. This
balance is predominantly made up of protection plans sold in franchisee service areas, which are recognized
as royalty revenue at inception but are invoiced over a period of twelve months. The remaining unbilled
revenues reflect accrued service revenues for rental water heaters and other products.
At December 31, 2017, the Service Experts segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $4,500,
primarily reflecting accrued revenue for contracts in progress, compared to $2,300 at December 31, 2016.
At December 31, 2017, the Sub-metering segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $10,200,
reflecting accrued service periods, compared to $10,000 at December 31, 2016.
Bad Debt Provisions
The Enercare Home Services segment is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business for
customers who are billed directly by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. (“EGD”) within its service territory and
secondarily when billed by Enercare or are billed by EGD outside of its service territory. For billing within the
EGD service territory, Enercare is guaranteed payment by EGD for 99.51% in 2017 and 2016 of the amount
billed (subject to certain exceptions) 21 calendar days after the invoices are issued.
Management evaluates a number of factors and assumptions in the determination of the bad debt provision.
The total bad debt provision comprising the Enercare Home Services, Sub-metering and Service Experts
segments was approximately $14,800 at December 31, 2017, compared to approximately $11,800 at the
end of 2016. Changes in any of the variables or assumptions may result in a materially different amount.
Leases
Management applies judgment in its assessment of Enercare’s arrangements with customers when
determining the classification of leases and the extent to which the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
resides with the company or the customer.
Impairment of Non-Financial Assets and Goodwill
Impairment tests are conducted at least annually, or when events or circumstances indicate impairment may
exist. The recoverable amount is based upon a number of assumptions, including but not limited to: discount
rates, billable units, cash flows and expenses. Changes in any of these assumptions may result in a materially
different recoverable amount.
Employee Benefit Plans
Employee defined benefit plan balances, as described in note 16, are subject to a number of assumptions.
The actuarial valuations rely on estimates and assumptions including those for wage escalation, mortality,
health care and dental costs inflation, retirement ages, life expectancies and discount rates. Changes in these
estimates could have a material impact on the employee benefit plans liability and employee benefit plan costs.
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Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that realization is considered probable. Judgments regarding
projected future income and tax planning strategies are considered in making this assessment.
Business Combination
With respect to the fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities and other adjustments related to
acquisitions, as described in notes 32 and 34, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared
using the acquisition method of accounting, in accordance with IFRS 3R, Business Combinations, under
which, the total fair value of the consideration transferred has been assigned to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of the acquisition, with any excess
purchase price allocated to goodwill. Changes may be expected as additional information becomes available
following the closing dates. Accordingly, the final fair values determined may differ from those set forth in
these consolidated financial statements and such differences may be material.
Estimation of Insurance Claims
Insurance liabilities are subject to measurement uncertainty. The recognized amounts of such items are
based on Enercare’s best information and judgment. Estimates and other judgments are continuously
evaluated based on management’s experience and expectations about future events, including insurance
claims for events that have occurred but not yet been reported to management.
Adoption of New Accounting Standards
Enercare has adopted new or revised standards as required by IFRS, effective January 1, 2017.
IAS 7, “Statement of cash flows” (“IAS 7”), has been amended by the IASB to introduce additional disclosure that
will allow users to understand changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. This amendment to IAS 7 is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Enercare has assessed the impact of adopting
this amendment on these consolidated financial statements and has modified its debt disclosure to include
movements in net debt between changes arising from cash and non-cash changes.
Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Applied
The following are accounting policy changes to be implemented by Enercare in future periods:
Revenue Recognition
IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“IFRS 15”), provides a comprehensive five-step
revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers. The IFRS 15 revenue recognition model requires
management to exercise significant judgment and make estimates that affect revenue recognition. IFRS 15
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted.
Enercare is adopting this new standard on a full retrospective basis.
Enercare has assessed the impact of IFRS 15 on the consolidated financial statements and its revenue
recognition policies and has identified the following key impacts: (1) Upon adoption, Enercare anticipates
recognizing certain contracted sub-metering revenues related to individual suite consumption of electricity,
water, thermal energy and gas commodities in multi-residential and commercial buildings on a net basis,
whereby the revenues will be recognized net of the related commodity charges associated with the service.
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This retrospective change will decrease Sub-metering segment revenues for the year ended December 31, 2017
by approximately $99,011, with a corresponding adjustment to commodity charges. This change, however,
does not impact consolidated net earnings or EBITDA. (2) For the Enercare Home Services segment, Enercare
identified elements of variable consideration relating to customer credits impacting the transaction price for its
portfolio of rental contracts, however, Enercare is currently evaluating the impact of this change.
Enercare is adopting IFRS 15 effective January 1, 2018, using the full retrospective basis and is in the
process of implementing the appropriate changes in processes and internal controls to support revenue
recognition and disclosure under the new standard. The accounting policy and the full impact of the new
standards will be disclosed in the first quarter of 2018.
Financial Instruments
The final version of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”), was issued by the IASB in July 2014 and
will replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 9 introduces a model
for classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking “expected loss” impairment model and
a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. The new single, principle-based approach for
determining the classification of financial assets is driven by cash flow characteristics and the business
model in which an asset is held. The new model also results in a single impairment model being applied to
loans and receivables measured at amortized cost, which will require more timely recognition of expected
credit losses. It also includes changes in respect of own credit risk in measuring liabilities elected to be
measured at fair value, so that gains caused by the deterioration of an entity’s own credit risk on such
liabilities are no longer recognized in profit or loss. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2018. In applying IFRS 9, Enercare expects that certain of its receivables, in particular,
those issued at a discount to the contractual par amount, will not consist solely of payments of principal and
interest due to prepayment features and will be measured at fair value through profit and loss. However,
Enercare anticipates the majority of its receivables will be measured at amortized cost. Enercare plans to
use the full three stage impairment model for those receivables measured at amortized cost recognizing
twelve months of expected credit losses on those receivables without significant increases in credit risk and
lifetime expected credit losses for those receivables that have significant increases in credit risk. Enercare’s
assessment did not indicate any material impact regarding the classification of financial liabilities upon
adoption of IFRS 9. Enercare does not expect its cash flows to be materially affected by the application of the
standard and will reflect all new disclosure requirements affected by the introduction of IFRS 9 in the first
quarter of 2018.
Financial Instruments Disclosures
IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (“IFRS 7”), has been amended by the IASB to require additional
disclosures on transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The amendment to IFRS 7 is effective for periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2018. Enercare continues to evaluate the impact of adopting this standard on the
consolidated financial statements. While Enercare’s preliminary assessments regarding the impact of the
proposed changes are not material, the final impact and disclosure will be included with the 2018 first
quarter results.
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Share-based payments
IFRS 2, “Share-based payments” (“IFRS 2”), has been amended by the IASB to clarify the accounting for cashsettled share-based payment transactions that include a performance condition, the classification of sharebased payment transactions with net settlement features and the accounting for modifications of share-based
payment transactions from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments to IFRS 2 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Enercare has assessed the impact of adopting this amendment
on these consolidated financial statements and concluded that no adjustments to the current measurement of
share-based payment transactions are required on the adoption of the amendment. There will be no impact to
the consolidated financial statements on application of the amendment.
Leases
IFRS 16, “Leases” (“IFRS 16”), sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of
leases. IFRS 16 provides revised guidance on identifying a lease and for separating lease and non-lease
components of a contract. IFRS 16 introduces a single accounting model for all lessees and requires
a lessee to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms of more than twelve
months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Under IFRS 16, lessor accounting for operating and
finance leases will remain substantially unchanged. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2019, with earlier application permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15. Enercare is
currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements.

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents
2017

As at December 31,

2016

Cash at bank

$

31,001

$

38,415

Ending balance

$

31,001

$

38,415

5. Accounts and Other Receivables
2017

As at December 31,
Billed accounts receivable

$

Unbilled accounts receivable
Current taxes receivable

$

88,382

58,913

58,699

5,682

2,342

(14,813)

Bad and doubtful debt provision
Accounts and other receivables (net of provision)

99,491

2016

(11,806)

$

149,273

$

137,617

$

11,806

$

11,405

Bad and doubtful debt provision:
Opening balance

3,007

Charge for the year
Provision ending balance

$

14,813

401
$
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Unbilled accounts receivable of $26,948 (2016 – $28,179), primarily relate to protection plans sold in franchisee
service areas which are recognized as royalty revenue at inception but are invoiced over a period of twelve
months. The remaining unbilled accounts receivable reflect the unbilled service periods for residential water
heaters and other products.

6. Financing Receivables
Financing receivables consist of loans to customers resulting from HVAC sales, which can be financed up to
180 months. Outstanding balances can be repaid at any time without penalty. The following table summarizes
the activity related to the financing receivables for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:
2017

As at December 31,
Balance as at January 1

$

$

10,454

Financing receivables added in the period
Repayments
Prepayments
Balance, end of period

2,876

2016

$

–
3,230

(860)

(58)

(2,253)

(296)

10,217

$

2,876

7. Inventory
2017

As at December 31,
Inventory

$

$

(476)

Reclassification to assets held for sale (note 33)

17,032
–

(740)

Less: inventory obsolescence
Inventory (net of provision)

18,050

2016

(1,001)

$

16,834

$

16,031

$

1,001

$

781

Inventory obsolescence provision:
Opening balance

(261)

(Reversal) / charge for the year
Provision ending balance

$

740

220
$

1,001

During the year ended December 31, 2017, $195,065 (2016 – $128,372) of inventory was recognized as part
of cost of goods sold and services provided in the consolidated statement of income.
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8. Capital Assets
Rental
Equipment

Metering
Equipment

Vehicles

Buildings

Land

Other

Total

At December 31, 2015:
Cost

$

Accumulated depreciation

9,226 $

– $

– $ 22,162 $ 1,012,100

(433,372)

905,742 $

(24,644)

74,970 $

(2,531)

–

–

– $

(8,962)

(469,509)

Net book value

$

472,370 $

50,326 $

6,695 $

– $ 13,200 $

542,591

Additions

$

118,671 $

18,902 $

7,943 $ 4,295 $ 6,100 $ 12,482 $

168,393

Loss on disposal before proceeds
Acquisition – Service Experts
Foreign exchange
Depreciation for the year
At December 31, 2016

$

(14,876)

(43)

(819)

–

–

–

(15,738)

–

–

23,254

3,234

2,544

3,704

32,736

(1)

–

654

125

101

187

1,066

(50,818)

(5,989)

(7,386)

(165)

–

(6,557)

(70,915)

525,346 $

63,196 $ 30,341 $ 7,489 $ 8,745 $ 23,016 $

658,133

At December 31, 2016:
Cost

$

Accumulated depreciation

979,804 $

93,646 $ 39,636 $ 7,658 $ 8,745 $ 38,529 $ 1,168,018

(454,458)

(30,450)

(9,295)

(169)

–

(15,513)

(509,885)

Net book value

$

525,346 $

63,196 $ 30,341 $ 7,489 $ 8,745 $ 23,016 $

658,133

Additions

$

127,679 $

17,992 $ 16,055 $ 6,596 $

– $ 10,464 $

178,786

Loss on disposal before proceeds
Acquisition – Church Services
(note 32)

(16,527)

(69)

(968)

–

–

(881)

(18,445)

–

–

–

–

–

261

261

Acquisition – Hammond (note 32)

–

–

242

–

–

137

379

Acquisition – Aramendia (note 32)

–

–

1,006

–

–

79

1,085

Foreign exchange

75

-

(1,504)

(203)

(174)

(396)

(2,202)

(54,628)

(6,733)

(9,578)

(560)

–

(7,921)

(79,420)

Transfers of work in progress to
intangibles

–

–

–

–

–

(6,210)

(6,210)

Reclassification to assets held
for sale (note 33)

–

–

(1,389)

–

–

(18)

(1,407)

Depreciation for the year

At December 31, 2017

$

581,945 $

74,386 $ 34,205 $ 13,322 $ 8,571 $ 18,531 $

730,960

At December 31, 2017:
Cost

$ 1,060,914 $ 111,403 $ 50,657 $ 14,031 $ 8,571 $ 39,216 $ 1,284,792

Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

$

(478,969)

(37,017)

581,945 $

74,386 $ 34,205 $ 13,322 $ 8,571 $ 18,531 $

(16,452)

(709)

–

(20,685)

(553,832)
730,960

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the non-cash portion of additions decreased in the amount of
$29 (2016 – $332 increase) for rental equipment and a decrease of $2,982 (2016 – $6,164 increase) for
metering equipment. Included within the additions is $15,940 (2016 – $7,943) related to the purchases of
vehicles under finance lease, which has also increased the respective obligations under finance leases by
$15,940 (2016 – $7,943). Repayment of obligations under finance leases of $9,024 (2016 – $6,129) for the
year ended December 31, 2017 has been included within the statements of cash flows. Additions related to
building, land and improvements primarily include Enercare’s corporate headquarters purchased during 2016.
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9. Intangible Assets
Customer
Relationships

Proprietary
Technology and
Brands
Software

Customer
Contracts

Other

Total

At December 31, 2015:
Cost

$ 1,146,528

Accumulated depreciation

$

(623,699)

33,270

$

–

3,800

–

(656,135)

522,829

$

1,008

$

–

$

3,626 $

– $

527,463

Acquisition – Service Experts

$

161,450

$

–

$

73,621

$

–

– $

235,071

Amortization for the year
At December 31, 2016

$

–

–

73

–

–

73

5,521

–

2,555

–

–

8,076

(73,937)
$

(174)

– $ 1,183,598

$

Foreign exchange

–

$

Net book value
Additions

(32,262)

$

(92)

615,863

$

$ 1,313,650

$

–

(380)

916

$

76,249

$

3,246

$

33,270

$

76,249

$

3,800

$

–

(74,409)

– $

696,274

At December 31, 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

(697,787)

(32,354)

–

(554)

– $ 1,426,969
–

(730,695)

Net book value

$

615,863

$

916

$

76,249

$

3,246 $

– $

696,274

Acquisition – Church Services
(note 32)

$

209

$

–

$

–

$

–

– $

209

Acquisition – Hammond (note 32)

1,033

–

786

Acquisition – Aramendia (note 32)

$

–

–

1,819

2,400

–

8,741

–

77

11,218

Additions

–

–

–

10,078

895

10,973

Transfers of software from
capital assets

–

–

–

6,210

–

6,210

Disposals for the year

–

–

–

(5,165)

–

(5,165)

Foreign exchange
Amortization for the year
Reclassification to assets held
for sale (note 33)
At December 31, 2017

$

(9,078)

–

(4,554)

29

(2)

(13,605)

(77,641)

(163)

–

(784)

–

(78,588)

(3,939)

–

(2,215)

–

–

(6,154)

528,847

$

753

$

79,007

$

13,614

$

970 $

623,191

$ 1,303,023

$

33,270

$

79,007

$

14,952

$

970 $ 1,431,222

$

79,007

$

13,614 $

At December 31, 2017:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

(774,176)
$

528,847

(32,517)
$

753

–

(1,338)

–

(808,031)

970 $

623,191

Disposals consist of the non-recurring write-off of $5,165 during the year ended December 31, 2017 for
software intangible assets related to an enterprise resource planning system which was being implemented by
Service Experts.
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10. Goodwill
The following table provides details by reporting segment regarding the changes in the carrying amounts of
goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Enercare
Home
Services
Opening balance January 1, 2016

$

142,666

Submetering
$

4,898

Service
Experts
$

–

Acquisition – Service Experts

–

–

227,459

Foreign exchange

–

–

8,012

At December 31, 2016

$

142,666

$

4,898

$

Acquisition – Church Services (note 32)

$

–

$

–

$

Acquisition – Hammond (note 32)

–

–

Total
$

147,564
227,459
8,012

235,471

$

849

$

2,965

383,035
849
2,965

Acquisition – Aramendia (note 32)

–

–

18,368

18,368

Foreign exchange

–

–

(12,958)

(12,958)

Reclassification to assets held
for sale (note 33)

–

–

(9,131)

(9,131)

At December 31, 2017

$

142,666

$

4,898

$

235,564

$

383,128

As described in note 3, Significant Accounting Policies, goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually, or at any
time if an indicator of impairment exists.
For the annual impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets, recoverable amounts are
determined based on fair value less cost of disposal using discounted cash flows. The cash flow projections
relating to the goodwill for the Sub-metering, Enercare Home Services and Service Experts segments were
established based on various assumptions. The following table summarizes the critical assumptions that were
used in estimating fair value for the various entities:
Assumptions
Estimated average revenue growth rate

Range
1.2% to 20.6%

Terminal growth factor

2.0% to 3.0%

Post tax discount rate

8.1% to 13.5%

Management has concluded that no impairment charge was required for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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11. Collateral Deposits and Insurance Claims Provisions
Enercare’s Service Experts business uses a third-party insurance company to provide coverage for workers
compensation, automotive and general liability claims. Certain amounts paid to this insurance company are
utilized to settle claim amounts above Enercare’s insurance deductible limit, if and when these arise. The balance
of the payments to this insurance company are to a general collateral deposit account which has been classified
as a current asset and is used to fund claim payments related to the insurance claims provision. The insurance
claims provision is a current liability estimating the amounts required to settle outstanding claims related to
insured events below Enercare’s insurance deductible limit. There is no legal right to offset the collateral amount
with the claims provision.
2017

As at December 31,

2016

Collateral Deposits
Opening balance January 1

$

Acquisition – Service Experts
Additional deposits during the year
Claims spending during the year

$

–

–

9,122

4,732

3,391

(6,205)

(3,040)

(597)

Foreign exchange
Ending balance

9,842

369

$

7,772

$

9,842

$

7,990

$

–

Insurance Claim Provisions
Opening balance January 1
Acquisition – Service Experts
Additional provisions charged to the consolidated statement of income
Claims spending during the year

8,234
2,483

(6,610)

(3,040)

(572)

Foreign exchange
Ending balance

–
8,002

$

8,810

313
$

7,990

12. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
2017

As at December 31,
Accounts payable

$

$

41,177

Accruals

59,028

56,209

Compensation payable

39,022

31,391

9,778

10,534

88

32,850

5,575

6,822

Accrued commodity
Current taxes payable
Other payables

(309)

Reclassification to liabilities held for sale (note 33)
Ending balance

98

47,149

2016
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$

160,331

–
$

178,983

13. Obligations Under Finance Leases
Obligations under vehicle finance leases are secured by the leased vehicles. Enercare has master lease
agreements with various lessors, where the lessors will acquire vehicles and lease them to Enercare.
The obligations under finance leases in the Enercare Home Services segment bear floating interest rates that are
either 2.5% above the one month banker’s acceptance rate per annum or equal to the yield of interest rate swaps
as quoted in the Federal Reserve system per annum. The obligations under vehicle finance leases in the Service
Experts segment during the period bear fixed interest rates of 0.97% to 2.44%, at floating interest rates that are
2.5% above the three month banker’s acceptance rate or 0.75% above the three month LIBOR rate per annum.
The finance leases mature at dates ranging between January 2018 and September 2024. During the year ended
December 31, 2017, Enercare recognized $807 (2016 – $526) of interest expense related to the obligations
under finance leases.
2017

As at December 31,
$

Obligations under finance leases

30,786

2016
$

(8,970)

Less: current portion

(1,362)

Reclassification to liabilities held for sale (note 33)
$

25,624
(11,216)
–

20,454

$

Interest

Lease Payments

14,408

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases are as follows:
As at December 31,
Due in 2018

Principal
$

9,397

$

683

$

10,080

Due in 2019

8,626

449

9,075

Due in 2020

7,151

241

7,392

Due in 2021

4,428

92

4,520

Due in 2022

1,173

11

1,184

11

–

11

Thereafter
$

30,786

$

1,476

$
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14. Debt
Current and long term debts
As at December 31, 2015

Net Draws/
Noncurrent (Repayments)

Current
2013 Notes

$

Cash Flows

Non-Cash Changes

Deferred
Financing
Costs on
New Debt

Foreign
Exchange

Transfer
to Current
Portion

As at December 31, 2016

Amortization
of Financing
Costs
– $

Noncurrent

– $ 225,000 $

– $

– $

– $

2012 Notes

–

250,000

–

–

–

250,000

–

250,000

–

2014 Term Loan

–

210,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

210,000

2016 Term Loan

– $

Current

– $ 225,000

–

–

258,320

–

10,220

–

–

–

268,540

Stratacon Debt

992

822

(992)

–

–

615

–

615

207

2014 Revolver

–

50,000

(35,000)

–

–

–

–

–

15,000

Financing fees

–

(2,282)

-

(1,009)

–

–

1,025

–

(2,266)

Total

$

992 $ 733,540 $ 222,328 $ (1,009) $ 10,220 $ 250,615 $

As at December 31, 2016

Net Draws/
Noncurrent (Repayments)

Current
2013 Notes

$

Cash Flows

– $ 225,000 $

– $

1,025 $ 250,615 $ 716,481

As at December 31, 2017

Non-Cash Changes

Deferred
Financing
Costs on
New Debt

Foreign
Exchange

Transfer
to Current
Portion

Amortization
of Financing
Costs

Current

Noncurrent

– $

– $

– $

– $

– $ 225,000

2017 Notes

–

–

500,000

–

–

–

–

–

2012 Notes

250,000

–

(250,000)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

210,000

(210,000)

–

–

–

–

–

–

2014 Term Loan

500,000

–

268,540

–

–

(17,640)

–

–

–

250,900

Stratacon Debt

615

207

(615)

–

–

126

–

126

81

2014 Revolver

–

15,000

40,000

–

–

–

–

–

55,000

Financing fees

–

(2,266)

–

(2,881)

–

–

1,696

–

(3,451)

2016 Term Loan

Total

$ 250,615 $ 716,481 $

79,385 $ (2,881) $(17,640) $

126 $

1,696 $

126 $1,027,530

The senior debt includes the $225,000 4.60% 2013-1 Senior Unsecured Notes (the “2013 Notes”) maturing
on February 3, 2020, with semi-annual interest payments due on February 3 and August 3 in each year. On
March 23, 2017, the $250,000 4.30% 2012-1 Senior Unsecured Notes (the “2012 Notes”) were redeemed.
The remaining unamortized financing costs of $364 were amortized into interest expense upon the repayment
of the 2012 Notes.
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The senior debt also includes Enercare Solutions’ completed debt offering on February 21, 2017 of $500,000
aggregate principal amount, consisting of $275,000 of “2017-1 Notes” and $225,000 of “2017-2 Notes”
(together, the “2017 Notes”), maturing on February 21, 2022 and February 21, 2024, respectively. The 2017-1
Notes were sold at a price of 99.982% of the principal amount, with an effective yield of 3.38% per annum if held
to maturity and the 2017-2 Notes were sold at a price of 99.982% of the principal amount, with an effective yield
of 3.99% per annum if held to maturity. Deferred financing costs of $2,881 are in relation to the issuance of the
2017-1 Notes and 2017-2 Notes.
The proceeds of the offering were used to repay the 2014 Term Loan on February 23, 2017, redeem the
2012 Notes on March, 23 2017, and repay a portion of the 2014 Revolver.
The 2014 Term Loan was repaid on February 23, 2017 and consisted of a $210,000 non-revolving, nonamortizing variable rate term loan (the “2014 Term Loan”). The 2014 Term Loan bore interest at a variable rate
based upon the prime rate plus 0.25%, which was 2.95% at the time of repayment. The remaining unamortized
financing costs of $406 were amortized into interest expense upon the repayment of the 2014 Term Loan.
In conjunction with the SE Transaction, on May 11, 2016, Enercare Solutions entered into a USD $200,000
4-year variable rate term credit facility, (the “2016 Term Loan”) maturing on May 11, 2020, which bears interest
at LIBOR plus 125 basis points, or base rate plus 25 basis points at Enercare Solutions’ credit rating as of the
date hereof which was 2.79% at December 31, 2017. Deferred financing costs of $1,009 in 2016 are in relation
to the 2016 Term Loan entered into in conjunction with the SE Transaction.
Debt was assumed in connection with the Stratacon acquisition in 2008. The secured debt of $207 as at
December 31, 2017 was arranged in a series of advances bearing interest at rates between 7.50% and 8.75%
with repayment terms ranging from 4 to 14 years ending in 2022. On January 26, 2018 Enercare repaid the
outstanding balance of its Stratacon debt.
On October 20, 2014, Enercare Solutions entered into a $100,000, five-year revolving, non-amortizing
variable rate credit facility (the “2014 Revolver”), which has a standby fee of 0.25%. During the fourth quarter
of 2016, Enercare Solutions increased the 2014 Revolver limit to $200,000, maintaining the same terms. At
December 31, 2017, a total of $55,000 was drawn bearing interest at a variable rate based upon the banker’s
acceptance rate plus 1.25%, which was 2.80% at December 31, 2017. As of March 5, 2018, $90,000 was
drawn on the 2014 Revolver.
The 2013 Notes, 2014 Revolver, 2016 Term Loan and 2017 Notes contain the following financial covenants
(i) all additional incurrences of senior debt, with certain exceptions, must, on the date of incurrence, result in a
pro forma ratio equal to or greater than 3.8 to 1.0 of Incurrence EBITDA (as defined in the indenture) to Net
Interest Expense (as defined in the indenture); (ii) the ratio of total debt (other than subordinated debt) to
“Adjusted EBITDA” must be less than 4.75:1; and (iii) the ratio of Adjusted EBITDA to “Cash Interest Expense”
must be greater than 3.00:1.
Enercare was in compliance with all covenants under the 2013 Notes, Stratacon Debt, 2014 Revolver, 2016
Term Loan and 2017 Notes as at December 31, 2017.
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Convertible Debentures
On June 8, 2010 and July 6, 2010, Enercare issued a total of $27,883 of 6.25% convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures, $24,774 net of issue costs, with interest payable semi-annually on June 30 and
December 31, commencing December 31, 2010, until maturity in June 2017. Each convertible debenture was
convertible into shares of Enercare at the option of the holder at a conversion price of $6.48 per share
(or 154.3210 shares per $1,000 principal amount of convertible debentures). The convertible debentures
matured on June 30, 2017 and Enercare paid for the outstanding principal amount of $192 plus accrued and
unpaid interest in cash.
The following table summarizes the movement of the convertible debentures:
2017

As at December 31,

2016

Convertible Debentures:
Opening principal

$

2,032

$

Principal conversions

$

2,728

2,019

$

2,680

(1,840)

$

(13)

Financing costs
Opening balance at January 1:

$

(48)
(696)

(192)

Maturity of debentures

–

Transfer of financing costs to equity upon conversion/maturity

4

8

Amortization of financing costs to expense

9

27

Ending balance

$

–

$

2,019

Principal balance

$

–

$

2,032

$

2,019

–

Financing costs
Ending balance

$

–

(13)

Interest Expense
2017
Interest expense payable in cash

$

Interest payable on subscription receipts
Equity bridge financing fees
Make whole payment on early repayment of senior debt

38,048

2016
$

30,294

–

2,217

–

198

5,049

–

904

840

Non-cash items:
Notional interest on employee benefit plans

1,706

Amortization of financing costs
Interest expense

$

45,707

1,052
$

34,601

Interest expense payable in cash is primarily associated with debt and convertible debenture activity. Notional
interest relates to employee benefits plans acquired and amortization of financing costs includes previously
unamortized costs associated with debt. A make whole payment for the early redemption of the 2012 Notes
during 2017 resulted in $5,049 of one-time interest expense.
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As part of the SE Transaction, SE Subscription Receipts were issued and were subsequently exchanged for shares
in conjunction with the closing of the SE Transaction. Equity bridge financing fees of $198 were incurred as part
of the SE Transaction in 2016.

15. Protection Plan Contracts
Full service protection plans are fixed-fee service contracts for residential air conditioners and furnaces. The
contracts protect the customer against the risk of breakdowns, resulting in the transfer of an element of risk to
Enercare. Benefits provided to the customer vary in accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract
entered into; however, they generally include maintenance, repair and/or replacement of items affected. A provision
for anticipated claims is not recognized due to the short elapsed time between an incident and settlement.
The levels of risk exposure and service provision to customers are dependent on the occurrence of uncertain
future events, in particular the nature and frequency of faults and the cost of repair or replacement of the items
affected. Accordingly, the timing and amount of future cash outflows associated with the contracts is uncertain.
The key terms and conditions that affect future cash flows are as follows:
The provision of parts and labour for repairs, dependent on the agreement and associated level of service; and
There is no limit to the number of call-outs to carry out repair work and limits on certain servicing and repair costs.
When the estimated future costs of protection plan contracts exceed the associated revenue to be recognized, a
loss is recognized in net earnings immediately. The future costs of the protection plan contracts are dependent
on the number and nature of service requests for the associated equipment. Management estimates the future
costs of protection plan contracts based on its historical experience of service requests for similar equipment and
manages risk by monitoring the cost of service requests, product reliability and limiting a majority of the contract
terms to one year.
Amounts recognized relating to revenues related to protection plans and maintenance contracts are as follows:
2017
Revenue

$

136,037

2016
$

105,132

Total deferred revenue and service obligations recognized on the consolidated financial statements include
the following:
2017

As at December 31,
Deferred revenue

$

$

–

Service obligations
$

40,914

32,063
9,346

(2,376)

Reclassification to liabilities held for sale (note 33)
Deferred revenue and service obligations

43,290

2016

–
$
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The movement relating to the service obligation as a result of the SE Transaction is as follows:
2017

As at December 31,
Opening balance as of January 1

$

$

–

Additions to obligations through acquisition of Service Experts

(16,549)

(204)

Foreign exchange
$

–

–
25,393

(9,142)

Released during the year
Service obligation

9,346

2016

502
$

9,346

16. Employee Benefit Plans
Enercare provides a Registered Pension Plan (“RPP”) to qualifying employees, which has both defined benefit and
defined contribution components. The defined benefits provide for partially indexed pensions based on years of
service and the final 5 years’ average earnings for contributory service and final 3 years’ average earning for
non-contributory service. The defined benefit component of the RPP is closed to new members.
Enercare also provides other post-employment benefits other than pensions to qualifying employees (“OPEB”),
these include medical, dental and insurance benefits. The OPEB is closed to new members.
The cost of employee benefit plans is recognized as the transferred employees provide service to Enercare and
the obligation for these plans were measured individually at December 31, 2017 and 2016, as the present
value of the benefit obligation less the fair value of plan assets. The cost of the defined benefit plan is actuarially
determined using the projected unit credit method and the use of best estimates of compensation level increase,
retirement ages of workers, mortality rates, health costs and other factors. Remeasurements, which include
actuarial gains and losses, are recognized in other comprehensive income, with the exception of any changes to
the reimbursement amount prior to the transfer of the plan, as described above.
REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
The RPP is a registered pension plan under the Ontario Pension Benefits Act (“PBA”), which requires certain
minimum benefit standards and funding levels. Minimum funding requirements under the PBA are determined
based on actuarial valuations on both a going concern and solvency basis that are required at a minimum of every
three years. The last actuarial valuation for funding purposes was as at January 1, 2017 and the next valuation
will be prepared prior to January 1, 2020. Deficits under the going concern basis may be funded over a period
up to 15 years, beginning one year from the valuation date. In addition, solvency valuations must be performed
which simulate a plan wind-up. Deficiencies established on a solvency basis may be funded over a period of up to
five years, beginning one year from the valuation date (post-retirement cost of living adjustments are not required
to be included in the solvency liabilities).
The OPEB is not funded in advance.
FUNDING OF THE RPP
Enercare’s practice is to contribute to the RPP the minimum required under the PBA, but additional contributions
may be made at Enercare’s discretion. The employees do not make contributions to the RPP.
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GOVERNANCE OF DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS
Enercare assumed the sponsorship and administration of the RPP on January 28, 2016 from DE. Enercare
now oversees the administration of the pension plans in accordance with applicable legislation and approved
the governance structure, including the mandates of those to whom administrative duties and responsibilities
were delegated.
RISKS
Given that employees do not make contributions to the employee benefit plans, Enercare generally bears the
risks associated with the defined benefit plans. Sources of risks for Enercare’s defined benefit plans as at
December 31, 2017 include:
Investment Risk
The pension plans invest their assets in a variety of asset classes including Canadian equity, US equity,
international equity, emerging markets, universe and long term fixed income, and real estate. All of these asset
classes contain investment risk. Fixed income investments are generally a better match to the liability profile of a
pension plan, but other asset classes are generally expected to earn a higher return over a long time horizon.
As the RPP plan is a funded plan and is invested in a variety of asset classes, market return is a significant source
of risk to the pension plan. Asset return impacts both the progression of the balance sheet liability over time and
the contributions that are required to keep the plan funded over the long term.
Corporate Bond Yields
The discount rate used when reporting the liability for the statement of financial position purposes is determined
in reference to corporate bond yields. When yields decrease the liabilities in the plans rise, and conversely when
yields increase the liabilities in the plans decrease. While some of the assets for the funded plan are invested in
corporate bonds, this represents a small portion of the overall liabilities in the plans. This mismatch means that
the overall deficit position is subject to the movements in corporate bond yields. This risk is a significant source of
variation in the employee benefit plans liability from year to year.
Government Bond Yields
The discount rate used when determining the RPP’s solvency position for funding purposes is determined in
reference to government bond yields. When yields decrease the liabilities in the plan rise, and conversely when
yields increase the liabilities in the plan decrease. While some of the assets are invested in government bonds,
the weighting is less than the overall liabilities in the plan. This mismatch means that the funded status of the
plan for cash contribution purposes is subject to movements in government bond yields. Government bond yields
represent a significant risk associated with the cash funding requirements of the RPP.
Longevity
The benefits payable to members are generally provided for the life of the member as well as the member’s
spouse. The life expectancy of members is a significant assumption used in the determination of the plans’
liabilities, and increases in life expectancy, or the survival experience of members being higher than expected, will
lead to increases in the plans’ liability. This risk is particularly significant because the cost of benefits in all plans is
linked to inflation, further increasing the cost of benefits if members live longer than expected.
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Inflation
The benefits payable to members in the RPP are increased by a proportion of the increase of the Consumer Price
Index each year. In addition, active member’s benefits are linked to final average earnings, and earnings increases
are typically seen to increase in high inflationary environments. The benefits payable to members in the postretirement benefits plan generally increase with increases in medical costs. All of these assumptions are linked to
inflation. An increase in the inflation assumption, or a period of high inflation, will generally increase the liabilities.
Given the strong link the benefits have to inflation this is a significant source of risk. The medical trend rate, while
linked with inflation, has traditionally been higher than inflation and represents an additional, and significant,
source of inflation risk for the post-retirement benefits plan.
RISK CONTROLS
Enercare manages the risks through plan design reviews, as appropriate, and regular valuations of the plan.
Investment risks are managed through quarterly monitoring. Pension plan risks are controlled through the
governance process in place with the Compensation Committee.
The total cost of the employee benefit plans recognized in selling, general and administrative, interest income and
interest expense are as follows:
2017

As at December 31,

2016

Pension
Current service cost

$

Interest (income)/expense
Administrative expenses

3,383

$

3,687

(347)

(168)

294

83

$

3,330

$

3,602

$

836

$

836

OPEB
Current service cost

905

Net interest cost
$

1,741

840
$

1,676

Remeasurements of the employee benefit plans recognized in other comprehensive income are as follows:
2017

As at December 31,

2016

Pension
Actuarial (loss)/gain

$

(2,256)

$

$

(2,252)

$

$

(4,508)

$

4,291

OPEB
Actuarial loss
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(650)
3,641

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN ASSETS AND LIABILITY
The liability for the employee benefit plans is comprised of the following:
2017

As at December 31,

2016

Pension
Present value of defined benefit obligations

$

(105,216)

$

109,000

Fair value of plan assets

(90,701)
96,947

$

3,784

$

6,246

$

(25,993)

$

(22,028)

$

(22,209)

$

(15,782)

OPEB
Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
The movements in the total present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:
2017

As at December 31,

2016

Pension
Obligation, beginning of year

$

Transfers of employees after acquisition date
Current service cost
Interest expense on the defined benefit obligations

90,701

172
3,687

3,713

3,490

Losses/(gains) arising from changes in financial assumptions

5,788

Losses arising from changes in experience adjustments

7,869

–
(2,912)
–

(1,316)

Benefits paid

87,690

3,383
(4,922)

Gains arising from demographic assumptions

Obligation, end of year

$

–

(1,426)

$

105,216

$

90,701

$

22,028

$

19,744

OPEB
Obligation, beginning of year
Current service cost

836

836

Interest expense

905

840

2,252

650

Actuarial loss

(28)

Benefits paid
Obligation, end of year

$

25,993

(42)
$
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FAIR VALUE OF THE PLAN ASSETS
The movement in the total fair value of plan assets is as follows:
2017

As at December 31,

2016

Pension
Fair value, beginning of year

$

96,947

$

79,586

–

172

Interest income

4,060

3,658

Actuarial gains

6,479

1,379

–

11,107

Transfers of employees after acquisition date

Reimbursement right contributions
Contributions

3,124

2,554

Benefits paid

(1,316)

(1,426)

(294)

Administrative expenses
Fair value, end of year

$

109,000

(83)
$

96,947

Plan assets are comprised of the following:
2017

2016

4.8%

10.0%

Plan assets by major category
Canadian large cap equities
Canadian small cap equities

0.2%

3.5%

U.S. equities

0.0%

16.8%

0.0%

11.0%

Emerging markets

15.0%

3.5%

Canadian long bonds

44.1%

45.2%

9.6%

0.0%

Canadian mid-term bonds

9.2%

0.0%

Canadian short-term bonds

7.1%

0.0%

10.0%

10.0%

0.0%

0.0%

100.0%

100.0%

International equities

Canadian inflation linked bonds

Real estate pooled funds
Cash and short term
Total

108

Enercare Annual Report 2017

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS
The significant actuarial assumptions used in the determination of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation are as follows:
As at December 31,

2017

2016

Pension
3.66%

4.14%

Salary growth rate – Union

From 2015

2.50%

3.00%

Salary growth rate – Non-Union

Until 2015

3.50%

3.75%

From 2016

3.50%

4.25%

Discount rate (RPP)

Inflation

2.00%

2.00%

Increase in maximum pension limit

2.50%

3.00%

CPM Private
using projection
scale CPM-B

CPM Private
using projection
scale CPM-B

Male life expectancy, age 60

26.1 years

26.1 years

Male life expectancy, age 65

21.7 years

21.6 years

Female life expectancy, age 60

28.8 years

28.8 years

Female life expectancy, age 65

24.1 years

24.1 years

Mortality table

OPEB
Weighted average assumptions to determine defined benefit obligations:
3.68%

4.12%

Final CPM 2014
Private Mortality
Table with
scale CPM-B

Final CPM 2014
Private Mortality
Table with
scale CPM-B

Immediate health care cost trend rate

5.56%

5.65%

Ultimate health care cost trend rate

4.00%

4.00%

2029

2029

4.12%

4.27%

Final CPM 2014
Private Mortality
Table with scale
CPM-B

Final CPM 2014
Private Mortality
Table with scale
CPM-B

Discount rate
Mortality table

Year reached ultimate health care cost trend rate
Weighted average assumptions to determine defined benefit costs:
Discount rate
Mortality table

Immediate health care cost trend rate

5.65%

5.75%

Ultimate health care cost trend rate

4.00%

4.00%

2029

2029

Year reached ultimate health care cost trend rate
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
Increase in Liability As at December 31,

2017

Pensions
$

100 basis point decrease in the discount rate

23,428

100 basis point increase in the long term salary rate

7,728

Impact on the cost of living adjustments of a 100 basis point increase in inflation

7,392

90% of mortality rates

2,002
879

100% basis point increase in the prior year pensionable earnings
OPEB
$

100 basis point decrease in the discount rate

6,714
928

Impact of a 1 year increase in life expectancy

6,365

100 basis point increase in health care cost trend rates

MATURITY ANALYSIS
The approximate duration of the pension plans is 20.1 years while the approximate duration of the other long-term
benefits plan is 23.0 years. The undiscounted liabilities of the plan can be broken into the following durations:
Less than
1 year

As at December 31, 2017
Pension

$

OPEB
Total

2,045

1 to 2 years

2 to 5 years

$

$

213
$

2,258

2,266
296

$

2,562

$

More than
5 years

7,886

$ 209,778

1,409

58,980

9,295

$ 268,758

Total
$

221,975
60,898

$

282,873

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
During 2017, Enercare recognized an expense, representing employer contributions to the defined contribution
plans, in the amount of $2,082.
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17. Income Taxes
The reconciliation of income taxes computed at the statutory tax rates to income tax expense/(recovery) is as follows:
2017

For the year ended December 31,
Tax expense at statutory rate of 26.50% (2016 – 26.5%)

$

20,149

2016
$

22,755

Tax effects of:
(215)

(Non-taxable)/non-deductible expenses
Tax rate differentials
Book to return differences
State taxes

1,867

2,254

412

14

312

–

(1,953)

Effect of change in future tax rates

–

(53)

Other
Total

(159)

$

20,519

(127)
$

24,737

Current tax expense

22,723

54,381

Deferred income tax recovery

(2,204)

(29,644)

Total tax expense

$

20,519

$

24,737

Enercare operates in multiple jurisdictions with differing tax rates. Enercare’s effective tax rates are dependent on
the jurisdiction to which income relates. Enercare measures deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted or
substantively enacted tax rates that will apply in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. Accordingly, the deferred tax assets and liabilities were remeasured to reflect the reduction
in the U.S. corporate income tax rate from the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, resulting in a $1,953 decrease in net
deferred tax liability.
DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET AND LIABILITY
The deferred income tax asset and liability on Enercare’s consolidated statement of financial position reflect
the estimated tax on temporary and other differences. The movements of the deferred income tax accounts
are as follows:
2017

As at December 31,
As at January 1:

$

Step up of deferred income tax on the SE Transaction
Deferred tax related to share issuance costs

$

(5,617)

–

2,854
(840)

1,587

Reclassification to assets held for sale (note 33)

–

(1,153)

Other

57

2,204

Deferred income tax recovery
$

(120,273)

–
665

Deferred tax on remeasurements of defined benefit plan and
other items booked to OCI

Total

(94,175)

2016

(90,872)

29,644
$
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Enercare’s management expects that the deferred tax assets will be recoverable based on the expected growth
and profitability of the Enercare Home Services, Service Experts and Sub-metering businesses.
The balance of the deferred income tax asset and liability classified by temporary differences is as follow:
2017

As at December 31,

2016

Deferred tax asset
Loss carry-forwards

$

–

$

1,717

177

876

13,279

10,841

Financing fees

2,462

3,904

Employee future benefit obligations

5,893

4,182

Research and development
Allowances and provisions

$

21,811

$

21,520

Deferred tax liability
Equipment and intangible assets
Temporary difference – subsidiary tax year end
Other
$

Total

(109,909)

(114,826)

(2,369)

(678)

(405)

(191)

(112,683)

(115,695)

(90,872)

$

(94,175)

CLASSIFICATION
2017

As at December 31,
Deferred tax asset

$

$

(102,279)

Deferred tax liability
$

Total

11,407

2016

(90,872)

10,946
(105,121)

$

(94,175)

TAX LOSS CARRY-FORWARD EXPIRY SCHEDULE
2017

As at December 31,
Expire in 2024

$

–

2016
$

–

Expire in 2025

–
–

Expire in 2026

–

–

Expire in 2027

–

–

–

Thereafter
Total loss carry-forwards

$

–

6,480
$

6,480

Deferred income tax liabilities have not been recognized for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be
payable on unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries, as such amounts are permanently reinvested. Unremitted
earnings totaled $21,156 at December 31, 2017.
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18. Share Capital and Treasury Shares
As at December 31,
Shares Issued and Outstanding
Opening balance at January 1:

2017
Shares
104,155

$

2016
Dollars

Shares

1,151,913

87,949

Dollars
$

914,074

Issued:
New share issuance
Shares issued upon exercise of share options
Shares issued under dividend reinvestment plan
Principal conversion of debentures

–

15,835

233,564

4,037

148

1,501

1,565

31,197

116

2,078

284

1,840

107

696

Transfer of financing costs to equity

–

(4)

–

(8)

Transfer from contributed surplus

–

4

–

8

1,188,987

104,155

Totals
1

–
373

1

106,377

$

$

1,151,913

Excludes the impact of treasury shares.

Enercare’s articles of incorporation provide for the issuance of an unlimited number of shares and 10,000,000
preferred shares. At December 31, 2017, there were no preferred shares outstanding. Each series of preferred
shares will have such rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions as may be determined by the board of directors
prior to the issuance thereof. Holders of preferred shares, except as required by law, will not be entitled to vote at
meetings of shareholders of Enercare. With respect to the payment of dividends and distribution of assets in the
event of liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Enercare, whether voluntary or involuntary, the preferred shares
are entitled to preference over the shares and any other shares ranking junior to the preferred shares.
In conjunction with the SE Transaction, Enercare completed an offering of 15,834,600 subscription receipts
(“SE Subscription Receipts”) at a price of $15.25 per SE Subscription Receipt (including 1,429,600 SE
Subscription Receipts sold as a result of the exercise in full of the over-allotment option by the underwriters and
109,000 SE Subscription Receipts sold in a concurrent private placement to certain U.S. persons, including
the Chief Executive Officer and certain other officers of Service Experts). In accordance with the terms of the
agreement pursuant to which the SE Subscription Receipts were issued, upon closing of the SE Transaction on
May 11, 2016, each outstanding SE Subscription Receipt was exchanged for one share, resulting in the issuance
of 15,834,600 shares and a cash payment equal to $0.14 per SE Subscription Receipt. The cash payment
was equal to the aggregate amount of dividends per share for which record dates occurred since the issuance
of the SE Subscription Receipts, less any withholding taxes, if any. The shares issued in exchange for the SE
Subscription Receipts issued in the concurrent private placement are subject to a contractual hold period of six
months from closing of the offering. Transaction costs associated with the issuance of SE Subscription Receipts of
$7,914 or $10,768 net of deferred tax of $2,854 relate to commissions, legal and underwriter fees incurred and
have been netted against proceeds.
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In November 2016, Enercare adopted the DRIP, which allows all Canadian shareholders to elect to have some or
all cash dividends reinvested in additional shares on a monthly basis. Participation in the plan is optional. Under
the terms and conditions of the plan, participants acquire shares through the reinvestment of cash dividends paid
on the shares they hold or through optional cash payments. Shares subscribed by participants are purchased as
treasury shares through Enercare’s transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company of Canada, at a price equal to
95% of the weighted average purchase price of the shares during the five business days immediately following
the dividend payment date. For the year ended December 31, 2017, 1,564,668 (2016 – 116,001) shares were
issued pursuant to the DRIP for $31,197 (2016 – $2,078).
As at December 31, 2017, there were 103,904 shares (2016 – 105,103) that were purchased and held as
treasury shares. These shares relate to the employer portion of the employee share purchase plan. For the year
ended December 31, 2017, 50,585 (2016 – 53,164) shares were purchased for $934 (2016 – $970). During
the year, 51,784 shares at a value of $812 were transferred to employees.

19. Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the period. Dilutive computations are based upon: (i) an if converted approach where interest
expense attributable to the convertible debentures on an after tax basis is added back to net earnings as part
of the numerator and the impact of additional shares as a result of the conversion feature of 154.3210 shares
per $1,000 principal amount is added to the denominator, and (ii) stock options whereby the number of dilutive
shares is calculated as the difference between the number of shares issued and the number of shares that would
have been issued at the average market price during the period based upon the assumed initial proceeds. Options
are not dilutive if the average price is below the strike price.
The stock options were dilutive and therefore were included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. For
the year ended December 31, 2016, convertible debentures were also dilutive and therefore were included in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share.
The computations of basic and diluted earnings per share are shown below:
2017

For the year ended December 31, (in thousands – except per share amounts)
Net earnings

$

After tax impact of convertible debentures
Fully diluted net earnings
Weighted average shares outstanding
Dilutive impact of long term stock compensation
Dilutive impact of convertible debentures
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding

114

55,514

2016
$

61,130

46

130

55,560

61,260

105,153

98,091

376

344

1,300

314

106,829

98,749

Basic earnings per share

$

0.53

$

0.62

Diluted earnings per share

$

0.52

$

0.62
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20. Dividends
The following table outlines the dividend declarations as approved by the board of directors and the related per
share amounts.
2017

For the year ended December 31, (in thousands – except per share amounts)
Dividends declared per share during the year

$

0.95

2016
$

101,572

Dividends declared during the period

0.82
80,688

Dividends declared after December 31,
January
Dollars

$

DRIP (shares issued)
Shares
Per share

5,951

$

5,667

137

134

106,514

104,155

$

0.08

$

0.077

$

6,021

$

5,627

February
Dollars

141

DRIP (shares issued)

106,655

Shares
Per share

135

$

0.08

104,296
$

0.077

Enercare adopted the DRIP (note 18), which enables shareholders to receive dividends in shares rather than cash.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, 1,564,668 (2016 – 116,001) shares were issued pursuant to the
DRIP valued at $31,197 (2016 – $2,078). There were no dividends payable recognized at December 31, 2017.

21. Commitments
Under operating lease agreements for office premises, office equipment and sponsorship agreements, Enercare is
required to make annual minimum payments. The aggregate amount of future minimum payments is as follows:
2017

As at December 31,
Due in 2018

$

8,383

Due in 2019

5,670

Due in 2020

4,569

Due in 2021

5,370

Due in 2022

1,971

Thereafter

6,150

Total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases

$

32,113

The operating lease and sponsorship payments recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the year
ended December 31, 2017 were $13,699 (2016 – $11,376).
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22. Contingent Liabilities
Enercare is a party to a number of product liability claims, other claims, ongoing proceedings and lawsuits in the
ordinary course of business. Management is of the opinion that any liabilities that may arise from these lawsuits
have been adequately provided for in these consolidated financial statements.

23. Financial Instruments
The main risks Enercare’s financial instruments are exposed to include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.
CREDIT RISK
Enercare is exposed to credit risk on accounts receivable from customers. Enercare’s credit risk is considered to
be low for Enercare Home Services and moderate for both Sub-metering and Service Experts.
Enercare’s financial assets that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable and financing receivables. The majority of Enercare Home Services’ contracted revenues are subject to
a guaranteed payment by EGD for 99.51% of the amount billed (subject to certain exceptions) 21 calendar days
after the invoices are issued. Enercare is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business for customers
who are billed directly by Enercare or are billed by EGD outside its service territory. For accounts receivable from
customers billed on EGD invoices within its service territory a related trust agreement also serves to mitigate
Enercare’s credit exposure on receivables owing from EGD. Enercare is also exposed to credit risk on its financing
receivables to the extent that customers do not make payments according to contracted repayment terms.
Enercare lowers this risk by requiring preauthorized payments, securing loans with low credit scores or poor
payment history and engaging collection activities 30 days after a missed payment.
Enercare is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business associated with the billing of Sub-metering
customers and landlords. Since Enercare employs various billing models with Sub-metering, credit risk exposure
fluctuates based on the type of customer. In the case where a landlord is responsible for commodity expenses,
credit risk is low. On accounts where Enercare is responsible for commodity expenses, credit risk is higher. This
credit risk tends to be lower where customers own their unit as opposed to renting them. Enercare has the ability
to lower this risk through various contractual protections with landlords, as well as Enercare’s ability to disconnect
electricity for non-payment.
Enercare’s Service Experts business provides services in both Canada and the United States. Credit risk primarily
consists of receivables from a variety of customers, including general contractors, property owners, developers
and commercial and industrial companies. Service Experts is exposed to credit risk related to changes in the
business and economic factors throughout the United States within the mechanical services industry. However,
Service Experts is entitled to payment for work performed and have certain lien rights in that work. Service
Experts believes that their contract acceptance, billing and collection policies are adequate to manage potential
credit risk. Service Experts has a diverse customer base, with no single customer accounting for more than
10% of revenues or receivables.
For accounts receivable as at December 31, 2017, a provision for all amounts at risk of collection and impairment
has been made in these consolidated financial statements based upon a number of factors which include, but are
not limited to, the type of account and credit characteristics, aging, and net future cash flows.
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LIQUIDITY RISK
Enercare monitors liquidity risk through comparisons of current financial ratios with the financial covenants
contained in its 2014 Revolver and 2016 Term Loan agreements and its senior unsecured trust indenture,
as supplemented, as applicable. Enercare has maintained financial ratios which comply with the financial
covenants applicable to the borrowings and has staggered its senior debt and term loan maturity dates through
to February 21, 2024.
The covenants under the 2013 Notes and 2017 Notes are contained in the senior unsecured trust indenture, as
supplemented. Under the terms of this indenture, Enercare may not incur additional senior debt other than certain
refinancing debt and certain working capital debt if the incurrence test is less than 3.8 to 1. The incurrence test is
the ratio of defined EBITDA over defined interest expense calculated twelve months in arrears. Enercare exceeded
this threshold requirement at December 31, 2017.
The principal covenant tests under the 2014 Revolver and 2016 Term Loan measure the ratio of total debt
to adjusted EBITDA and the ratio of adjusted EBITDA to cash interest expense. Total debt, Adjusted EBITDA
and cash interest expense are defined in the agreements. Enercare was in compliance with these covenants at
December 31, 2017.
The summary of financial obligations and contractual maturities related to undiscounted non-derivative financial
liabilities excluding accounts payable was as follows:
Debt
Period

Principal

Due in 2018

$

126

Finance Lease Obligations
Interest

$

37,157

Principal
$

9,397

Total

Interest
$

683

Principal
$

9,523

Interest
$

37,840

Due in 2019

24

37,153

8,626

449

8,650

37,602

Due in 2020

475,927

27,572

7,151

241

483,078

27,813

Due in 2021

55,025

19,747

4,428

92

59,453

19,839

Due in 2022

275,005

10,293

1,173

11

276,178

10,304

Thereafter

225,000

10,248

11

–

225,011

10,248

1,476

$ 1,061,893

Total

$

1,031,107

$

142,170

$

30,786

$

$

143,646

MARKET RISK
Fair Value
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and other receivables, financing receivables, collateral
deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, obligations under vehicle finance leases and other payables
approximate their fair values due to their relatively short periods to maturity.
Fair value measurements are determined in accordance with the following levels:
Level 1

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2	Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.
Level 3	Prices or valuations that require management inputs that are both significant to the fair value
measurement and unobservable.
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The following table presents the carrying amounts and the fair values of Enercare’s financial assets and liabilities
at December 31, 2017 and 2016. The estimated fair values of the financial instruments are at the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date.
2017
As at December 31,

Carrying Value

Cash and cash equivalents

$

31,001

2016
Fair Value

$

31,001

Carrying Value
$

38,415

Fair Value
$

38,415

Accounts receivables

149,273

149,273

137,617

137,617

Financing receivables

10,217

10,217

2,876

2,876

7,772

7,772

9,842

9,842

Collateral deposits

17,168

Assets held for sale
Total financial assets

19,056

–

–

$

215,431

$

217,319

$

188,750

$

188,750

$

725,000

$

739,948

$

475,000

$

491,850

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:
Senior borrowings
Term Loans
Revolving credit facility
Gross convertible debentures
Stratacon debt
Obligations under finance lease
Liabilities held for sale
Total borrowings

$

250,900

478,540

478,540

55,000

55,000

15,000

15,000

–

–

2,032

5,649

207

207

822

822

29,424

29,424

25,624

25,624

5,634

5,634

–

1,066,165

$

221,622

Other obligations and payables
Total financial liabilities

250,900

$

1,287,787

1,081,113

$

221,622
$

1,302,735

997,018

–
$

234,295
$

1,231,313

1,017,485
234,295

$

1,251,780

Fair values of the following financial assets and liabilities are classified as Level 3 financial instruments:
• Accounts receivable;
• Financing receivables;
• Stratacon debt; and
• Other obligations and payables.
Cash and cash equivalents, collateral deposits, revolving credit facility, Term Loans and obligations under finance
lease are classified as Level 2 financial instruments and senior borrowings, and gross convertible debentures are
classified as Level 1.
Enercare is subject to variable interest rate risk on its revolving credit facility and a portion of its gross senior
borrowings. A 0.5% change in interest rates will have approximately a $4,122 impact on earnings. Enercare is also
subject to interest rate risk on its cash on hand where a 0.5% change in interest rates will have an approximately
$155 impact on earnings.
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Enercare is exposed to foreign currency risk through transactions conducted in currencies other than the
Canadian dollar, and also through its financial liabilities that are denominated in US dollar currency. Enercare has
subsidiaries that have a functional currency of US dollars. Enercare’s foreign currency risk management objective
is to mitigate the impact of foreign currency rate fluctuations on total equity. Enercare manages foreign currency
risk on its liabilities that are not hedged by operating subsidiaries in the same currency as the liabilities to which
they relate.
Enercare designates USD $100,000 drawn under the 2016 Term Loan as a hedge of the foreign currency
exposure of its net investment in Enercare’s US operations. The related foreign currency translation gain or loss
on the USD $100,000 notional amount of the 2016 Term Loan that is designated as, and is effective as, a hedge
of the net investment in the US operation is reported in the same manner as the translation adjustment (in OCI)
related to the net investment.
Enercare may nevertheless, from time to time, experience gains or losses resulting from fluctuations in the values
of these foreign currencies, which may favourably or adversely affect operating results.
The following table shows gains and (losses) associated with a 10% change in exchange rate of the US dollar for
the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:
Effect on Net Earnings
2017

For the year ended December 31,

Effect on Equity
2017

2016

2016

10% strengthening

$

888

$

799

$

2,201

$

1,045

10% weakening

$

(888)

$

(799)

$

(2,201)

$

(1,045)

24. Capital Risk Management
Enercare considers capital to be primarily cash and cash equivalents, long-term debt and shareholder’s equity
and makes adjustments as appropriate to such variables as cash on hand, additional capital expenditures, debt
capacity, available credit facilities, covenant restrictions, and equity leverage. Enercare’s capital management
strategy, objectives, and definitions have not materially changed during 2017.
Enercare was in compliance with all covenants under the 2013 Notes, 2014 Revolver, 2016 Term Loan and the
2017 Notes as at December 31, 2017.

25. Cost of Goods Sold and Services Provided
2017

For the year ended December 31,
Labour and benefits

$

Parts
Commodity

$

$

208,356

195,065

128,372

99,011

111,482

36,337

Other
Total

304,825

2016

635,238

18,444
$
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26. Selling, General and Administrative
2017

For the year ended December 31,
Employee wages and benefits

$

167,110

2016
$

123,750

Employee long-term compensation

12,882

7,718

Professional fees

14,007

21,714

Selling, office and other

97,543

64,758

Billing and servicing

33,313

30,977

10,988

Claims and bad debt
$

Total

335,843

10,500
$

259,417

27. Other Provisions
On a regular basis, Enercare evaluates key accounting estimates based upon historical information, internal and
external factors and probability factors to measure provisions. The key provision is on account of claims as a
result of water damage caused by faulty water heaters. The claims provision is a current liability estimated as the
product of the average anticipated dollar loss and the current incidents as at December 31, 2017.
2017

For the year ended December 31,
Opening balance:

$

1,107

2016
$

1,191

Charged/(credited) to the consolidated statement of income:
3,078

Additional provision

(3,081)

Claims spending during the year
Ending balance

2,814

$

1,104

(2,898)
$

1,107

All claims generated during the periods ended are typically paid out within twelve months, therefore the
provisions have not been discounted.

28. Changes in Working Capital
The following table reconciles the changes in working capital during the comparative periods as presented in
these consolidated statement of cash flows.
2017

For the year ended December 31,
Accounts receivable

$

$

(687)

Inventory
Prepaid expenses

(7,353)

Collateral deposits

1,474

(8,954)
957
(1,098)
(351)

Deferred revenue and service obligation

3,295

6,907

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(12,217)

(14,572)

(3)

Other provisions

$
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(558)

5,657

Interest payable
Total

(84)

1,392

Insurance claim provisions

120

(14,039)

2016

(22,481)

112
$

(17,641)

29. Related Parties
KEY MANAGEMENT
Key management includes Enercare’s officers. External director’s fees are included in professional fees as part of
total selling, general and administrative expenses. Total compensation and benefits earned by key management
for services are shown below:
2017

For the year ended December 31,
Salaries and short-term benefits

$

Other employment benefits
Long term benefits
Total

$

7,646

2016
$

6,076

199

172

3,637

1,010

11,482

$

7,258

30. Compensation Plans
Enercare operates the following share-based compensation plans: the PSUP, DSUP, the Share Option Plan
(“SOP”) and ESPP.
Cash Based Payment Plans
The PSUP awards phantom shares to management in consideration for past services provided to support
achievement of Enercare’s performance objectives, align interests of key persons with the success of Enercare
and retain management. These phantom shares primarily vest equally over a 3 year period, and are based on the
achievement of certain service and/or performance criteria, and are non-forfeitable. Under the PSUP, phantom
shares with different grant terms (“MTIP”) have also been awarded to management to support achievement
of post-acquisition performance and retain key personnel and management of acquired companies. These
are specific near-term phantom shares which vest typically equally over a 2 year period, and are based on
achievement of certain performance criteria and are non-forfeitable. Dividends on the phantom shares accrue
at the same rates as dividends on the shares.
Enercare has a DSUP for non-employee directors to assist Enercare to promote a greater alignment of interests
between the directors and the shareholders, provide a compensation system for the directors that is reflective
of the responsibility, commitment and risk accompanying board membership, assist Enercare in attracting and
retaining individuals with experience and ability to serve as members of the board, and allow the directors to
participate in the long-term success of Enercare. Pursuant to the DSUP, directors will receive 50% of their fees in
the form of deferred share units until the director has met the director’s share ownership requirements. Directors
may also elect once each calendar year to receive any portion of their fees in the form of deferred share units
for the year, such election can be changed on a quarterly basis. A director’s entitlement under the DSUP may
be redeemed only when the director ceases to be a director and must be redeemed no later than the end of the
calendar year following the date the director ceases to be a director. Dividends on these deferred shares accrue
at the same rates as dividends on the shares.
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Share Based Plans
Enercare has a stock option plan for officers of Enercare. The purpose of the plan is to support the achievement
of the corporation’s objectives, align officer interests with the success of the corporation and provide compensation
opportunities to attract, retain and motivate key management employees. Options must be exercised within 8 years
after the grant date with vesting equally over the first 3 years. All vested options must be exercised within 2 years,
1 year or 90 days of the termination date in respect of retirement/disability, death and termination, respectively.
Options are settled through the issuance of treasury shares for the strike price consideration.
The fair value of the options at the date of grant was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
giving consideration to the terms of the plan and Enercare’s performance. The significant variables included in the
model were as follows:
• An expected option life of approximately 5.5 years;
• A risk free rate based upon Government of Canada bonds corresponding to the expected option life;
• Stock prices based upon the daily close for the past 36-months resulting in a 19% volatility measure; and
• Dividend yield was based on historical levels preceding the date of grant.
The weighted average remaining contractual life is approximately 5.85 years.
Employee Share Purchase Plan
Enercare has an ESPP for all eligible employees of Enercare. Under the plan, employees can purchase shares
of Enercare, up to a maximum of $10 per year or 5% of base salary. Enercare will award one matching share for
every two shares purchased and held by an employee for at least two years. Shares related to both the employee
and employer portions are purchased in the month following the employee contributions. Expenses related to the
company match portion are recorded equally over the 2 year vesting period and are reflected in the consolidated
statement of income. Employee contributions held by Enercare at the end of a period are classified as restricted
cash which will be used to purchase Enercare shares in the following period. As at December 31, 2017, there
were 103,904 shares (2016 – 105,103) that were purchased and held as treasury shares. These shares relate
to the employer portion of the employee share purchase plan. For the year ended December 31, 2017, 50,585
(2016 – 53,164) shares were purchased for $934 (2016 – $970).
In 2017, 51,784 shares were matched under the ESPP at a value of $812. The amount expensed during the year
was $874 (2016 – $605) with no liabilities payable.
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Changes in the number of long term compensation plan awards outstanding and their related weighted average
prices are as follows:
PSUP

MTIP

DSUP

SOP

#

$

#

$

#

$

#

$

At January 1, 2017

549

17.91

186

17.91

356

17.91

1,375

12.84

Granted

271

17.91

–

–

30

17.91

317

19.12

–

–

–

–

10

17.17

–

–

Phantom dividends

36

–

10

–

19

–

–

–

Performance objective modifier

93

–

35

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(152)

16.81

17.91

–

–

(374)

10.12

(in thousands except price)

Director’s optional purchases

Forfeited

(58)

–

Exercised

(117)

17.91

–
(24)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

At December 31, 2017

774

20.39

207

20.39

415

20.39

1,166

14.90

Expensed in the period

–

7,140

–

2,312

–

2,554

–

193

Liabilities payable

–

9,821

–

4,215

–

8,470

–

–

Expired

PSUP
(in thousands except price)

MTIP

#

$

At January 1, 2016

339

Granted

338

Director’s optional purchases
Phantom dividends
Performance objective modifier

DSUP

#

$

#

16.02

18

16.02

16.02

166

16.02

SOP
$

#

$

309

16.02

1,109

11.31

26

16.02

480

15.61

–

–

–

–

10

17.17

–

–

28

–

10

–

17

–

–

–

(103)

–

3

–

–

–

–

Forfeited

(53)

–

(11)

–

–

–

(66)

14.34

–

Exercised

–

–

–

–

(6)

–

(148)

9.69

Expired

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

At December 31, 2016

549

17.91

186

17.91

356

17.91

1,375

12.84

Expensed in the period

–

3,437

–

1,759

–

1,510

–

365

Liabilities payable

–

5,829

–

1,903

–

5,916

–

–

Price per share is the average price per share at the close of market on the day preceding the last trading day of
the month or the five day volume weighted average immediately preceding the last trading day of the month as
applicable to the terms of the plans.
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31. Segment Information
Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the CODM, which has
been identified as the Executive Leadership Team (consisting of the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, the Chief Operating Officer for Enercare Home Services, the Senior Vice President
and General Manager for Sub-Metering, the President and Chief Executive Officer for Service Experts, the Chief
Information Officer, and the Chief Human Resource Officer).
The Executive Leadership Team evaluates and makes decisions on operating performance by business segment.
The reportable operating segments derive their revenue primarily from (a) the rental of water heaters, HVAC and
other equipment, protection plans, HVAC sales and other chargeable service offerings, (b) the sub-metering of
multi-unit residential and commercial properties, and (c) sales and services relating to HVAC units in Service
Experts’ subsidiaries.
The Enercare Home Services segment consists mainly of a portfolio of rental water heaters, HVAC and other
assets, and contracted protection plans offered primarily to residential customers in Ontario The Sub-metering
segment is engaged principally in providing the equipment and services to allow sub-metering and remote
measurement of electricity and water consumption in individual units in condominiums, apartment buildings
and commercial properties primarily in Ontario. The Service Experts segment consists primarily of the sales and
servicing of HVAC equipment to residential and light commercial customers in the United States and Canada.
Corporate reports the costs for management oversight of the combined business, public reporting and filings,
financing activities, corporate governance and related expenses.
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The CODM assesses its performance of the operating segments using the measure of EBITDA as follows:
For the year ended December 31, 2017
Segment
Information

Enercare
Home
Services

Service
Experts

Submetering

Corporate

For the year ended December 31, 2016

Total

Enercare
Home
Services

Service
Experts

Submetering

Corporate

Total

Revenues:
Contracted sales $ 426,430 $
Sales and other
services
Investment
Income
Total revenue

56,299 $ 132,334 $

– $ 615,063 $ 410,018 $

22,574 $ 142,239 $

– $ 574,831

30,774

606,047

4,936

–

641,757

28,600

388,161

3,750

–

420,511

1,289

60

7

–

1,356

349

28

30

192

599

$ 458,493 $ 662,406 $ 137,277 $

– $ 1,258,176 $ 438,967 $ 410,763 $ 146,019 $

192 $ 995,941

Expenses:
Cost of goods
& services:
Maintenance and $ (68,780) $ (44,653) $
servicing costs
Sales and other
services
Commodity
charges
SG&A
Foreign exchange
Net (loss)/gain on
disposal
EBITDA
Amortization

(24,346)
–
(106,611)
164
(3,471)

(395,619)
–
(172,687)
419
(4,601)

– $

– $ (113,433) $

(66,994) $

(2,829)

–

(422,794)

(22,274)

(99,011)

–

(99,011)

(21,225)
119
(9)

(35,320)
32
–

(335,843)
734
(8,081)

–
(100,343)

(17,711) $

(246,348)
–
(107,660)

– $

– $

(84,705)

(1,845)

–

(270,467)

(111,482)

–

(111,482)

(19,323)

(32,091)

(259,417)

215

(35)

51

97

328

(4,464)

(19)

77

–

(4,406)

255,449

45,265

14,322

(35,288)

279,748

245,107

38,990

(126,188)

(20,577)

(7,754)

(3,489)

(158,008)

(122,194)

(13,825)

13,497
(6,719)

(31,802)

265,792

(2,586)

(145,324)

Interest expense

(45,707)

(34,601)

Current taxes

(22,723)

(54,381)

Deferred tax
recovery

2,204

29,644

55,514

Net earnings
Segment assets
Capital additions

1,247,686
$ 124,303 $

610,133
23,067 $

106,844
19,741 $

40,955

2,005,618

61,130
1,249,818

11,675 $ 178,786 $ 126,586 $

602,217
9,590 $

96,804

23,808

20,120 $

12,097 $ 168,393
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Geographic Information Year ended December 31,

2017

2016

Revenues1
$

Canada

704,845

$

553,331

United States
$

1,258,176

655,243
340,698

$

995,941

		
2017

As at December 31,

2016

Segment Assets
Canada

$

1,480,717

$

2,005,618

$

1,444,974

$

1,972,647

524,901

United States

527,673

		
1

Revenues are based on the country of delivery of the product or service sold.

32. Acquisitions
ACQUISITION OF ARAMENDIA
On August 15, 2017, Service Experts completed the acquisition of certain net assets in San Antonio and McKinney,
Texas, from Aramendia Plumbing, Heating & Air Ltd. (“Aramendia”), a full-service residential and commercial
plumbing and heating company, for consideration of USD $24,000 or $30,556. The Aramendia acquisition has
been accounted for as a business combination and has been consolidated as at the date of acquisition.
The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of total consideration allocated to the net assets
acquired. The allocation of the purchase price is preliminary for certain amounts including certain capital and
intangible assets and is therefore subject to change.
August 15, 2017
Inventory

$

885

Adjustments
$

–

Revised
$

885

Capital assets (note 8)

1,085

–

1,085

Intangible assets (note 9)

8,145

3,073

11,218

21,425

Goodwill (note 10)

(3,057)

18,368

$

31,540

$

16

$

31,556

$

670

$

16

$

686

Total net assets acquired

$

30,556

$

–

$

30,556

Cash consideration

$

30,556

$

–

$

30,556

Total assets acquired
Less:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

314

Deferred revenue and service obligations
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Goodwill is calculated as the difference between the fair value of consideration transferred and the preliminary
fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The goodwill is primarily attributable to the addition
of new customers and the corresponding projected cash flows to be earned. Goodwill is not amortized for
accounting, however is deductible for US tax purposes.
Aramendia revenues of $7,800 and earnings of $153 are included in the statement of comprehensive income
since August 15, 2017.
Enercare’s consolidated revenues and net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2017 would have been
higher by approximately $16,839 and $1,687, respectively had the Aramendia acquisition occurred on
January 1, 2017.
ACQUISITION OF SERVICE EXPERTS
On May 11, 2016 Enercare, through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Enercare Solutions, acquired SEHAC
Holdings Corporation (now SEHAC Holdings LLC), for consideration of USD $340,750 or $440,113, excluding
agreed upon closing adjustments regarding Enercare’s assumption of certain liabilities and transaction costs
(the “Consideration”), subject to final working capital and other adjustments. The acquired assets and liabilities
assumed included components of working capital, capital assets, intangible assets, collateral deposits, goodwill,
insurance claim provisions, deferred revenue and service obligations, deferred tax liability and obligations under
finance leases. The SE Transaction is accounted for as a business combination.
The SE Transaction was financed through a combination of debt and equity, including approximately $241,478 of
SE Subscription Receipts ($230,710 net of fees), inclusive of the concurrent private placement (see Note 18) and
USD $200,000 from the 2016 Term Loan (see Note 14).
In accordance with the terms of the agreement pursuant to which the SE Subscription Receipts were issued,
each outstanding SE Subscription Receipt was exchanged for one share, resulting in the issuance of 15,834,600
shares and a cash payment equal to $0.14 per SE Subscription Receipt. The cash payment was equal to
the aggregate amount of dividends per share for which record dates occurred since the issuance of the SE
Subscription Receipts, less any withholding taxes, if any, to the date of closing of the SE Transaction. The shares
issued in exchange for the SE Subscription Receipts issued in the concurrent private placement are subject to a
contractual hold period of six months from closing of the offering.
As part of the SE Transaction, Enercare has recorded total expenses of $13,900. Total expenses include $2,217
of interest expense from interest paid in respect of the SE Subscription Receipts issued, along with equity bridge
financing fees of $198, all included within interest expense. SG&A expenses include $11,485 of costs associated
with the SE Transaction, which consists predominantly of professional fees.
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The following table summarizes the final allocation of total consideration allocated to the net assets acquired. The
allocation of the purchase price included certain working capital adjustments and tax balances and is finalized.
May 11, 2016
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable

$

31,805

Inventory
Capital assets (note 8)
Intangible assets (note 9)
Collateral deposits (note 11)

$

8,976
30,561

646

8,962

6,205

82

6,287

31,277

1,459

32,736

239,149

(4,078)

235,071

9,122

Goodwill (note 10)

–

Revised

(1,244)

8,316

Prepaid expenses

Total assets acquired

8,976

Adjustments

–

223,920

9,122

3,539

227,459

$

558,770

$

404

$

559,174

$

115,917

$

1,679

$

117,596

Less:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue and service obligations (note 15)
Short-term obligations under finance lease (note 13)
Insurance claim provisions (note 11)
Long-term obligations under finance lease (note 13)
Deferred tax liability

25,393

–

25,393

4,477

960

5,437

8,234

–

8,234

10,870

561

11,431

5,882

(400)

Total net assets acquired

$

387,997

$

Consideration before closing adjustments

$

440,113

$

Working capital adjustments

5,211
$

Less: Closing adjustments*
Cash consideration (net of closing adjustments)

445,324
387,997

–

5,482
$

385,601

$

440,113

(3,858)
$

(57,327)
$

(2,396)

(3,858)

1,353
$

441,466

$

385,601

1,462
$

(2,396)

(55,865)

* Includes adjustments relating to share appreciation rights, taxes payable and other provisions.

Goodwill is calculated as the difference between the fair value of consideration transferred and the fair value
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The goodwill is primarily attributable to the addition of new
customers and the corresponding projected cash flows to be earned. Goodwill is not amortized for accounting,
however is deductible for US tax purposes.
OTHER ACQUISITIONS
On February 13, 2017, Service Experts completed the acquisition of certain assets in Austin, Texas from
CS Operating LLC (“Church Services”), an HVAC and plumbing company. Service Experts acquired the assets
for USD $875 or $1,144 and paid the purchase price using cash on hand.
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On May 24, 2017, Service Experts completed the acquisition of certain assets in Kitchener, Ontario from
Hammond Plumbing & Heating Inc. (“Hammond”), a full-service residential and commercial plumbing and heating
company, for consideration of $5,300. Service Experts acquired the assets plus assumed warranty liabilities and
paid the purchase price using cash on hand.
Both of the above transactions have been accounted for as a business combination and have been consolidated
as at the date of acquisition.

33. Assets Held for Sale
On January 16, 2018, Service Experts completed the disposal of certain assets and liabilities related to four
centers located in Whitby, Scarborough, Brampton and Ottawa, Ontario. The sale of these assets and liabilities
was completed to address Enercare’s Ontario market overlap, resulting from the SE Transaction, between the
service territory of a Service Experts business location with that of a Home Services franchisee. As at December
31, 2017, the assets and liabilities relating to the four centers were classified as “assets held for sale” and
“liabilities held for sale”, respectively, in the statement of financial position and were derecognized upon disposal
on January 16, 2018. The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities that have been reclassified as
“assets held for sale” and “liabilities held for sale”:
2017

As at December 31,
Inventory (note 7)

$

476

Capital assets (note 8)

1,407

Intangible assets (note 9)

6,154

Goodwill (note 10)

9,131

Total assets held for sale

$

17,168

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 12)

$

309

Obligations under financing leases (note 13)

1,362

Deferred revenue and service obligations (note 15)

2,376
1,587

Deferred tax liabilities (note 17)
Total liabilities held for sale

$

5,634

The proceeds received for the assets of these centers were $13,422, resulting in a gain on disposal of $1,888,
including the impact on deferred tax liabilities.
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34. Subsequent Events
On January 4, 2018, Service Experts completed the acquisition of certain assets and assumed certain liabilities
of CS Newco, LLC and Finch Newco, LLC, which offer residential and commercial HVAC, plumbing and other
related services in certain Texas markets. The cash consideration for the acquisition was USD $15,000 or
$18,818. Service Experts funded a portion of the purchase price through Enercare Solutions drawing
$15,000 on the 2014 Revolver.
On March 5, 2018, Service Experts completed the acquisition of certain assets of Midway Services, LLC and
MSICORP, LLC, which provide HVAC, plumbing and electrical, sales and service as well as residential interior
kitchen, bath and general remodeling in Tampa, Florida. The cash consideration for the acquisition was
USD $8,000 or $10,382, subject to post-closing adjustments. Service Experts funded the purchase price
through Enercare Solutions drawing $10,000 on the 2014 Revolver.
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Tel: 1.800.564.6253
Fax: 1.888.453.0330
Email: service@computershare.com
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